
FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR WORK SESSION AGENDA 
TUESDAY, MARCH 4, 2025 AT 7 A.M. 
MEETING WILL BE HELD VIA ZOOM WEBINAR 

AND AT FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
800 CUSHMAN STREET, FAIRBANKS, ALASKA 

1. Roll Call

2. Ordinance No. 6311 – An Ordinance Ratifying a Collective Bargaining Agreement 
Between the City of Fairbanks and the Public Safety Employees Association. [advanced to 
March 10]

3. Discussion on Alcohol License Application Review

4. Discussion on Target-Based Budgeting

5. Finance Committee Report

6. Mayor and Councilmember Comments

7. Next Regular Work Session – Tuesday, March 25, 2025, 7:00 a.m.

8. Adjournment

INFORMATIONAL ONLY: Pending Items of City Council Business 

Ordinance No. 6283, as Amended – An Ordinance Amending Fairbanks General Code by Enacting Section 10-
207 to Require That Vacant Buildings Be Secured and Registered and Establishing Fines for Violations of These 
Requirements. Introduced by Mayor Pruhs and Councilmembers Sprinkle and Ringstad. Postponed to the 
Regular Meeting of May 19, 2025.  

Ordinance No. 6285, as Amended – An Ordinance Amending Fairbanks General Code Section 74-36 Economic 
Development Property Tax Rebate and Enacting Section 74-37 Tax Incentive for Property Development, 
Redevelopment, or Renovation. Introduced by Mayor Pruhs and Councilmembers Sprinkle and Ringstad. 
Postponed to the Regular Meeting of May 12, 2025. 

Ordinance No. 6305 – An Ordinance Amending Fairbanks General Code Section 70-162, to Ensure Visible and 
Safe Traffic Intersections and Amending the City Schedule of Fees and Charges for Services. Introduced by 
Mayor Pruhs. Postponed to the Regular Meeting of June 9, 2025. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89535060265?pwd=V3drYnBzdWRHa0ZoNjhiNzVjbVJpZz09


Introduced by: Mayor David Pruhs 
 Introduced: February 24, 2025 

 

   
 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 6311 

 
AN ORDINANCE RATIFYING A COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF FAIRBANKS AND THE PUBLIC SAFETY EMPLOYEES 
ASSOCIATION 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Fairbanks and the Public Safety Employee Association 
have been operating under the terms of the 2022 – 2024 Collective Bargaining 
Agreement; and  
 

WHEREAS, the City Administration and Public Safety Employee Association have 
reached a tentative agreement on terms for a replacement contract; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Fairbanks 2025 operating budget will be amended to 

include the increased expenditures as reflected in the attached fiscal note. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the attached Collective Bargaining Agreement is hereby ratified 
by the City Council. 

 
SECTION 2. That this ordinance shall become effective upon ratification of the 

agreement by PSEA members. 
 
SECTION 3. That once ratified, the Collective Bargaining Agreement will be 

effective January 1, 2025 – December 31, 2026. 
 
 
       ____________________________ 
       David Pruhs, Mayor 
 
AYES:   
NAYS:  
ABSENT:  
ADOPTED:  
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
______________________________  ____________________________ 
D. Danyielle Snider, MMC, City Clerk  Thomas A. Chard II, City Attorney 



   
 

Ordinance No. 6311 
Page 2 

 

Ordinance or Resolution No: 6311

Abbreviated Title: ORDINANCE RATIFYING PSEA COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

Department(s): POLICE & FECC

Does the adoption of this ordinance or resolution authorize:

1) additional costs beyond the current adopted budget? Yes X No

2) additional support or maintenance costs? Yes No X

  see below

3) additional positions beyond the current adopted budget? Yes No X

  (F - Full Time, P - Part Time, T - Temporary)

2025 2026+ TOTAL

WAGES AND BENEFITS [POLICE] 566,580$     604,720$     1,171,300$  
605,610$     635,640$     1,241,250$  

10.5 OVERTIME [POLICE] 32,280$       33,880$       66,160$       
21.5 CLEANING ALLOWANCE [POLICE] (30,860)$      (30,860)$      (61,720)$      
20.1.2 CERTIFICATION PAY [POLICE] 35,170$       35,190$       70,360$       
13.1.1 PERSONAL LEAVE ACCUMULATIONS [POLICE] 12,653$       12,977$       25,630$       
13.1.1 PERSONAL LEAVE ACCUMULATIONS [FECC] 9,955$         10,207$       20,162$       

1,231,388$  1,301,754$  2,533,142$  

2025 2026+ TOTAL

615,823$     655,907$     1,271,730$  
615,565$     645,847$     1,261,412$  

1,231,388$  1,301,754$  2,533,142$  

Initial mb Date 2/10/2025

GENERAL FUND [POLICE]
GENERAL FUND [FECC]
TOTAL

This fiscal note provides the cost of the proposed PSEA negotiated contract.  The contract provides the following 
wage increases:   3% for Steps 1 through 10 and 2% for Steps 11 through 20.  Admin staff Step 1 rate increased by 
$4.00 to $7.69 per hour.  The Police Department staff will be paid overtime based on shift differential for start of 
overtime than the start of shift.  FLSA only applies for Police Staff on a 12-12-10 schedule.  The cleaning allowance 
of $65 per month was removed.  The certification pay was increased from $1,250 to $3,000 for Intermediate 
Certificate and $3,000 to $4,500 for Advanced Certificate.  PSEA members will receive hours per pay period versus 
annual hours converted per pay period.   The Field Training Officers will only receive 5% pay for hours worked than 
added to the base rate; however, the contract includes additional roles for the 5% pay (19.1).  The City should 
anticipate additional costs for overtime, leave liability and worker's compensation due to wage increases and 
overtime changes. 

Reviewed by Finance Department:

II.  FINANCIAL DETAIL:
EXPENDITURES:

WAGES AND BENEFITS [FECC]

TOTAL

FUNDING SOURCE:

CITY OF FAIRBANKS
FISCAL NOTE

I.  REQUEST:

     If yes, what is the estimate?

     If yes, how many positions?

If yes, type of positions?



1  

  

 

 

 

 

 

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF FAIRBANKS AND 

THE PUBLIC SAFETY EMPLOYEE ASSOCIATION 

FAIRBANKS POLICE DEPARTMENT CHAPTER 

 
 
 
 
 

January 1, 2025 - December 31, 2026 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

This agreement is reached between the City of Fairbanks (Employer or City) and the Public Safety 
Employee Association (the Association or PSEA) for the uses and purposes herein mentioned. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  



2  

  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
ARTICLE 1 POLICY AND PURPOSE  .............................................................................................. 10 

SECTION 1.1 POLICY ........................................................................................................................  10 
SECTION 1.2 THE PURPOSES  ............................................................................................................ 10 

ARTICLE 2 DURATION  .................................................................................................................. 10 
SECTION 2.1 EFFECTIVE DATE .......................................................................................................... 10 
SECTION 2.2 COMMENCEMENT  ......................................................................................................... 10 
SECTION 2.3 TERMINATION  ............................................................................................................... 11 
SECTION 2.4 BINDING  ....................................................................................................................... 11 

ARTICLE 3 RECOGNITION ....................................................................................................... 11 
SECTION 3.1 RECOGNITION ............................................................................................................... 11 
SECTION 3.2 CLASSIFICATIONS  ......................................................................................................... 11 

3.2.1 Alaska Labor Relations Agency  .................................................................................... 11 
3.2.2 Irresolvable Differences  .......................................................................................................11 

ARTICLE 4 NEGOTIATIONS ..................................................................................................... 11 
ARTICLE 5 CITY – PSEA RELATIONS ..................................................................................... 12 

SECTION 5.1 OBJECTIVE  ................................................................................................................... 12 
SECTION 5.2 EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF FAIRBANKS  ..................................................................... 12 

5.2.1 Work Stoppage  .......................................................................................................................12 
5.2.2 Lockout ............................................................................................................................... 12 
5.2.3 Duty to Perform  ................................................................................................................ 12 

SECTION 5.3 CITY, STATE, FEDERAL LAWS  ...................................................................................... 12 
SECTION 5.4 ABSENTEEISM  .............................................................................................................. 13 

ARTICLE 6 MANAGEMENT RIGHT .......................................................................................... 13 
ARTICLE 7 PSEA SECURITY .................................................................................................... 13 

SECTION 7.1 AGENCY SHOP  ............................................................................................................. 13 
SECTION 7.2 CHECK OFF AND PAYROLL DEDUCTION  ........................................................................ 13 
SECTION 7.3 PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS/DIRECT DEPOSIT  ..................................................................... 14 
SECTION 7.4 MEETING SPACE AND BULLETIN BOARDS  .................................................................... 14 
SECTION 7.5 DISCRIMINATION/RELATIONS ......................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 7.6 PSEA OBLIGATION  ...................................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 7.7 SOLE REPRESENTATIVE  ............................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 7.8 EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATIVE  ...................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 7.9 PSEA STAFF  ............................................................................................................... 16 

ARTICLE 8 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE .................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 8.1 OBJECTIVE ................................................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 8.2 DEFINITION ................................................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 8.3 STEP ONE ..................................................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 8.4 STEP TWO .................................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 8.5 STEP THREE ................................................................................................................. 17 
SECTION 8.6 ARBITRATION ................................................................................................................ 17 

8.6.1 Arbitration Notice .............................................................................................................. 17 
8.6.2 Findings .............................................................................................................................. 18 



3  

8.6.3 Arbitrator .................................................................................................................... 18 
SECTION 8.7 SINGLE AND MULTIPLE GRIEVANCES ...................................................................... 18 
SECTION 8.8 EXPENSE .............................................................................................................. 18 
SECTION 8.9 WITNESS .............................................................................................................. 18 
SECTION 8.10 DECISION TIME FRAME .......................................................................................... 19 
SECTION 8.11 GRIEVANCE SUBMISSION LEVEL ............................................................................. 19 
SECTION 8.12 ORIGINATING STEP ................................................................................................ 19 
SECTION 8.13 PSEA OR CLASS ACTION GRIEVANCE OR UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES ........................ 19 

ARTICLE 9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND RIGHTS ................................................................... 19 
SECTION 9.1 RETIREMENT ......................................................................................................... 19 
SECTION 9.2 HEALTH BENEFITS ................................................................................................ 19 

9.2.1 Health Insurance ....................................................................................................... 19 
9.2.2 IRS 125 Plan ............................................................................................................... 20 

SECTION 9.3 DEFERRED COMPENSATION ................................................................................... 20 
SECTION 9.4 INJURED EMPLOYEE RIGHTS & RESPONSIBILITIES (NON-WORK-RELATED ................... 20 

9.4.1 Temporary Incapacity ............................................................................................... 20 
9.4.2 Permanent Incapacity ............................................................................................... 20 
9.4.3 Workers’ Compensation Laws ................................................................................. 20 

SECTION 9.5 WORK RELATED INJURIES ..................................................................................... 20 
9.5.1 Injury or Disability ..................................................................................................... 20 
9.5.2 Paid Administrative Leave ........................................................................................ 21 
9.5.3 Light Duty .................................................................................................................. 21 
9.5.4 Federal and State Law .............................................................................................. 22 

SECTION 9.6 PHYSICAL EXAMINATION ........................................................................................ 22 
SECTION 9.7 “FOR CAUSE” EXAMINATION .................................................................................. 22 

9.7.1  Physical “For Cause” Examination ……………………………………………… ....... 22 
9.7.2 Mental or Psychological “For Cause” Examinations…………………………. ....... 23 

SECTION 9.8 INDEMNIFICATION .................................................................................................. 24 
9.8.1 Cause ............................................................................................................................. 24 
9.8.2 Settlement ...................................................................................................................... 24 
9.8.3 City Ordinance ............................................................................................................... 24 

SECTION 9.9 TRAINING ............................................................................................................. 25 
SECTION 9.10 CONDUCT BASED INVESTIGATION ........................................................................... 25 

9.10.1 Investigation of conduct subject to criminal action only: ..................................... 25 
9.10.2 Investigation of conduct subject to both criminal and admin ............................... 25 
9.10.3 Investigation of conduct subject to disciplinary or punitive action ...................... 26 
9.10.4 General Administrative Investigations Guidelines: ................................................ 28 

SECTION 9.11 USE OF LIE DETECTOR DEVICES ............................................................................ 29 
SECTION 9.12 FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE ........................................................................................ 29 
SECTION 9.13 SEARCHES ........................................................................................................... 30 
SECTION 9.14 POLITICAL ACTIVITIES ........................................................................................... 30 

9.14.1    In Uniform.................................................................................................................. 30 
9.14.2 On Duty ...................................................................................................................... 30 
9.14.3 Solicitation ................................................................................................................. 30 

SECTION 9.15 REVOCATION OF DRIVER’S LICENSE ....................................................................... 31 
SECTION 9.16 BREAK AREAS ...................................................................................................... 31 

ARTICLE 10 FAIRBANKS POLICE DEPARTMENT (FPD) WORK RULES .................................. 31 
SECTION 10.1 GENERAL RULES .................................................................................................. 31 



4  

10.1.1 Hours of Work and Work Week ................................................................................ 31 
10.1.2 Alternate / Flexible Schedule ................................................................................... 31 
10.1.3 Annual Patrol Bid Cycle ........................................................................................... 32 
10.1.4 Supervision by Family Member ............................................................................... 32 
10.1.5 Reporting Late for Duty ............................................................................................ 32 
10.1.6 Shift Swaps ................................................................................................................ 33 
10.1.7 Maximum Consecutive Hours Worked .................................................................... 33 
10.1.8 Temporary Assignments .......................................................................................... 34 
10.1.9 Hardship Request ..................................................................................................... 34 
10.1.10 Newly Promoted Assignments ................................................................................ 34 

SECTION 10.2 PAY FOR WORKING IN A HIGHER CLASSIFICATION. ................................................... 34 
SECTION 10.3 SCHEDULE CHANGES ............................................................................................ 34 
SECTION 10.4 COURT ATTENDANCE ............................................................................................ 34 

10.4.1 On-Duty Attendance .................................................................................................. 34 
10.4.2 Off-Duty Attendance ................................................................................................. 34 
10.4.3 Jury Duty .................................................................................................................... 35 

SECTION 10.5 SHIFT DEFINITIONS AND SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL PAY ................................................... 35 
10.5.1 Day Shift ..................................................................................................................... 35 
10.5.2 Swing Shift ................................................................................................................. 35 
10.5.3 Midnight Shift ............................................................................................................ 35 

SECTION 10.6 OVERTIME / PREMIUM PAY ..................................................................................... 35 
10.6.1 Pay Increments .......................................................................................................... 35 
10.6.2 Personal Leave Use .................................................................................................. 37 
10.6.3 Short Notice Vacancies ............................................................................................ 37 
10.6.4 Posting of Staffing Overtime. ................................................................................... 37 
10.6.5 Special Mission Overtime ......................................................................................... 37 
10.6.6 Other Overtime  ......................................................................................................... 37 
10.6.7 No Volunteers / Forced Overtime  ........................................................................... 37 
10.6.8 Errors in Awarding Overtime ................................................................................... 37 
10.6.9 Minimum Callback Rate ............................................................................................ 37 
10.6.10 Flex Schedule ............................................................................................................ 37 

SECTION 10.7 SPECIAL MISSION ASSIGNMENTS ............................................................................ 37 
SECTION 10.8 COMPENSATORY TIME OFF .................................................................................... 38 

10.8.1 Compensatory Time .................................................................................................. 38 
10.8.2 Payment on Separation from Service ...................................................................... 38 

SECTION 10.9 MEAL BREAK ....................................................................................................... 38 
SECTION 10.10 RELIEF BREAKS ....................................................................................................... 38 
SECTION 10.11 TIME CHANGES ........................................................................................................ 38 
SECTION 10.12 TRAINING REQUIREMENT ........................................................................................... 38 
SECTION 10.13 OFFICER VEHICLE PROGRAM ..................................................................................... 39 
SECTION 10.14 POLICE PATROL SUPERVISION ................................................................................... 39 

10.14.1 Sergeants as Watch Commander ......................................................................... 39 
10.14.2 Sergeants Working as Watch Commander .......................................................... 39 
10.14.3 Acting Lieutenants................................................................................................. 39 

SECTION 10.15 POLICE ADMINISTRATION .......................................................................................... 39 
10.15.1 Deputy Chief and Captain Positions .................................................................... 39 
10.15.1.1 PSEA Bargaining Unit Limitation ......................................................................... 40 
10.15.1.2 Deputy Chief Pay ................................................................................................... 40 
10.15.1.3 Captain Pay ............................................................................................................ 40 
10.15.1.4 Lieutenant Assignments ....................................................................................... 40 



5  

SECTION 10.16 STANDBY ................................................................................................................. 40 
ARTICLE 11 FECC WORK RULES ................................................................................................ 41 

SECTION 11.1 GENERAL RULES .................................................................................................. 41 
11.1.1 Work Week ................................................................................................................. 41 
11.1.2 Reporting Late for Duty ............................................................................................ 41 
11.1.3 Consecutive Days Off ............................................................................................... 41 
11.1.4 Special Assignment Schedules ............................................................................... 41 
11.1.5 Shift Swaps ................................................................................................................ 41 
11.1.6 Time Off Between Shifts ........................................................................................... 41 
11.1.7 Maximum Consecutive Hours Worked .................................................................... 41 
11.1.8 Shift Bidding .............................................................................................................. 42 
11.1.9 Hardship Request ...................................................................................................... 42 
11.1.10 Personnel Assignments ........................................................................................ 42 
11.1.11 New Hires Shift Assignment ................................................................................. 43 
11.1.12 Plan for Individual Improvement Scheduling ...................................................... 43 

SECTION 11.2 PAY FOR WORKING IN A HIGHER CLASSIFICATION. ................................................... 43 
SECTION 11.3 SCHEDULE CHANGES ............................................................................................ 43 
SECTION 11.4 COURT ATTENDANCE ............................................................................................ 44 

11.4.1 On-Duty Attendance .................................................................................................. 44 
11.4.2 Off-Duty Attendance ................................................................................................. 44 
11.4.3 Jury Duty .................................................................................................................... 44 

SECTION 11.5 SHIFT DEFINITIONS AND SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL PAY ................................................... 44 
11.5.1 Day Shift ..................................................................................................................... 44 
11.5.2 Swing Shift ................................................................................................................. 44 
11.5.3 Midnight Shift ............................................................................................................ 44 

SECTION 11.6 OVERTIME / PREMIUM PAY ..................................................................................... 44 
11.6.1 Payment Increments ................................................................................................. 45 
11.6.2 First Day of the Week ................................................................................................ 45 
11.6.3 Employee’s Twenty-Four-Hour Day ......................................................................... 45 
11.6.4 Personal Leave Used ................................................................................................ 45 
11.6.5 Shift Differential Applied to Overtime ...................................................................... 45 
11.6.6 Overworked 12 Hours in a 24-Hour Period  ............................................................ 45 
11.6.7 Overworked Over 12 Consecutive Hours  ............................................................... 45 
11.6.8 Volunteered Overtime ............................................................................................... 45 
11.6.9 Short Notice Vacancies ............................................................................................ 45 
11.6.10 Long Notice Overtime - (Greater Than 72-Hour Notice) . .................................. 46 
11.6.11 Other Overtime....................................................................................................... 46 
11.6.12 Overtime Bidding – Voluntary............................................................................... 46 
11.6.13 No Volunteers / Forced Overtime ......................................................................... 46 
11.6.14 Force Overtime ...................................................................................................... 47 
11.6.15 Special Mission Overtime ..................................................................................... 47 
11.6.16 Errors in Awarding Overtime ................................................................................ 47 
11.6.17 Minimum Call Back Rate ....................................................................................... 48 
11.6.18 Flex Schedule ......................................................................................................... 48 

SECTION 11.7 COMPENSATORY TIME OFF .................................................................................... 48 
11.7.1 Compensatory Time .................................................................................................. 48 
11.7.2 Payment on Separation from Service ...................................................................... 48 

SECTION 11.8 MEAL BREAK ....................................................................................................... 48 
SECTION 11.9 RELIEF BREAKS .................................................................................................... 48 



6  

SECTION 11.10 TIME CHANGES ........................................................................................................ 49 
SECTION 11.11 TRAINING REQUIREMENT ........................................................................................... 49 
SECTION 11.12 SHIFT SUPERVISORS ACTING AS DEPARTMENT HEAD .................................................. 49 

11.12.1 Acting Department Head Standby ........................................................................ 49 
11.12.2 Acting Department Head Pay ................................................................................ 49 

SECTION 11.13 DISPATCH SUPERVISION ............................................................................................ 49 
11.13.1 Acting Supervisor .................................................................................................. 49 

11.13.1.1 PAY CALCULATION ................................................................................................ 49 
SECTION 11.14 STANDBY .................................................................................................................49 

11.14.1 Immediate Recall ................................................................................................... 50 
11.14.2 Standby .................................................................................................................. 50 

SECTION 11.15 SCHEDULES .............................................................................................................50 
ARTICLE 12 HOLIDAYS .................................................................................................................50 

SECTION 12.1 HOLIDAYS ............................................................................................................50 
SECTION 12.2  WEEKEND HOLIDAYS .................................................................................................... 51 
SECTION 12.3 HOLIDAY DURING LEAVE .............................................................................................. 51 
SECTION 12.4 HOLIDAY COMPENSATORY TIME .............................................................................51 

ARTICLE 13 LEAVE .......................................................................................................................51 
SECTION 13.1 PERSONAL LEAVE .................................................................................................51 

13.1.1 Personal Leave Accumulation ................................................................................. 51 
13.1.2 Personal Leave Cap………………………………………………………………………….51 

SECTION 13.2 LEAVE REQUESTS ................................................................................................52 
SECTION 13.3  SCHEDULED PERSONAL LEAVE …………………………………………………………..52 

13.3.1 Personal Leave Scheduling ...................................................................................... 52 
13.3.2 Leave Denied, Cancelled, or Terminated ................................................................ 52 
13.3.3 Leave Usage .............................................................................................................. 52 

SECTION 13.4 TERMINATION .......................................................................................................53 
SECTION 13.5 DRAW DOWN OF PERSONAL LEAVE ........................................................................53 
SECTION 13.6 EXCEPTIONS REGARDING LEAVE CASH-OUTS .........................................................53 

13.6.1 Leave Cash-out for Deferred Compensation ........................................................... 53 
13.6.2 Leave Cash-out for Hardship ................................................................................... 53 
13.6.3 Leave Cash-out Change in Job Status .................................................................... 53 

SECTION 13.7 MILITARY LEAVE ...................................................................................................53 
SECTION 13.8 FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE ACT .................................................................................54 
SECTION 13.9 DONATED LEAVE ........................................................................................................54 

13.9.1 Minimum Hours Donated Leave ........................................................................... 54 
13.9.2 Donated Leave Conversion ................................................................................... 54 

SECTION 13.10 BUSINESS LEAVE .....................................................................................................54 
13.10.1 Business Leave Annual Donations ...................................................................... 54 
13.10.2 Voluntary Business Leave Donation .................................................................... 54 
13.10.3 Business Leave Withdrawal .................................................................................. 54 

ARTICLE 14 PAY PERIODS ...........................................................................................................55 
SECTION 14.1 PAY PERIODS .......................................................................................................55 
SECTION 14.2 EMPLOYEE TIME SHEETS ....................................................................................... 55 

14.2.1 Leave and Earnings Statement ................................................................................ 55 
14.2.2 Time Sheet Changes ................................................................................................. 55 

SECTION 14.3 PERS CONTRIBUTION ........................................................................................... 55 



7  

ARTICLE 15 PROBATION .............................................................................................................. 55 
SECTION 15.1 PROBATIONARY PERIOD ........................................................................................ 55 
SECTION 15.2 PROMOTIONAL PROBATION .................................................................................... 55 

15.2.1 Probation Length ....................................................................................................... 56 
SECTION 15.3 EXTENSIONS TO THE PROBATIONARY PERIODS ........................................................ 56 
SECTION 15.4 PAY DURING PROBATION ....................................................................................... 56 
SECTION 15.5 RETURNING TO BARGAINING UNIT ........................................................................... 56 

ARTICLE 16 LAY-OFF AND RECALL ........................................................................................... 57 
SECTION 16.1 LAY-OFF ............................................................................................................... 57 
SECTION 16.2 LAY-OFF BUMPING ................................................................................................ 57 
SECTION 16.3 LAY-OFF ORDER ................................................................................................... 58 

16.3.1 Inverse Seniority ....................................................................................................... 58 
16.3.2 Notification of Lay-off ............................................................................................... 58 
16.3.3 Seniority Determination ............................................................................................ 58 
16.3.4 Other Classification Lay-off ...................................................................................... 58 
16.3.5 Non-Bargaining Unit Employee ................................................................................ 59 
16.3.6 Other Classification Hiring ....................................................................................... 59 
16.3.7 Temporary Recall ...................................................................................................... 59 
16.3.8 Permanent Recall ...................................................................................................... 59 

SECTION 16.4 WRITTEN NOTICE .................................................................................................. 59 
SECTION 16.5 LAY-OFF PROCEDURE ........................................................................................... 59 

16.5.1 Lay-off List ................................................................................................................. 59 

ARTICLE 17 SENIORITY ................................................................................................................ 60 
SECTION 17.1 TERMINATION OF SENIORITY .................................................................................. 60 
SECTION 17.2 SENIORITY PRESERVED ......................................................................................... 61 
SECTION 17.3 SENIORITY DEFINED .............................................................................................. 61 
SECTION 17.4 SENIORITY PROMOTION/DEMOTION ......................................................................... 61 

17.4.1 Promoting Outside of Bargaining Unit .................................................................... 61 
17.4.2 Returning to Bargaining Unit .................................................................................... 61 

SECTION 17.5 TRANSFER / RETURN SENIORITY ............................................................................. 62 
17.5.1 Change in Classification ........................................................................................... 62 
17.5.2 Involuntary Return for Disciplinary Reasons .......................................................... 62 
17.5.3 Involuntary Return for Non-Disciplinary Reasons .................................................. 62 
17.5.4 Temporary Seniority Accrual ................................................................................... 62 

ARTICLE 18 DISCIPLINARY ACTION ........................................................................................... 62 
SECTION 18.1 COUNSELING ........................................................................................................ 62 
SECTION 18.2 WRITTEN REPRIMAND ............................................................................................ 63 
SECTION 18.3 SUSPENSION WITHOUT PAY ................................................................................... 63 
SECTION 18.4 REASONS FOR DISMISSAL ...................................................................................... 63 
SECTION 18.5 TERMINATION PAY ................................................................................................. 63 
SECTION 18.6 APPEAL ............................................................................................................... 64 
SECTION 18.7 NOTICE OF TERMINATION FROM CITY ...................................................................... 64 
SECTION 18.8 NOTICE OF TERMINATION FROM EMPLOYEE ............................................................. 64 
SECTION 18.9 STANDARDS FOR DEMOTION/DISCHARGE ................................................................ 64 

ARTICLE 19 CLASSIFICATION AND HOURLY WAGE RATES ................................................... 64 
Section 19.1 Specialty Pay ................................................................................................................... 64 



8  

SECTION 19.2 RECRUIT OFFICER PAY IN THE ACADEMY ................................................................ 65 
SECTION 19.3 LATERAL HIRES .................................................................................................... 65 
SECTION 19.4 CLASSIFICATION CHANGES .................................................................................... 65 

19.4.1 Promotion .................................................................................................................. 65 
19.4.2 Involuntary Change of Classification ....................................................................... 65 
19.4.3 Voluntary Change of Classification ......................................................................... 66 
19.4.4 Disciplinary Change of Classification ...................................................................... 66 

SECTION 19.5 CITY CREATED NEW OR CHANGED CLASSIFICATIONS ............................................... 66 
SECTION 19.6 THE CITY MAY ASSIGN DETECTIVES ........................................................................ 66 

ARTICLE 20 EDUCATION PAY...................................................................................................... 66 
SECTION 20.1 EDUCATION AND CERTIFICATION PAY ...................................................................... 66 

20.1.1 Licensing and Certification....................................................................................... 66 
20.1.2 APSC Certification Pay ............................................................................................. 66 
20.1.3 Lieutenant APSC Pay ................................................................................................ 67 

SECTION 20.2 CONTINUING EDUCATION REIMBURSEMENT ............................................................. 67 
SECTION 20.3 CONTINUING EDUCATION REIMBURSEMENT ............................................................. 67 
SECTION 20.4 LIEUTENANT SEMINAR OR TRAINING ....................................................................... 67 
SECTION 20.5 COMMITMENT TO PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT ..................................................... 67 

ARTICLE 21 EQUIPMENT AND CLOTHING .................................................................................. 67 
SECTION 21.1 CITY ISSUED ......................................................................................................... 67 
SECTION 21.2 EQUIPMENT AND CLOTHING PROPERTY ................................................................... 67 
SECTION 21.3 PERSONAL PROPERTY ........................................................................................... 68 
SECTION 21.4 IMPROVED EQUIPMENT .......................................................................................... 68 

21.4.1 Unsafe Equipment ..................................................................................................... 68 
SECTION 21.5 INITIAL ISSUE UNIFORMS ........................................................................................ 68 

21.5.1 Issued Clothing ......................................................................................................... 68 
SECTION 21.6 SIDEARM .............................................................................................................. 69 
SECTION 21.7 CLOTHING ALLOWANCE ......................................................................................... 69 
SECTION 21.8 INCIDENTAL PURCHASE ALLOWANCE ...................................................................... 69 

ARTICLE 22 FILLING OF VACANCIES ......................................................................................... 69 
SECTION 22.1 PROMOTION/TRANSFER PROMOTIONS .................................................................... 69 
SECTION 22.2 QUALIFICATIONS ................................................................................................... 69 
SECTION 22.3 VACANCY ANNOUNCEMENTS .................................................................................. 70 
SECTION 22.4 ADVERTISED INTERNALLY FIRST ............................................................................. 70 
SECTION 22.5 ELIGIBILITY AFTER PROBATIONARY PERIOD ............................................................ 70 
SECTION 22.6 TRANSFER WITHIN BARGAINING UNIT ..................................................................... 70 
SECTION 22.7 QUALIFICATIONS FOR PROMOTION .......................................................................... 70 
SECTION 22.8 PROBATIONARY PERIOD ........................................................................................ 71 

ARTICLE 23 PERSONNEL RECORDS .......................................................................................... 71 
SECTION 23.1 FILE MAINTENANCE ............................................................................................... 71 
SECTION 23.2 PERSONNEL FILE CONTENTS ................................................................................. 71 
SECTION 23.3 EMPLOYEE ACCESS TO PERSONNEL FILES .............................................................. 71 

23.3.1 Access to Employee File .......................................................................................... 71 
23.3.2 Pre-Employment File ................................................................................................. 71 

SECTION 23.4 RECORD OF DISCIPLINARY ACTIONS ....................................................................... 72 
SECTION 23.5 SUPERVISOR FILES ............................................................................................... 72 



9  

SECTION 23.6 DISCIPLINARY ACTION FILES .................................................................................. 72 
SECTION 23.7 NO OTHER FILES .................................................................................................. 72 
SECTION 23.8 FIVE YEAR DOCUMENTATION RESTRICTION ............................................................. 73 
SECTION 23.9 CITIZEN COMPLAINTS ............................................................................................ 73 
SECTION 23.10 REMOVAL OF FILE INFORMATION ................................................................................ 73 

ARTICLE 24 MANUAL OF DIRECTIVES ....................................................................................... 73 
SECTION 24.1 MANUAL OF POLICY & PROCEDURE ........................................................................ 73 

ARTICLE 25 TRAVEL AND PER DIEM .......................................................................................... 73 
SECTION 25.1 OFFICIAL TRAVEL OUTSIDE CITY OF FAIRBANKS ...................................................... 73 
SECTION 25.2 USE OF PERSONAL VEHICLES ................................................................................ 73 

ARTICLE 26 ORAL OR WRITTEN AGREEMENT .......................................................................... 73 
SECTION 26.1 CONFLICT OF THIS AGREEMENT EMPLOYEE ............................................................ 73 
SECTION 26.2 CONFLICT OF THIS AGREEMENT CITY ...................................................................... 73 

ARTICLE 27 TEMPORARY HIRES ................................................................................................ 74 
SECTION 27.1 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES ...................................................................................... 74 
SECTION 27.2 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ......................................................................... 74 
SECTION 27.3 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE OVERTIME ........................................................................ 74 
SECTION 27.4 TEMPORARY EMPLOYEE WORK RULES ................................................................... 74 

ARTICLE 28 PART-TIME EMPLOYEES ......................................................................................... 74 
SECTION 28.1 PART-TIME EMPLOYEE DEFINITION ......................................................................... 74 
SECTION 28.2 PART-TIME EMPLOYEE .......................................................................................... 74 
SECTION 28.3 PART-TIME EMPLOYEE RECORDS ........................................................................... 75 
SECTION 28.4 PART-TIME EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ........................................................................... 75 
SECTION 28.5 PART-TIME EMPLOYEE WORK RULES ..................................................................... 75 

ARTICLE 29 MISCELLANEOUS .................................................................................................... 75 
SECTION 29.1 CURRENT AGREEMENT AND LETTERS OF AGREEMENT ............................................. 75 
SECTION 29.2 DIFFERENCE OR CONFLICT OF AGREEMENT ............................................................. 75 
SECTION 29.3 PERFORMANCE OF WORK ...................................................................................... 75 
SECTION 29.4 SOLE AND COMPLETE AGREEMENT ........................................................................ 76 

ARTICLE 30 DEFINITION OF TERMS ........................................................................................... 76 
ARTICLE 31 EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT ................................................................................. 80 
APPENDIX A – PSEA PAY SCALE ................................................................................................. 81 



10  

ARTICLE 1 POLICY AND PURPOSE 
  

Section 1.1 Policy 

It is the policy of the City and PSEA to continue harmonious and 
cooperative relationships between City Employees and the Employer to 
ensure orderly and uninterrupted operations of government. 

 
Section 1.2 The Purposes of this Agreement are: 

 
1.2.1 To promote the settlement of labor disagreements by conference, to 

prevent strikes and lockouts, to stabilize conditions in work in the areas 
affected by this Agreement, to prevent avoidable delays and expense, 
and generally to encourage a spirit of helpful cooperation between the 
Employer and Employee groups to their mutual advantage. 
 

1.2.2 To recognize the legitimate interest of the Employees of the City of 
Fairbanks to participate through collective bargaining in the 
determination of terms and conditions of their employment. 

 
1.2.3 To promote fair and reasonable working conditions. 

 
1.2.4 To promote individual efficiency and service to the citizens of the City. 

 
1.2.5 To avoid interruption or interference with the efficient operation of City 

Government. 
 

1.2.6 To provide a basis for the adjustment of matters of mutual interest by means 
of amicable discussion. 

 
1.2.7 To pay wages, benefits and other compensation to the members in accord 

with the provisions of this Agreement, and not based upon personal 
favoritism or discrimination. 

 
ARTICLE 2 DURATION 

 
Section 2.1 Effective Date 

This Agreement becomes effective the first day of the pay period following 
mutual ratification by the City Council and the Membership of the PSEA in 
accord with an election and remains in effect until December 31, 2026. 

 
Section 2.2 Commencement 

Negotiations shall begin at least one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the 
expiration date of this Agreement. Negotiations may begin sooner by 
mutual agreement between the parties. Unless otherwise agree, no 
modification or change shall become effective prior to the expiration date 



11  

without the mutual written consent of the parties.  
 

Section 2.3 Termination 
 

In the event that the termination date on this Agreement occurs during 
negotiations for a renewal of the Agreement, the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement will be extended until such time as a new agreement is 
reached. 

 
Section 2.4 Binding 

This Agreement is binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties, 
and no provision, term, or obligation herein contained may be changed in 
any respect by any change in ownership, management, location, or 
bargaining unit. 
 

ARTICLE 3 RECOGNITION 
 

Section 3.1 Recognition 

The City recognizes PSEA as the exclusive representative of all PSEA 
positions designated in this Agreement for part-time, permanent, seasonal, 
and temporary Employees in the City for collective bargaining with respect 
to salaries, wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment. 

 
Section 3.2 Classifications 

 
3.2.1 Alaska Labor Relations Agency 

Additional classifications or reclassification will be included within the 
Bargaining Unit or exempt therefrom based on the Alaska Labor Relations 
Agency criteria. 
 
3.2.2 Irresolvable Differences 

Should irresolvable differences as to inclusion or exclusion of additional 
classifications or reclassification to the Bargaining Unit occur, either party 
may request that the jurisdiction be determined in accordance with Alaska 
Statutes. 

ARTICLE 4 NEGOTIATIONS 
 

Not more than 4 Employee negotiators will be permitted to attend and 
participate in negotiations during their normal workday without loss of 
compensation. All negotiators may be assigned to day shift duty for periods 
of negotiations. Due to the nature of prolonged negotiations members may 
be required to participate during off duty hours. Off-duty members will not be 
compensated for their time while required to attend such meetings but will be 
given hour for hour time off in lieu of time so spent for negotiations. The 
parties will meet at mutually agreeable times.  
 



12  

It is not the intent of the parties for the negotiators to receive overtime pay 
while performing negotiation duties in excess of the workday. Designated 
negotiators will be permitted to use duty time or administrative time to 
participate in preparation and actual negotiations (and caucuses on 
negotiation days) should scheduled negotiations occur on members’ regular 
duty days. Nothing prohibits other members from attending negotiations 
using scheduled leave or off-duty time. Should designated negotiators 
become unavailable PSEA may substitute negotiators. 

 
ARTICLE 5 CITY – PSEA RELATIONS 

 
Section 5.1 Objective 

Recognizing the mutual benefits derived from the process of democratic 
collective bargaining, the City will not discourage new employees from 
joining the Public Safety Employees PSEA, Fairbanks Police Department 
Chapter (PSEA). Neither PSEA nor the City will represent to any employee 
that union membership is a requirement of employment with the City. 

 
Section 5.2 Employees of the City of Fairbanks 

The PSEA agrees that its members, who are employees of the City, will 
individually and collectively perform loyal and efficient service and that they 
will use their influence and best efforts to protect the property and interest 
of the City and to cooperate with the City to this end at all times. 

 
5.2.1 Work Stoppage 

The PSEA agrees that during the life of this Agreement, neither the PSEA, 
its agents, nor its members will authorize, instigate, aid, engage in or 
condone any work stoppage or concerted slowdown, mass illness, refusal 
to work, or strike against the Employer. 
 

5.2.2 Lockout 
 
The City agrees that during the life of this Agreement, there will be no 
lockout. 
 

5.2.3 Duty to Perform 

The PSEA further agrees that its members shall cross the picket line of any 
other organization in order to perform assigned duties. 

Section 5.3 City, State, Federal Laws 
 

Any provision of this Agreement judicially found to be in violation of 
applicable City, State, or Federal law and subsequent amendments thereto 
is null and void, but all other provisions of this Agreement will remain in full 
force and effect. In the event any provision of this Agreement is declared 
unlawful, in a manner described above, the parties agree to meet within 15 



13  

days and for a reasonable period thereafter until appropriate substitute 
clauses have been ratified. 

 
Section 5.4 Absenteeism 

The PSEA agrees that it will actively combat absenteeism and other 
practices which may hamper the City's operation and that the PSEA will 
vigorously support the City in efforts to improve efficiency and the quality of 
law enforcement and further to promote good will between the City and the 
Bargaining Unit members. 

ARTICLE 6 MANAGEMENT RIGHT 

The City has and will retain the right to represent and manage the City and 
the City's property and to direct its working forces, including the right to 
hire, to set staffing levels, to promote and demote, to reclassify, and to 
discipline or discharge any personnel in its employ for good and just cause 
in the interest of the City, provided it does not conflict with the provisions of 
this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or is to be 
construed in any way, to interfere with the recognized prerogative of the 
City to manage and control its business. 

ARTICLE 7 PSEA SECURITY 
 

Section 7.1 Agency Shop 

7.1.1 Responsibility 
 

It is recognized that PSEA owes the same responsibilities to all Employees 
and is to provide benefits and services to all bargaining unit members 
whether or not they are members of PSEA. PSEA reserves the right to 
charge for representation of non-paying members for union representation in 
the course of an administrative proceeding with the employer including 
administrative investigations, grievances, and arbitrations. 
 

7.1.2 PSEA Information 

Persons hired in a Bargaining Unit position will be informed, at the time of 
the employment offer, of their right to become a member of PSEA. The 
Employee will be allowed up to a maximum of one hour, during normal 
working hours, to perform the PSEA enrollment activity and shall report to 
the PSEA office for membership discussion within 10 working days after 
reporting to work. 

 
Section 7.2 Check off and Payroll Deduction 

 
7.2.1 Dues and Fees 

 
The City agrees to deduct on a regular basis from the payroll check of all 
PSEA members, the regular monthly dues, assessments and fees, and 
voluntary contributions of members of the PSEA. 



14  

7.2.2 Communication between PSEA and City 
 

The Business Manager of PSEA shall notify the City Finance Department 
in writing of a decrease or increase in authorized dues or fees deducted. 
The City shall then make the appropriate changes in payroll deductions. 
The City shall remit the Employee's authorized PSEA deductions to the 
duly authorized representative of PSEA, together with a list of the names 
of the Employees from whose pay deductions are made. All changes in 
address of Employees must be transmitted to PSEA immediately. 

7.2.3 Payroll Deduction Privileges 
 

PSEA, or its designee, has a right to receipts from deductions of PSEA 
and PAC dues, initiation fees or agency fees, PSEA sponsored insurance 
premiums, and PSEA sponsored Employee benefits as previously 
authorized or as may be authorized by the Bargaining Unit Member. No 
other Employee organization shall be accorded payroll deduction 
privileges with regard to the Bargaining Unit. 
 

Section 7.3 Payroll Deductions/Direct Deposit 
 

Employees will be accorded payroll deduction and direct payroll 
deposit privileges to the financial institution of the employee’s choice on pay 
day, limited to two specified deductions and one deposit for the balance of 
the payment. 

 
Section 7.4 Meeting Space and Bulletin Boards 

7.4.1 When not previously reserved, appropriate meeting space in the 
buildings owned or leased by the City, will be available for meetings of 
PSEA. 
 

7.4.2 The City shall furnish adequate bulletin boards for use by PSEA. The City 
shall not unreasonably restrict or interfere with material posted on these 
boards. 

 
Section 7.5 Discrimination/Relations 

 
No member shall be discriminated against, or penalized for, or restrained 
from PSEA membership or activities, nor shall the City interfere in the 
relations between any member and the PSEA. 

 
Section 7.6 PSEA Obligation 

 
The PSEA assumes all obligations and responsibilities for this Bargaining 
Unit. The PSEA agrees that this Agreement is binding on each member 
and that its members, individually or collectively, accept full responsibility for 
carrying out the provisions of this Agreement. 

 



15  

Section 7.7 Sole Representative 
 

The City of Fairbanks recognizes PSEA as the sole representative of all 
designated positions listed in Article 19 for collective bargaining with respect 
to salaries, wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment; 
and shall not negotiate or handle grievances with any employee, 
organization, or individual other than PSEA. 

 
Section 7.8 Employee Representative 

 
7.8.1 Employee Representatives 

The Chapter Chair and Vice-Chair of the Fairbanks Police Department 
Employees Association Chapter of PSEA as well as two other employees, 
hereinafter called "Employee Representatives" will be designated by 
PSEA. They must be employees of the Fairbanks Police Department or 
the Fairbanks Emergency Communications Center and members of the 
PSEA. The Employee Representatives are permitted during regular 
working hours to perform their official representative duties handling 
requests, complaints, and grievances arising under this Agreement. 
There may be occasions when workload will prevent the granting of such 
time until a later date. In the absence of compelling circumstances to the 
contrary, the employee will be made available. Normal protocol will be 
observed with their respective supervisors prior to engaging in their duties 
as an Employee Representative. It is agreed that the Employee 
Representative conducting the representative duties shall, whenever 
possible, meet outside the presence of other employees. When it is 
mandatory to conduct grievances or other matters during day shift hours, 
the Employee Representative and affected grievant(s) may be re-
assigned by the Department Head to the day shift duty time to handle 
these matters, provided that this does not interfere with Department 
operations. 

 
7.8.2 Employee Representative Compensation 

 
The Employee Representatives will not receive overtime pay while 
performing Employee Representative duties in excess of the workday, nor 
may an Employee Representative extend their workday in such a manner 
as to receive overtime because part of the workday was used to perform 
Employee Representative duties with approval of the Department Head. 
An Employee Representative will not be entitled to special privileges. 

7.8.3 Employee Representative Lay-off 
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, in the event of lay-
offs, the Chapter Chair and Vice-Chair will be the last person(s) within 
their classification to be laid off. If the entire classification containing a 
Chapter Chair or Vice-Chair is eliminated by lay-off or reclassification, the 
Chair or Vice-Chair has no greater seniority rights within a lower 
classification for which they are eligible to "bump down" into (if any exists) 



16  

than is otherwise conferred by this Agreement. If both the Chair and Vice-
Chair work in the same classification, the Chapter Chair will be the last 
person laid off. 

 
Section 7.9 PSEA Staff 

 
PSEA staff will be permitted to visit work areas at reasonable times consistent 
with workload and operational needs. Such representatives will be recognized 
by the City as having the final authority to speak for the PSEA in all matters 
covered by this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE 8 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 

Section 8.1 Objective 

It is the mutual desire of the City and the PSEA to provide for the prompt 
adjustment of grievances in a fair and reasonable manner, with a minimum 
amount of interruption of the work schedules. Every reasonable effort will 
be made by both the City and the PSEA to resolve grievances at the 
earliest step possible. In the furtherance of this objective, the City and the 
PSEA have adopted the following procedure. 

 
Section 8.2 Definition 

 
A grievance is defined as any dispute arising from the interpretation, 
application, or alleged violation of a provision of this Agreement. 
However, any dispute involving the commencement date or termination of 
this Agreement will not be considered a grievance and will not be submitted 
to the grievance-arbitration procedure set forth herein, but instead any such 
questions concerning commencement or termination of this Agreement will 
be specifically reserved for judicial review. Any written resolution of a 
grievance (at any level of the grievance procedure) will be binding upon 
both parties. 
 

Section 8.3 Step One 

When an employee has a grievance, the employee (accompanied by a 
PSEA representative if the employee chooses) shall verbally discuss the 
matter with their immediate supervisor and attempt to resolve the problem. 
The grievance must be brought to the attention of the immediate 
supervisor within twenty (20) business days of the employee reasonably 
having, knowledge of the grievance. If the grievance cannot be resolved 
through verbal discussion, the grievance must be formalized in writing, 
signed by the member, and presented to the immediate supervisor within 
five (5) business days of the oral discussion. The grievance shall state the 
article and section number of this Agreement allegedly violated and the 
way the member believes that section has been violated. The immediate 
supervisor shall investigate the grievance and shall indicate in writing a 
response to the grievance within five (5) business days following the day 



17  

on which the written grievance was presented. The immediate supervisor 
will deliver the written grievance and their response to the next level of 
supervision, with a copy to the grievant(s), and the PSEA. If the grievance 
is not resolved, the Step One procedures may be repeated at every level 
of supervision until the grievance delivered to the Department Head. The 
five (5) business day time frame applies for each level within this step and 
delivery of the grievance to the Department Head. 

 
Section 8.4 Step Two 

 
Grievances not settled in the first step may be delivered to the Department 
Head who shall attempt to settle the grievance within 10 business days 
after the submission of the grievance. Within this time frame, the 
Department Head shall meet with the grievant, PSEA Representative, and 
other witnesses as appropriate and attempt to resolve the issue(s). The 
Department Head shall mail or deliver a written decision to PSEA within 
this 10 business day time frame. If the written decision of the Department 
Head is not satisfactory to the grievant, they shall have 5 business days to 
decide if they wish to appeal the grievance to Step Three. 

 

Section 8.5 Step Three 
 

After receipt of a grievance the City Mayor or Mayor’s designee shall have 
ten (10) business days to meet with all involved parties and to issue a 
written decision to PSEA. If the response states that the nature of the 
grievance and/or the portion of this Agreement allegedly violated is not 
stated or cannot be determined from the documentation submitted, the 
party submitting the grievance may, within five (5) business days, amend 
or augment the documentation submitted. If amended or augmented, the 
City shall have five (5) additional business days to submit a final written 
response. If the decision of the City is unsatisfactory to the grievant, 
PSEA may, within ten (10) business days of the delivery of the decision, 
demand that the matter be submitted to binding arbitration. 

 
Section 8.6 Arbitration 

 
8.6.1 Arbitration Notice 

 
The arbitration notice must include the nature of the matter to be 
arbitrated and the Agreement provision(s) allegedly violated. 
When the demand to submit a grievance to binding arbitration is made, 
PSEA and the City shall meet at a date and time mutually agreeable 
within 10 business days to select an arbitrator. Upon the failure of the 
parties to agree upon an arbitrator, both parties agree to request the 
Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service to submit a list of nine 
names of persons, with prior service as a neutral arbitrator involving the 
interpretation of Collective Bargaining Agreements who are available for 
service within six months of request. Within 5 business days of receipt 
of the list, the City and PSEA representatives shall alternately strike one 
name from the list until one name remains. The side to strike the first 



18  

name will be chosen by lot. 
 

8.6.2 Findings 
 

Arbitration of the grievance will commence as soon as agreeable. The 
Arbitrator shall make a written report of their findings to PSEA and the 
City within 20 business days of the conclusion of the hearing or 20 
business days following submission of any post- hearing briefs. The 
Arbitrator will be governed by Labor Arbitration Rules of the American 
Arbitration Association (AAA) as amended and in effect at the time the 
grievance is filed. The decision of the Arbitrator is final and binding on 
both parties to this Agreement and enforceable under the provisions of 
AS 09.43.010-180, as may be amended. 

 
8.6.3 Arbitrator 

 
The authority of the Arbitrator is limited to the application and 
interpretation of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall consider and 
decide only the specific issue or issues submitted in writing and shall 
have no authority to decide other issues. The Arbitrator has no authority 
to amend, alter, modify, or otherwise change the terms or scope of this 
Agreement. The final decision of the Arbitrator must be implemented as 
soon as possible, but not later than 30 days after the final decision is 
rendered. 

 
Section 8.7 Single and Multiple Grievances 

Each grievance or dispute will be submitted to a separately convened 
arbitration proceeding, except where the City and PSEA mutually agree 
to have more than one grievance or dispute submitted to the same 
arbitrator. Multiple grievances relating to a single issue will be 
consolidated into one proceeding heard by a single arbitrator. Any 
dispute as to consolidation will be resolved by written motion without 
testimony by the first arbitrator chosen to resolve a series of grievances 
where consolidation is sought. 

 
Section 8.8 Expense 

The City and PSEA shall bear the expense of their respective 
representatives and witnesses. The other expenses involved in such 
arbitration proceeding will be paid by the non-prevailing party, as 
determined by the Arbitrator. 

 
Section 8.9 Witness 

 
Any member called as a witness by either side will continue to receive 
their regular rate of pay while attending the hearing but not to exceed the 
member's regular working hours. Should the meetings be scheduled 
outside of the member's regular working hours, or extended beyond the 



19  

regular working hours, no compensation will be paid by the City for the 
time outside regular hours. Off-duty members will not be compensated 
for their time while required to attend such hearings but will be given hour 
for hour time off in lieu of time so spent at arbitration hearings. 

 
Section 8.10 Decision Time Frame 

Except for appeals of disciplinary actions in accordance with Article 8, 
when any matter in dispute has been referred to the Grievance Procedure 
set forth above, the conditions and provisions prevailing prior to the time 
the dispute arose will not be changed until the decision is rendered. If the 
Arbitrator so rules, the decision will be made retroactive to the time the 
dispute began. 

 
Section 8.11 Grievance Submission Level 

In the event either party, after notice, fails to answer a grievance within the 
time required at any step of the Grievance Procedure, or either party fails 
to appeal the answer given to the next step of the Grievance Procedure 
within the time allowed, the grievance will be considered settled against 
the side which has defaulted. However, any of the time limits or required 
steps of the grievance arbitration procedure may be extended or waived 
by written mutual agreement of PSEA and the City. Before either party 
claims a default, it will give a courtesy call to the other party. Grievances 
settled by default will not be the basis of establishing the precedent for the 
settlement of any other grievance. 

 
Section 8.12 Originating Step 

Any grievance that originates from a level above Step One of the Grievance 
Procedure will be submitted directly to the step or level from which it 
originates. 
 

Section 8.13 PSEA or Class Action Grievance or Unfair Labor Practices 
 

Grievances filed by PSEA on behalf of itself or as a class action shall be 
filed at Step Three. Similarly, the City will notify the PSEA of any perceived 
unfair labor practices by the PSEA and the parties will use timelines 
described in Step Three. 

 
ARTICLE 9 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND RIGHTS 

 
Section 9.1 Retirement 

The City and all employees covered under this Agreement will participate 
in the Public Employee’s Retirement System of Alaska administered by 
the Public Employee’s Retirement Board of the State of Alaska, and any 
other mutually agreeable plan or plans. 

 
Section 9.2 Health Benefits 



20  

 
9.2.1 Health Insurance 

 
For each member, the City shall contribute the required monthly 
employer premium to the Alaska State Employee Association’s 
applicable insurance plan. 

 
9.2.2 IRS 125 Plan 

 
The City agrees to make available and maintain a pre-tax IRS section 125 
plan account at the election of each employee as allowed under federal 
law. 

 
Section 9.3 Deferred Compensation 

 
Employees covered by this Agreement will continue to be eligible to 
participate in the City’s deferred compensation programs. 

 
Section 9.4 Injured Employee Rights & Responsibilities (Non-work-related 

injury) 
9.4.1 Temporary Incapacity 

 
When a member becomes injured and temporarily cannot perform their 
normal duties and has an evaluation from an appropriate medical 
professional indicating light duty would be appropriate, the City will 
endeavor to assign the member to a light duty assignment. 

 
9.4.2 Permanent Incapacity 

If a member is determined by an appropriate medical professional to be, 
permanently unable to perform their normal job functions, the PSEA and 
the City agree that: 

 
9.4.2.1 The member employee may be terminated subject to 

grievance/arbitration procedures. 
 

9.4.2.2 For a period of 12 months following the finding of permanent 
incapacity, if a position exists within the PSEA Unit that the 
permanently incapacitated member qualifies for and can perform, 
they will be given preference in the hiring process for that position. 
It will be the responsibility of the member to monitor potential job 
openings and apply. 

 
9.4.3 Workers’ Compensation Laws 

 
Nothing in this section abrogates any provision of Workers’ 
Compensation law or rules or any requirements of state or federal law. 
 



21  

Section 9.5 Work Related Injuries 
 

9.5.1 Injury or Disability 

Members who suffer an injury or disability which is covered under the 
provisions of state Workers’ Compensation are entitled to the protections 
and provisions of those laws, as such apply at the time of the 
injury/disability. If a competent medical authority deems that an employee 
will never be able to perform their regular assigned tasks, they will be 
separated on the same basis as a lay-off due to a reduction in force, 
subject to recall to a position which is within their ability to perform 
without job modification, and at the appropriate pay rate generally 
accorded the new position. 
 

9.5.2 Paid Administrative Leave 

A paid administrative leave of absence for up to 12 consecutive months 
from the date of the discovery of an initial injury/illness will be provided 
for a member who has suffered an illness or injury in the line of duty 
that would normally qualify them for Workers’ Compensation. In such 
instances, the member may be assigned work at the discretion of the 
department providing such work assignment does not adversely affect 
the nature of the illness or injury. Should it be determined that the 
member will not be eligible to return to full duty and if the member 
applies for retirement and the retirement is granted prior to the 
expiration of the 12 months of administrative leave, the department’s 
obligation under this provision is then nullified. It is the intent of this 
provision that a member would be fully compensated for that period 
covered by administrative leave. Members will retain their Worker’s 
Compensation check and notify Payroll of any change in status or 
compensation. When the member returns to duty, to ensure the 
member’s PERS contributions are made whole, the member will 
complete the PERS Workers Compensation and LWOP Claim and 
Verification form and submit it to the PERS Administrator. When the 
PERS Administrator determines the member’s indebtedness the 
member will submit a copy of the memo from the PERS Administrator 
with the indebtedness amount to Payroll. Payroll will work with the 
member to set up a payroll deduction for repayment or lump sum 
payment. In the event a lump sum payment is issued it is incumbent 
upon the member to pay the PERS indebtedness amount directly to the 
PERS Administrator. 
In extraordinary circumstances, the parties may mutually agree to 
modify the provisions of this section. This provision does not apply to 
probationary recruit employees in training at the academy. These 
employees, however, are subject to eligibility under the Alaska 
Workers’ Compensation Act. 

 
9.5.3 Light Duty 

 
When, due to a work-related injury, a member becomes injured and 



22  

cannot perform their normal duties and has an evaluation by an 
appropriate medical professional indicating the employee may perform 
light duty, the City shall endeavor to assign the member to light duty in 
regular pay status. 

 
9.5.4 Federal and State Law 

Nothing in this section abrogates any provision of Workers’ 
Compensation law and rules or any provision of federal law regarding 
employment of the disabled, to include the Americans with Disabilities 
Act. 

 
Section 9.6 Physical Examination 

 
Each member will be provided the opportunity to have a biennial physical 
examination, beginning during their second year of employment, by an 
appropriate medical professional. The City will pay all costs of this 
examination, without the consideration of the member’s health insurance. 
The City shall not receive or maintain any report of the employee's 
examination, other than to be notified if the member is not fit for duty. The 
City reserves the right to require physical examinations as a screening 
tool for physical fitness testing. Results of this examination will be limited 
to whether the employee can participate in testing, or any testing 
limitations. 
 

Section 9.7 “For Cause” Examination 
 

When a documented incident or incidents raise specific questions for the 
City regarding an employee’s physical mental or psychological ability to 
perform their normal work assignments, the City may order an 
examination, including all relevant controlled substance test procedures, 
by an appropriate medical professional. The cost for this examination 
shall be borne by the city.  
If the medical professional determines the employee is permanently 
incapable of performing their normal work assignments due to their 
physical, mental, or psychological ability, the City may place them in a 
classification they can perform within the Department. Should no 
classification be vacant, and no reasonable accommodation be available 
that would allow the employe to perform the essential functions of their 
job, the employee will be laid off or terminated subject to any applicable 
procedures within this Agreement. Nothing in this section in any way 
lessens the City’s obligation to reasonably accommodate an employee’s 
disability by assignment to another position provided that, with 
reasonable accommodation, the employee can perform the essential 
functions of the other position.  

  If a medical professional determines that employee is temporarily 
incapable or performing their assigned duties, the employee will follow 
the medial professional’s plan of recovery. The medical professional must 
clear the employee to return to work before returning.  



23  

 
9.7.1 Physical “For Cause” Examinations 
 

For physical examinations, the City may select an appropriate medical 
professional. 
 
The employee will follow all recommendations regarding rehabilitation 
from any physical injury, and the City will be allowed access to the 
timeline for recovery as anticipated by the physician. If the employee fails 
to reasonably follow the physician’s recommendations for recovery, the 
employee may be laid off or terminated subject to any applicable 
procedures with this Agreement regarding lay-offs and seniority.  
 
If the physical injury occurred while the employee was off-duty and the 
timeline for recovery is longer than twelve months, the employee may be 
laid off or terminated subject to any applicable procedures within this 
Agreement regarding layoffs and seniority. The employee reserves the 
right to use accrued leave or compensatory time to extend the twelve-
month period.  
 
If the physical injury occurred while the employee was on duty, and the 
timeline for recovery is longer than twenty-four months, the employee 
may be laid off or terminated subject to any applicable procedures within 
this Agreement regarding lay-offs and seniority. 
 
If, while recovering from an injury, the city or department finds a suitable 
classification for the employee to work in temporarily, and the employee 
refuses to work within that classification, the employee may be laid off or 
terminated subject to any applicable procedures within this Agreement 
regarding lay-offs and seniority. 
 

9.7.2 Mental and Psychological “For Cause” Examinations 
 

The City may select any licensed psychologist or psychiatrist to complete 
the assessment for psychological or mental examinations.  
 
To ensure impartiality and fairness, once the City has selected its 
preferred psychologist or psychiatrist, which may be a group, company, 
or agency, the City will not change the chosen evaluator without prior 
agreement from PSEA. Upon selecting the designated psychologist or 
psychiatrist, the City will provide PSEA with the provider’s name, 
locations, and contact information. It is the City’s responsibility to verify 
that its chosen provider is competent to provide such evaluation(s).  
If, during the first evaluation, the medical expert decides that no treatment 
plan will allow the employee to return to work within six months, the City 



24  

will select a second similarly competent medical professional to provide a 
second opinion. The second opinion must not come from a medical 
professional who works for the same group, company, or organization as 
the original medical professional.  
If both medical professionals agree that no treatment plan will allow the 
employee to return within six months, the employee may be laid off or 
terminated subject to any applicable procedures within this Agreement 
regarding layoffs and seniority. Should the second medical professional 
suggest a plan that would allow the employee to return to work within six 
months, the advice of that medical professional will be followed.  
The City reserves the right to place the employee on administrative leave, 
light duty, or leave without pay while awaiting the second evaluation. 
Should the employee refuse to reasonably follow the treatment plan 
provided by the medical professional, the employee may be laid off or 
terminated subject to any applicable procedures within this Agreement 
regarding lay-offs and seniority. 
After completing the treatment plan, should the employee still be deemed 
unfit to return to work, the employee may be laid off or terminated subject 
to any applicable procedures within this Agreement regarding layoffs and 
seniority. 
Any employee terminated by the City under Section 9.7 may be 
considered exempt from any financial responsibility related to bonuses 
and/or other financial agreements agreed to between the City and the 
employee prior to their employment with the City. 

 
Section 9.8 Indemnification 

 
9.8.1 Cause 

 
In the event any action or claims are made by a person or entity against 
any employee or their estate for actions done while in the scope of City 
employment, the claim will be defended by the City and any liability 
incurred by the employee or estate as a result will be paid by the City, 
provided that, any actions or claims, defense of liability resulting 
therefrom will not be paid by the City if the action or claims are based 
upon acts or omissions of the employee resulting from recklessness, 
gross negligence, or intentional misconduct. In the event the City 
Council may, by ordinance, enact indemnification provisions that 
provide added protections to employees, such indemnification 
provisions will apply to this bargaining unit. 
 

9.8.2 Settlement 
 

In the event the City resolves an action or claim involving a member for 
purely pragmatic reasons not involving any misbehavior by the 
employee, the City will issue a letter to the employee stating the 
reasons for the settlement, with a copy placed in the employee's 
personnel file. 



25  

 
 
 

9.8.3 City Ordinance 

This section shall be read in conjunction with the terms of any City 
ordinance providing for indemnification of City employees and the 
protection of both this section and the ordinance will apply, provided 
that, in the event of any conflict, the provisions providing the maximum 
protection to the employee will prevail. 

 
Section 9.9 Training 

The City will endeavor to provide commissioned officers and dispatch 
personnel with 40 hours per year of training or the functional equivalent, 
excluding firearms qualifications, and state or federally mandated training 
such as Haz-mat and Blood Borne Pathogen training that are not 
discretionary and will be provided. 

 
Absent an unforeseen emergency, active canine (K-9) teams will be 
afforded a minimum of 4 hours of training time each week during regular 
duty hours. 

 
Section 9.10 Conduct Based Investigation 

 
The City and the PSEA agree that it is imperative that all investigations of 
claims of member misconduct are conducted by the City in a manner 
which upholds the highest standards of the Department, preserves the 
faith of the public in the integrity of the department and its members, and 
also protects and safeguards the rights of the members. To ensure that 
any such investigations are conducted in a manner that is conducive to 
good order and discipline, the parties agree to the following provisions: 

 
9.10.1 Investigation of conduct subject to criminal action only: 

 
9.10.1.1 If a member is under investigation by the City, whether instituted by 

the City or as a result of a complaint being filed against the 
member, and the member is interrogated or interviewed by the City 
agents for conduct that may subject the member to criminal 
prosecution, the member must be given the same Miranda 
Warning that is then currently in use by police officers of the City 
when conducting interviews of criminal suspects. 

 
9.10.1.2 A member’s position with this Department does not afford them 

any greater or lesser rights than are enjoyed by other citizens of 
this City and State when subject to criminal investigations or 
proceedings. 

9.10.1.3 Any such investigation and interview/interrogation shall be 
conducted in accordance with existing criminal law and 



26  

procedures currently in effect in this State. 
 

9.10.2 Investigation of conduct subject to both criminal and 
administrative actions: 

 
9.10.2.1 If a member is under investigation, instituted by the Department or 

because of a complaint being filed against the member for alleged 
conduct that may result in both administrative actions (disciplinary 
or punitive) and criminal prosecution, the City shall not "merge" 
the criminal investigation and the administrative investigation, but 
shall instead conduct separate and distinct investigations, each 
conducted by a different person. Information gained in the 
Criminal Investigation may be used as a foundation for the 
Administrative Investigation. Prior to a criminal 
interview/interrogation the member must be advised of the 
Miranda Warning that is then currently in use by police officers of 
the City when conducting interviews of criminal suspects. The 
member will also be informed when it is contemplated that the 
matter may be referred to a criminal prosecutor for review. 

 
9.10.2.2 In the course of the administrative investigation of the allegation(s), 

a member refusing to respond to questions or submit to 
interview/interrogation must be informed that failure to answer 
questions which are specifically directed and narrowly related to 
the performance of their official duties, including cooperation with 
other agencies involved in criminal investigations, may subject the 
member to disciplinary charges, including insubordination, which 
may result in their dismissal from the Department. Compelled 
statements so given in an administrative investigation will not be 
used against the member in any criminal prosecution, nor will the 
City provide any form of such statements to any other person or 
agency unless so ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction. In 
the event of demand for production of the contents of such 
statements, the City will notify the member of the demand, and will 
assert the privilege on behalf of the member. 
 

9.10.2.3 All compelled statements given in the course of an administrative 
investigation may be used against the member in relation to any 
subsequent departmental administrative charges which may result 
in disciplinary or punitive actions against the member. 

 
9.10.2.4 If the member so requests, any interview/interrogation will be 

suspended for a reasonable period to allow the PSEA 
representative or counsel to attend. The representative may not be 
a person subject to the same or related investigation. 

 
9.10.2.5 Any interview will be held at a mutually agreeable location 

provided by the City. 
 



27  

9.10.2.6 The interview must be recorded, and a copy of the recording must 
be provided to PSEA. 

 
9.10.3 Investigation of conduct subject to disciplinary or punitive 

action only: 
 

9.10.3.1 If a member is under administrative (noncriminal) investigation 
instituted by the Department or as a result of a complaint being 
filed against the member for conduct that may subject the member 
to administrative disciplinary or punitive action only, the 
investigation will be conducted in accordance with the safeguards 
listed below. 

 
9.10.3.2 When available, the member must be notified of the investigation in 

a timely fashion not to exceed one week (5 business days) from the 
time that the complaint is discovered by the Department Head, 
except for investigations of "on- going" type of conduct. 

 
9.10.3.3 The member must be informed of their rights as specified in this 

section as well as the name and authority of the officer in charge of 
the investigation. The member must also be informed of the name 
of all persons who will be present during the interview/interrogation, 
and questions may be asked by no more than two interviewers at 
any meeting. 

 
9.10.3.4 Before an interrogation/interview is commenced, the member must 

be informed of the nature of the investigation and provided a list of 
all known allegations. Except for anonymous complaints, the 
member must be informed of the name(s) of all complainants. 

 
9.10.3.5 The member shall not be subjected to offensive language or 

threatened with punitive actions, except that a member refusing to 
respond to questions or submit to interview - interrogation must be 
informed that failure to answer questions which are specifically 
directed and narrowly related to the performance of their official 
duties, including cooperation with other agencies involved in 
criminal investigations, may subject the member to disciplinary 
charges, including insubordination, which may result in their 
dismissal from the Department. 

 
9.10.3.6 The member is entitled to a PSEA representative or counsel 

selected by PSEA present at an interview / interrogation. The 
PSEA representative may question the member as well as offer 
rebuttal as necessary. The representative may not be a person 
subject to the same or related investigation. 

 
9.10.3.7 If, prior to or during the interview/interrogation of a member, it is 

deemed that they will be charged with a criminal offense, the 
member must be immediately informed of the Miranda Warning 



28  

that is then currently in use by police officers of this City when 
conducting custodial criminal interviews of suspects and a 
separate criminal investigation will be initiated in accord with 
Section 9.11. 

 
9.10.3.8 In the event the City chooses to proceed criminally against the 

member for a violation of the law and the member so requests, 
the interview/interrogation will be suspended for a reasonable 
period of time to allow the PSEA representative or counsel to 
attend. The representative may not be a person subject to the 
same or related investigation. 

 
9.10.3.9 The member or the City may record the interview / interrogation 

after advising that a recording will be made. Each may have 
access to other's recording, if any are made. 

 
9.10.3.10 The member is entitled to a copy of the completed investigative 

report including any related existing records of 
interviews/interrogations prior to the imposition of disciplinary or 
punitive action against the member. 

 
9.10.4 General Administrative Investigations Guidelines: 

 
9.10.4.1 All administrative investigations conducted by the Department 

involving allegations against its members will adhere to these 
general guidelines. 

 
9.10.4.2 All administrative investigations and their outcomes will be 

treated as personnel matters and will be confidential. 
 

9.10.4.3 Investigation of conduct will be conducted in a timely manner 
without unnecessary delay. 

 
9.10.4.4 Nothing in this Agreement may abridge the right of a supervisor at 

any level to counsel with, advise, or admonish a member under 
their command in private. 

 
9.10.4.5 No promise of reward may be made as an inducement to 

answering any question. 
 

9.10.4.6 Any interrogation/interview must be conducted at a reasonable 
hour, preferably at a time when the member is on duty, or during 
the normal waking hour of the member, unless the seriousness of 
the investigation requires otherwise. 

 
9.10.4.7 The interview may only be voice recorded; video recording will only 

be used upon prior “case by case” written approval of the Department 
Head. Records of the interview must be provided by the City to 
PSEA. 



29  

 
9.10.4.8 The interview shall be held at a location provided by the City that 

is mutually agreeable to both PSEA and the City. 
 

9.10.4.9 No PSEA elected official may be compelled to testify about any 
knowledge that they have gained as a result of their office. 

 
9.10.4.10 During the interview/interrogation, the member will be 

allowed to attend to bodily functions as necessary. 
 

9.10.4.11 The member will be compensated at the overtime rate if the 
interview/interrogation is conducted at a time other than the 
employee's working hours. However, the City may, at the 
discretion of the Department Head, reassign a member under 
investigation to administrative duties, Monday through Friday 0800 
to 1700 hours, for the duration of the investigation. 

 
9.10.4.12 The PSEA is entitled to a copy of the completed investigation 

report including any related existing records of 
interviews/interrogations prior to the impositions of disciplinary or 
punitive action against the member. Materials will be provided to 
PSEA upon completion of any investigation. 

 
9.10.4.13 All administrative investigations will include one of the 

following dispositions for each allegation: 
 

9.10.4.13.1 Substantiated (or “Sustained”) 
Means that the act of misconduct or violation complained 
of occurred. The standard of proof is a preponderance of 
the evidence. 

 
9.10.4.13.2 Unsubstantiated (or “Not Sustained”) 

Means that there was insufficient evidence to prove or 
disprove the allegation. 

 
9.10.4.13.3 Exonerated 

Means that the act alleged did occur, but the member's 
actions were lawful and proper. 

 
9.10.4.13.4 Unfounded 

Means that the act alleged did not occur. 
 

9.10.4.13.5 Other Misconduct Noted 
Means the investigation revealed an act of misconduct or 
violation not alleged in the complaint. 

 
Section 9.11 Use of Lie Detector Devices 

No member may be compelled to submit to a Lie Detector exam against 



30  

their will. The exercise of this right may not in any way be used against 
the member in any disciplinary action nor will testimony or evidence of the 
refusal be admissible at a subsequent hearing, trial or other proceeding. 
This does not preclude the use of a Lie Detector Device where the 
member and the Department mutually agree to its use, nor does it 
mandate that a member has a right to demand a Lie Detector Examiner 
investigation. 

 
Section 9.12 Financial Disclosure 

No member may be required to disclose personal information, including but 
not limited to property possessed, sources and amounts of income, debts, 
and personal or domestic expenditures (including those of any member of 
their family or immediate household), unless any of the following conditions 
exist: 

 
9.12.1 Such information is obtained under proper legal procedure; 

 
9.12.2 Probable cause to suspect a conflict of interest with respect to the 

performance of their official duties; or 
 

9.12.3 It is necessary for the Department to ascertain the desirability of 
assigning the member to a specialized unit assignment in which there is 
a strong possibility that bribes or other inducements may be offered. 

 
Section 9.13 Searches 

 
No member may be subject to unreasonable search and seizure. 
Members enjoy the right to privacy in their individual work areas, lockers, 
electronic devices maintained by the employee for work purposes, or 
other space provided by the Department. Searches of these areas may 
be conducted in the member's presence, with the member's consent, with 
a valid search warrant, or when the member has been notified in advance 
(at least 24 hours) that a search will be conducted. This provision does 
not prevent the Department from conducting routine inspections of work 
areas, break areas, locker rooms, vehicles, and other Department owned 
or leased facilities and equipment, for cleanliness, neatness, 
serviceability, compliance with directives, and other needs of the 
Department for the welfare of its members and successful completion of 
its mission. Nothing in this section prevents the Department from 
retrieving equipment, reports, or other items needed for the continuance 
of operation from a member's locker or other secured space when the 
member is not available. 

 
Section 9.14 Political Activities 

 
9.14.1 In Uniform 

 
All members are prohibited from engaging in political activities at any time 



31  

while in uniform. 
 

9.14.2 On Duty 

All members are prohibited from engaging in political activity while on 
duty. 

 
9.14.3 Solicitation 

 
All employees are prohibited from soliciting political contributions from 
fellow employees or those on eligibility list(s), other than in connection 
with ballot measures affecting their wages, hours and working conditions, 
except that they may make appeals for any kind of political contributions 
to the public generally, even though this may include fellow employees. 
 

Section 9.15 Revocation of Driver’s License 
 

No Employee may be deprived of pay or seniority based upon the 
revocation of their driver's license for a violation or violations of the law 
which result from the direct orders of their superior to specifically commit 
such violation or violations. 

 
Section 9.16 Break Areas 

The parties agree that the Employer will provide areas designated as 
"Employee Break Areas" which will be large enough to accommodate the 
Employees using such areas. PSEA members are encouraged to make 
suggestions to the Employer as to the location of acceptable areas. 

 
ARTICLE 10 FAIRBANKS POLICE DEPARTMENT (FPD) WORK RULES 

 
Section 10.1 General Rules 

 
10.1.1 Hours of Work and Work Week 

 
The work week shall be seven calendar days beginning at midnight 
(12:00 am) on Sunday through 11:59 pm on Saturday. The work 
schedule for employees shall, at the discretion of the Employer, be any 
combination of no less than eight (8) hour, or more than twelve (12) 
hour shifts. The Employer shall not change the shift configuration (i.e. 2-
12-hour & 1-10-hourshift) for patrol police officers and patrol sergeants 
other than when the annual bid cycle takes place, unless an emergency 
situation exists.  

 
10.1.2 The Employer may approve alternate/flexible schedules, if requested by 

non-patrol commissioned officers (e.g detectives, Drug Unit, SRO, 
Traffic, K9), as defined below. 
 



32  

a)  5/8s. Employees may be assigned to work five (5) consecutive 
eight- (8) hour days on duty, followed by two (2) consecutive days 
off. The daily starting and ending times for employees working a 5/8 
schedule will be consistent with the standard operating hours of the 
work group to which the employee is assigned.  

b)  4/10s. Employees may be assigned to work four (4) consecutive ten 
- (10) hour days on duty, followed by three (3) consecutive days off.  

c)  Flex Time. Upon mutual agreement, non-patrol officers may be 
allowed to work days of different lengths or different days in 
response to an employee request or the City’s business need; such 
requested schedule change shall be within the officer’s established 
work week.  

 
10.1.3 Annual Patrol Bid Cycle. The Employer will normally put forth an annual 

patrol shift schedule for the upcoming year by no later than November 1st of 
each year. The bid for shifts and days off will normally start November 1st of 
each year. The results of the shift bid shall be posted by the Employer as 
soon as practical, but no later than December 1st of each year. The new 
schedule will normally take effect January 1st of the following year. New 
Employees are eligible to bid for a shift and days off at the next annual bid 
cycle only after successful completion of their probationary period.  
 
While seniority shall be the prime factor in the selection of shifts and days 
off. PSEA agrees with the Employer that a balance of skills, certification, 
tenure, and specialty assignments are necessary amongst shifts for 
efficient and effective operation of the department. In accordance with 
this philosophy, the order for shift bidding will be as follows.: 
 

1. Sergeants (most senior in position to least senior in position) 
2. Corporals (most senior in position to least senior in position) 
3. The Chief of Police will place employees who are not eligible to bid 

into the schedule, based on the needs of the employer.  
4. Officers (most senior in position to least senior in position) 
5. The Chief of Police has the option of placing into the schedule any 

employee on a current Performance Improvement Plan: 
• The basis of placing the employee outside of the bid in 

step 4 will be a demonstrative skill in a particular squad 
which will facilitate successful completion of the PIP. 

• The junior member of the squad the PIP member will be 
placed into will swap squad assignments with the PIP 
member. At the conclusion of the PIP, the two employees 
will go back to the bid assignments from step 5. 

6. The Chief of Police can only alter the bid if the bid creates a 
significant imbalance of specialties between the different squads 
and with the agreement of PSEA. This includes, but not limited to 
the following examples: SWAT, FTO, firearms instructors, 
defensive tactics instructors, and EVOC instructors. 

  
10.1.3.1 Shift Bidding 



33  

  
 In the event a member would be forced to work the same shift beyond 

two tour rotations, that member may be bumped up in seniority for that 
one tour bid. Shift preference will be used to bid each shift as provided in 
this section and subsections. No member may remain on the same shift 
more than four consecutive rotations. There will be triannual shift 
rotations. 

   
 

10.1.4  Supervision by Family Member  
 
Employees may not bid a shift which would require them to be evaluated 
by or to evaluate a member who is a relative, cohabitant, or significant 
other, or where a romantic/sexual, or business relation exists. This 
provision applies to shift, not overtime bidding. However, the Department 
Head has the ability to require either employee to move to a different 
shift. 
 

10.1.5 Reporting Late for Duty 
 
When members report for work later than the scheduled starting time, 
they will be placed on leave without pay for the period of their absence, 
and their finishing time will not be extended to make up for the lost time. 
Periods of less than one-half hour will be deducted in half hour 
increments.  
 

10.1.6 Shift Swaps 
 

Shift swaps, to be used as a judicious management tool, are allowed 
under this Agreement if approved by the Department Head. 

 
10.1.7 Maximum Consecutive Hours Worked 

Except for work performed in an emergency or life-threatening situation, 
no member may routinely work more than 14 consecutive hours if other 
employees are available. The parties further agree that there are 
situations, such as shift change day, and certain days where a member 
will occasionally be required to work more than 12 non-consecutive 
hours in a day. 

 
10.1.7.1 Any member who is forced to work any hours which prevents them 

from having 48 consecutive hours off for those employees working 
10- or 12-hour shift schedules, or 24 hours off for those employees 
working an eight-hour shift schedule, will be paid at the basic rate 
plus shift differential, if any, multiplied by 1.5 and 0.5 compensatory 
time. (Any forced hours worked within the 48 consecutive hours off 
or 24 consecutive hours off will be paid at the basic rate plus shift 
differential, if any, multiplied by 1.5 plus, 0.5 compensatory time.) 
An exception to this rule is Court Duty. 



34  

 
10.1.8 Temporary Assignments 

 
Temporary assignments, except for training duties or operational 
necessity, will be for three years and may be extended by the department 
head. 

 
10.1.9 Hardship Request 

 
Upon application of a member to the Department Head, a member may 
be reassigned to any shift/assignment due to personal hardship or other 
approved reason. 

 
10.1.10 Newly Promoted Assignments 

 
Newly promoted employees will be assigned a shift until the next 
regularly scheduled Shift Preference Bid. 

 
10.1.10.1 Plan for Individual Improvement Scheduling 

 
Employees placed on a "Plan for Individual Improvement” will be 
assigned a duty schedule by the City. Upon successful completion 
of the Plan, the employee’s right to bid shift preference will be 
restored at the next shift bidding. 

 
Section 10.2 Pay for Working in a Higher Classification. Temporarily 

Working Out of Class and Acting Appointments 
 

Any Employee who is assigned by the Department Head the 
responsibilities and the duties of a classification for more than one hour, 
other than the classification the Employee normally holds, will be paid at 
the same step on the higher classification rate when filling the 
classification. Any Employee who is assigned duties of a position below 
the classification which the Employee normally holds, will continue to be 
paid at the rate the Employee normally receives. Members will not be 
required to work outside their classification for a consecutive period 
beyond six months in a calendar year unless otherwise agreed between 
the City and the PSEA. 

 
Section 10.3 Schedule Changes 

When making Employee schedule changes, the Employer shall notify the 
Employee of any contemplated change in writing or electronic notification 
at least seven calendar days prior to the effective date of the change. If 
the Employee is not given at least seven calendar days’ notice of the 
change, the Employee will be paid at the rate of time and one-half for all 
hours worked on the first day of the new schedule. Additional hours 
scheduled prior to an Employee's regular starting time are not schedule 
changes when the regular workday is also worked. This provision does 
not apply to temporary deviations to an Employee's schedule caused by 



35  

unforeseen circumstances outside the control of the Employer. 

10.3.1  Employee Training  

In accordance with Section 10.6.1.1, the Employer may temporarily adjust 
an employee’s normal schedule to accommodate training associated with 
maintaining the operational effectiveness and efficiency of the 
department. 
 

Section 10.4 Court Attendance 
 

10.4.1 On-Duty Attendance 
 

Members required to appear for court as a result of actions performed 
in the line of duty will suffer no loss in regular earnings but will be 
compensated during service at the member's rate of pay if on duty. 
Any witness fees must be turned over to the City. 

 
10.4.2 Off-Duty Attendance 

 
If members are off-duty, they will receive pay at the appropriate 
overtime rate with a three-hour minimum, unless court is within 3 hours of 
the employee’s regularly schedule shift start time, then they will be paid 
for actual hours worked. The appearance requirement of the off-duty 
employee is limited to what is necessary to appear and attend at court. 

 
10.4.3 Jury Duty 

Any member who is required to serve on jury duty during a normally 
scheduled workday will be reassigned to dayshift for that day. Any 
payment for jury service will be signed over to the City, and the member 
will receive their normal wage for that day. 
Should the member be excused from service, they are expected to report 
to their supervisor and complete the remaining hours of their workday. 

 
Section 10.5 Shift Definitions and Shift Differential Pay 

 
10.5.1 Day Shift 

The “day” shift is any shift beginning between 0500 hours and 1159 
hours.  Shifts beginning during the “day” shift hours are paid no shift 
differential. 

10.5.2 Swing Shift 
 

The “swing” shift is any shift beginning between 1200 hours and 1859 hours. 
Shifts beginning during the “swing” shift hours are paid a 5% shift differential. 

 
10.5.3 Midnight Shift 



36  

 
The “midnight” shift is any shift beginning between 1900 hours and 0459 
hours. Shifts beginning during the “midnight” shift hours are paid a 10% 
shift differential. 
 

All overtime will be paid the shift differential for the time in which the overtime 
starts. For example, if someone on swing shift went into overtime at 1900 they 
would receive the midnight shift differential. 

 
Section 10.6 Overtime / Premium Pay 

(See also, Article 4 and section 8.9) 
 

10.6.1 Pay Increments 

All work performed by an employee which has been authorized by the 
employer in excess of the regularly scheduled shift for regular full-time 
employees shall be paid at the basic rate, plus any shift differential, 
multiplied by 1.5. An employee’s overtime that is joined before or after 
their regular shift shall be considered a shift extension and not callback 
time. Overtime shall be measured in one-half increments. 

 
10.6.1.1  The parties have adopted a twenty-four (24) day Section 7(k) work 

period under the Fair Labor Standards Act for all patrol officers and 
patrol sergeants in the bargaining unit working the current shift (2-12 
hour & 1-10-hour shift). If shift schedules change to a seven (7) day 
rotation, a twenty-eight (28) day Section 7(K) work period will be 
adopted. 

 
10.6.2 Personal Leave Used 

 
Personal Leave, other than for injury or illness, taken during a day does 
qualify as work time for purposes of computing overtime worked beyond 
scheduled shift hours on a single day. 

 
10.6.3 Short Notice Vacancies 

 
For purposes of this section, "short notice" means less than 11 hours’ 
notice from time of notification until the start time of the shift needing 
to be filled. 

 
10.6.3.1 Filling Vacancy with On-Duty Staff 

 
When members are needed to meet personnel requirements on 
short notice, overtime will first be offered on a seniority basis to on-
duty members in the needed classification, and then to members in 
the needed classification who are scheduled to work the next shift. 
If neither of those classification members volunteer by seniority, the 
Department may require that the on-duty member with least 



37  

seniority in the needed classification remain on duty until other 
personnel can be located and report for duty. 

 
10.6.3.2 Filling Vacancy with Off-Duty Staff 

 
The member called on short notice to work overtime from off 
duty status will be paid for actual overtime worked, with a 
minimum of three hours of overtime, if the work shift is 3 hours 
prior to the employees regularly schedule shift. 
 

10.6.4 Posting of Staffing Overtime 

Overtime will be determined by posting a volunteer overtime list. 
Overtime will be offered to employees bidding, based upon 
departmental needs, giving preference to classification seniority 
within the needed classifications. 

 
10.6.4.1.1 Order of Officer Staffing: 

Police Officer 
Sergeants 
Lieutenants 
Detectives 

10.6.4.1.2 Order of Supervising Staffing: 

Lieutenants 
Sergeants 

10.6.5 Special Mission Overtime 
 

The Department may assign overtime for specific missions of limited 
duration based upon the qualifications of the member and/or the specific 
needs of the assignment; i.e., polygraph, prior drug training, prostitution 
cases, DRE, etc. 

 
10.6.6 Other Overtime 

 
All other overtime will be bid out based upon departmental seniority. 

 
10.6.7 No Volunteers / Forced Overtime 

 
In the event no volunteers are obtained in the above processes, then 
overtime will be assigned in order of inverse order of seniority. 
However, absent an emergency or life-threatening situation and to 
avoid employee "burnout", no member will routinely work more than 14 
consecutive hours nor be forced to work all of their off-duty days. In such 
instances, the next least senior member may be assigned to work. 

 



38  

10.6.8 Errors in Awarding Overtime 
 

Should the City, by error or omission, violate the provisions of this 
section by failing to offer overtime work to a senior eligible member who 
could have worked the overtime, then the overtime work will be offered 
to senior member(s) at a mutually agreeable time, for the same number 
of hours originally worked. An overtime situation need not exist for this 
time to be worked. 

 
10.6.9 Minimum Call Back Rate 

 
An employee who is called back to work after having left the premises 
shall receive call back pay of a minimum of three (3) hours at the 
overtime rate of pay. An employee called in to work when they have 
taken leave during that 24-hour period will reduce the number of leave 
hours by a minimum of three (3) hours and not receive overtime (i.e., 
employee calls in sick and is called in to a meeting during the same 24-
hours period will reduce the leave by a minimum of three (3) hours and 
not put in for callback time.  

 
10.6.10 Flex Schedule 

 
Nothing in this agreement bars the City and the PSEA from agreeing 
upon a "flex" schedule. 
 

Section 10.7 Special Mission Assignments 
 

The Department Head shall designate members and determine the call-
out of special elements of the department, i.e., Tactical Team, Sexual 
Assault Unit, Traffic Units, Canine Units. Flexible scheduling is an 
essential element of these units. 

 
Section 10.8 Compensatory Time Off 

 
10.8.1 Compensatory Time 

Employees who work overtime may elect, in lieu of being paid overtime, 
to accrue compensatory time at the rate of 1.5 hours for every hour of 
overtime. Compensatory time may not be accrued for any on-call or 
standby time. Compensatory time (to a maximum of 240 hours) may be 
taken and used in the same manner and terms as personal leave (when 
mutually agreeable by the employee and Department Head). Employees 
may carry 80 hours of comp time into the next calendar year. Any comp 
time over 80 hours that is not fully scheduled or used by December 31 
of each year will be paid by the City to the employee by January 31. 

 
10.8.2 Payment on Separation from Service 

 
Should a member separate from service for any reason, the member’s 



39  

compensatory time will be paid at termination at the dollar value in effect 
at the date of termination. 

 
Section 10.9 Meal Break 

 
A meal break of 30 minutes will be allowed on each shift. Those 
employees who are subject to recall to work on their meal break will be 
considered in on-duty pay status during the meal break. In the event of 
either denial of meal break or recall from the meal break, the member will 
be given the chance or opportunity to eat as time permits. 
 

Section 10.10 Relief Breaks 
 

All members shall be allowed one relief break not to exceed 15 minutes 
in duration during the first half of the shift, and 15 minutes during the 
second half of the shift. When working overtime, paid relief breaks of 15 
minutes will be taken every two hours. When working other than a regular 
shift, 15-minute relief breaks may be taken every two hours. 

 
Section 10.11 Time Changes 

 
When time changes to or from Alaska Standard Time, members will be paid 
only for actual hours worked. 

 
Section 10.12 Training Requirement 

Any person hired to perform the duties of any position covered by this 
Agreement must successfully complete training and be capable of 
performing all required duties of the position prior to working in solo 
capacity. Solo capacity means working independently without direct 
supervision as determined by the Department Head. 

 
Section 10.13 Officer Vehicle Program 

 
The parties agree to continue an officer vehicle availability program. The 
parties agree that the operation, continuation, and guidelines of this 
program are at the City's discretion. 
 

Section 10.14 Police Patrol Supervision 
 

10.14.1 Sergeants as Watch Commander 

The City may continue the current practice of using Sergeants as Shift 
Commanders on the assigned Lieutenant's RDOs and periods of leave. 

 
10.14.2 Sergeants Working as Watch Commander 

 
Sergeants may not work shift commander overtime unless the overtime 



40  

has been offered to and refused by all patrol shift Lieutenants first. 
 

10.14.2.1 Pay Calculation 
 

A Sergeant will be paid at a 5% premium above their 
current base wage rate while working as acting Shift 
Commander. 

 
10.14.3 Acting Lieutenants 

 
Acting Lieutenants may be used on a continuing basis for a period up to 
12 months, which may be extended by mutual consent. Acting 
Lieutenants will enjoy all emoluments of a regular Lieutenant during the 
period they are in acting capacity. 

 
10.14.3.1 Pay Calculation 

Acting Lieutenants will be paid at 10% above their current 
step. 
 

Section 10.15 Police Administration 
 

10.15.1 Deputy Chief and Captain Positions 

The Department Head shall promote a Deputy Chief and Captain from 
the ranks of Captain or Lieutenant in accordance with CBA. Selection 
and term of service are based on criteria established by the Department 
Head and this CBA. The Deputy Chief and Captain will remain in the 
Bargaining Unit. The Deputy Chief will be supervised by the Department 
Head and will perform the duties assigned to them by the Department 
Head. The Captain will be supervised by the Deputy Chief and will 
perform the duties assigned to them by the Department Head. 

 
10.15.1.1 PSEA Bargaining Unit Limitation 

No person outside the PSEA bargaining units can be placed in an 
acting status in the capacity of the Deputy Chief, Captain, 
Lieutenant. 

 
10.15.1.2 Deputy Chief Pay 

The Deputy Chief will receive performance pay at twelve percent 
above their step on Lieutenant classification scale. 

 
10.15.1.3 Captain Pay 

The Captain will receive performance pay at six percent above their 
step on the lieutenant classification scale. 



41  

 
10.15.1.4 Lieutenant Assignments 

 
Lieutenants assigned to positions other than Shifts (such as 
Investigations and Special Operations) will serve a minimum two 
year assignment. If mutually agreed upon by the City and the 
incumbent, the assignment may be extended. Except for just 
cause, Lieutenants in these assignments may not be removed 
prior to completion of a two year assignment. 
 

Section 10.16 Standby 
 

Members may be required to periodically report their whereabouts in 
order to be available for work on short notice. In such instances, the 
member’s names will be placed on a standby roster for the designated 
period of time of such a requirement. Assignments to a standby roster, as 
well as the direct callouts from such an assignment, will be equitably 
rotated among members normally required to perform the anticipated 
duties. 

 
If a member is required to be on call for immediate recall to work, the 
member will be paid one hour at the overtime rate for each period of 12 
hours or less of standby. When assigned to standby on a non- floating 
holiday, the member will receive two hours of overtime for each time 
period of 12 hours or less of standby. 

 
Standby pay is for the purpose of compensating the member for being 
available for work. Standby pay is not intended as compensation for any 
work performed by the member and will be paid in addition to any 
applicable compensation in the event the member is recalled to duty. 
Members on standby status must remain available by telephone and must 
remain physically and mentally fit for immediate duty. Standby may not be 
used to avoid maintaining minimum staffing levels as set by the 
Department. 
 

ARTICLE 11 FAIRBANKS EMERGENCY COMMUNICATION CENTER (FECC) 
WORK RULES 

 
Section 11.1 General Rules 

 
11.1.1 Work Week 

 
The work week in this Agreement consists of 40 hours minimum in pay 
status from the start of the employees regularly scheduled duty day, 
unless a mutually agreed alternative schedule is in place. 

 
11.1.2 Reporting Late for Duty 

 
When members report for work later than the scheduled starting time, 



42  

they will be placed on leave without pay for the period of their absence 
and their finishing time will not be extended to make up for the lost time. 
Periods of less than one-half hour will be deducted in half hour 
increments. 

 
11.1.3 Consecutive Days Off 

 
Regardless of schedule worked, each member is entitled to regularly 
scheduled days off each week. The number of days off is defined by the 
schedule the employee works. Members should not be forced to work 
overtime on all of their off-duty days.  

 
11.1.4 Special Assignment Schedules 

 
Members volunteering for special assignments may be assigned a work 
week by the City consistent with the mission of that specific assignment. 

 
11.1.5 Shift Swaps 

 
Shift swaps, to be used as a judicious management tool, are allowed 
under this Agreement if approved by the Department Head. 

 
11.1.6 Time Off Between Shifts 

Each member will have a minimum of eight hours off duty from the time 
their last shift ends until the next scheduled shift begins. An exception 
to this rule is Court Duty. 

 
11.1.7 Maximum Consecutive Hours Worked 

 
Except for work performed in an emergency or life-threatening situation, 
no member may routinely work more than 16 consecutive hours if other 
employees are available. The parties further agree that there are 
situations, such as shift change day and certain days for the relief 
dispatcher, where a member will occasionally be forced to work more 
than 12 non-consecutive hours in a day. 

 
11.1.8 Shift Bidding 

 
Shift preference will be bid by classification seniority by assignment 
within the department. In the event a member would be forced to work 
the same tour beyond two tour rotations, that member may be bumped 
up in seniority for that one tour bid. Shift preference will be used to bid 
each shift as provided in this section and subsections. No member may 
remain on the same shift more than four consecutive rotations. There 
will be triannual shift rotations. 

 
11.1.8.1 Supervision by a Family Member 

 



43  

Employees may not bid a shift which would require them to be 
evaluated by or to evaluate a spouse, parent, child, sibling or any 
member of that employee's household. This provision applies to 
shift, not overtime, bidding. However, the Department Head has 
the ability to require either to move to a different shift. 

 
11.1.8.2 Shift Bid Posting Requirements 

 
Shift schedules and tour assignments will be posted no later than 
three (3) months prior to the commencement of the applicable tour 
of duty. Leave will not be denied should the department be unable 
to meet this deadline. 

11.1.9 Hardship Request 
 

Upon application of a member to the Department Head, a member may 
be reassigned to any shift/assignment due to personal hardship or 
other approved reason. 

 
11.1.10 Personnel Assignments 

 
11.1.10.1 Disciplinary Reassignment 

Members who are demoted or reassigned as the result of a 
disciplinary action will be reassigned a shift until the next 
regularly scheduled preference bid. 

 
11.1.10.2 Temporary Assignments 

Temporary assignments, except for training duties or operational 
necessity, may not exceed three years. 

 
11.1.10.2.1 Voluntary Vacancy of Temporary Assignment 

 
Members voluntarily electing to leave a temporary 
assignment early will be assigned a shift until the next 
regularly scheduled preference bid. 

 
11.1.10.2.2 Involuntary Vacancy of Temporary Assignment 

 
A member leaving such a position other than for the 
reasons stated above (i.e. non-disciplinary forced transfer) 
will be allowed to bid for a rotation which is more than 30 
days from its start date. 

 
11.1.11 New Hires Shift Assignment 

Newly hired probationary employees will be assigned a duty schedule by 
the City. 

 



44  

11.1.12 Plan for Individual Improvement Scheduling 
 

Employees placed on a "Plan for Individual Improvement” will be 
assigned a duty schedule by the City. Upon successful completion of 
the Plan, the employee’s right to bid shift preference will be restored at 
the next shift bidding. 
 

Section 11.2 Pay for Working in a Higher Classification. Temporarily 
Working Out of Class and Acting Appointments 

 
Any Employee who is assigned by the Department Head the 
responsibilities and the duties of a classification for more than one hour, 
other than the classification the Employee normally holds, will be paid at 
the same step on the higher classification rate when filling the 
classification. Any Employee who is assigned duties of a position below 
the classification which the Employee normally holds, will continue to be 
paid at the rate the Employee normally receives. Members will not be 
required to work outside their classification for a consecutive period 
beyond six months in a calendar year unless otherwise agreed between 
the City and the PSEA. 

 
Section 11.3 Schedule Changes 

When making Employee schedule changes, the Employer shall notify the 
Employee of any contemplated change in writing or electronic notification 
at least seven calendar days prior to the effective date of the change. If 
the Employee is not given at least seven calendar days’ notice of the 
change, the Employee will be paid at the rate of time and one-half for all 
hours worked on the first day of the new schedule. Additional hours 
scheduled prior to an Employee's regular starting time are not schedule 
changes when the regular workday is also worked. This provision does 
not apply to temporary deviations to an Employee's schedule caused by 
unforeseen circumstances outside the control of the Employer. 

 
Section 11.4 Court Attendance 

 
11.4.1 On-Duty Attendance 

Members required to appear for court as a result of actions performed 
in the line of duty will suffer no loss in regular earnings but will be 
compensated during service at the member's rate of pay if on duty. 
Any witness fees must be turned over to the City. 
 

11.4.2 Off-Duty Attendance 
 

If members are off-duty, they will receive pay at the appropriate 
overtime rate with a two hour minimum. The appearance requirement of 
the off-duty employee is limited to what is necessary to appear and 
attend at court. 



45  

 
11.4.3 Jury Duty 

Any member who is required to serve on jury duty during a normally 
scheduled workday may be reassigned to dayshift for that day. Any 
payment for jury service must be signed over to the City, and the 
member will receive their normal wage for that day. Should the member 
be excused from service, they are expected to report to their supervisor 
and complete the remaining hours of their workday. 

 
Section 11.5 Shift Definitions and Shift Differential Pay 

 
11.5.1 Day Shift 

 
The “day” shift is any shift beginning between 0500 hours and 
1159 hours. 

 
11.5.2 Swing Shift 

The “swing” shift is any shift beginning between 1200 hours and 1859 
hours. All members assigned to swing shift will receive a shift differential 
of five percent (5%). 

 
11.5.3 Midnight Shift 

 
The “midnight” shift is any shift beginning between 1900 hours 
and 0459 hours. All members assigned to midnight shift will receive a shift 
differential of ten percent (10%). 

 
Section 11.6 Overtime / Premium Pay 

(See also, Article 4) 
 

11.6.1 Payment Increments 

Overtime shall be measured in one-half hour increments. 
11.6.2 First Day of the Week 

 
For purposes of this section, the employee’s first duty day 
establishes the first day of the week. 

 
11.6.3 Employee’s Twenty-Four-Hour Day 

For purposes of determining overtime, the employee’s twenty-four 
(24) hour period begins at the beginning of the employee’s 
scheduled normal duty start time. 

 
11.6.4 Personal Leave Used 

Personal Leave, other than for injury or illness, taken during a day 



46  

qualifies as work time for purposes of computing overtime worked 
beyond scheduled shift hours on a single day. 

 
11.6.5 Shift Differential Applied to Overtime 

When a member works overtime hours on a shift that qualifies for shift 
differential pay, the employee will be paid the overtime rate plus 
applicable shift differential. 

 
11.6.6 Overworked 12 Hours in a 24-Hour Period 

Those hours of work forced over 12 hours in any employee’s 24- hour day 
will be paid at the basic rate plus shift differential multiplied by 1.5, plus 
0.5 compensatory time. 

 
11.6.7 Overworked Forced Over 12 Consecutive Hours  

Those hours of work forced over 12 consecutive hours will be paid at the 
basic rate plus shift differential multiplied by 1.5, plus 0.5 compensatory 
time. 

 
11.6.8 Volunteered Overtime 

All volunteered overtime is paid at the basic rate, plus any shift 
differential, multiplied by 1.5. 
 

11.6.9 Short Notice Vacancies 
 

For purposes of this section, "short notice" means less than 24 hours’ 
notice from time of notification until the start time of the shift needing to be 
filled. 

 
11.6.9.1 Filling Vacancy with On-Duty Staff 

 
When members are needed to meet personnel requirements on 
short notice, overtime will first be offered on a seniority basis to 
on-duty members in the needed classification, and then to 
members in the needed classification who are scheduled to work 
the next shift. If neither of those classification members volunteer 
by seniority, the Department may require that the on-duty member 
with lowest bucket level in the needed classification remain on duty 
until other personnel can be located and report for duty. 

 
11.6.9.2 Filling Vacancy with Off-Duty Staff 

The member called on short notice to work overtime from off duty 
status shall be paid for actual overtime worked, with a minimum of 
two hours of overtime. 

 



47  

 
11.6.10 Long Notice Overtime - (Greater Than 72-Hour Notice) 

When members are needed to meet shift staffing requirements known at 
least 72 hours prior to the actual assignment. 

 
11.6.10.1 Posting of Staffing Overtime 

 
Overtime will be determined by posting a volunteer overtime list. 
Overtime will be offered to employees bidding, based upon 
departmental needs, giving preference to departmental seniority for 
Dispatch Staffing Overtime. 

 
11.6.10.2 Order of Dispatch Staffing: 

Supervisor  
Dispatcher 

 
11.6.11 Other Overtime 

All other overtime will be bid out based upon departmental seniority. 
 

11.6.12 Overtime Bidding – Voluntary 
 

Will be available for bidding known vacancies through the Auctions 
module of Telestaff. Auctions will be opened for bid as needed to fill 
vacancies. 

 
11.6.12.1 Sign-up All 

 
The Telestaff “Sign Up All” feature will be used for awarding any 
additional long-term overtime after the initial monthly auction has 
been awarded. The senior member who has signed up for the 
available shift will be awarded the overtime. 
 

11.6.13 No Volunteers / Forced Overtime 
 

In the event no volunteers are obtained in the above processes, then 
overtime will be assigned in inverse order of seniority. 
However, absent an emergency or life-threatening situation and to avoid 
employee "burnout", no member will routinely work more than 16 
consecutive hours nor be forced to work overtime on all of their off-duty 
days. In such instances, the member with the lowest bucket level may 
be assigned to work. 

 
11.6.14 Force Overtime 

 
For long notice overtime where no volunteers are obtained, the 
Telestaff “buckets” feature will be used to determine the appropriate 
employee to force for the vacancy. If either party desires to change the 



48  

type of time, or time period used to calculate the time bucket, a change 
can be made on mutual agreement. 

 
When forcing a member to work overtime would result in NDO or WFO 
due to hours in a day or the number of days worked in a week, the next 
least senior member will be assigned to work. There will be some 
instances where other members are not available, or the required tasks 
must be completed by the specific member which would supersede this 
rule. 

 
11.6.14.1 Qualifying Time for Buckets 

 
For purposes of this Agreement, overtime of all types will be 
tallied in the employee’s time bucket. 

 
11.6.14.2 Time Period for Buckets 

For purposes of this Agreement, the time bucket will be reset to 
zero at the beginning of each rotation. 
 

11.6.14.3 System Outage 
 

In the event Telestaff is unavailable for bidding auctions or forced 
fill through the time bucket feature, all overtime bidding will revert 
to a manual paper process. Volunteered overtime will be awarded 
by seniority and forced overtime will be assigned in order of inverse 
seniority and applicable working rules. 

 
11.6.15 Special Mission Overtime 

 
The Department may assign overtime for specific missions of limited 
duration based upon the qualifications of the member and/or the specific 
needs of the assignment. 

 
11.6.16 Errors in Awarding Overtime 

 
Should the City, by error or omission, violate the provisions of this 
section by failing to offer overtime work to a senior eligible member who 
could have worked the overtime, then the overtime work shall be 
offered to senior member(s) at a mutually agreeable time, for the same 
number of hours originally worked. An overtime situation need not exist 
for this time to be worked. 

 
11.6.17 Minimum Call Back Rate 

Members reporting to work and not put to work shall receive two hours 
pay at their regular rate unless notified not to report at the end of their 
previous workday or two hours prior to the start of the shift. 

 



49  

11.6.18 Flex Schedule 

Nothing in this agreement bars the City and the PSEA from agreeing 
upon a "flex" schedule. 
 

Section 11.7 Compensatory Time Off 
 

11.7.1 Compensatory Time 

Employees who work overtime may elect, in lieu of being paid overtime, 
to accrue compensatory time at the rate of 1.5 hours for every hour of 
overtime. Compensatory time (to a maximum of 240 hours) may be 
taken and used in the same manner and terms as personal leave (when 
mutually agreeable by the employee and Department Head). Employees 
may carry 80 hours of comp time into the next calendar year. Any comp 
time over 80 hours that is not fully scheduled or used by December 31 
of each year will be paid by the City to the employee by January 31. 

 
11.7.2 Payment on Separation from Service 

Should a member separate from service for any reason, the member’s 
compensatory time will be paid at termination at the dollar value in effect 
at the date of termination. 

 
Section 11.8 Meal Break 

A meal break of 30 minutes will be allowed on each shift of eight hours or 
greater in duration. Those employees who are subject to recall to work on 
their meal break will be considered in on-duty pay status during the meal 
break. In the event of either denial of meal break or recall from the meal 
break, the member will be given the chance or opportunity to eat as time 
permits. 

 
Section 11.9 Relief Breaks 

All members will be allowed two 15 minute breaks for every eight hours 
worked and one additional 15 minute break for each additional four hour 
increment. 

 
Section 11.10 Time Changes 

During Daylight Savings Time changes, members will be paid only for 
actual hours worked. 

 
Section 11.11 Training Requirement 

 
Any person hired to perform the duties of any position covered by this 
Agreement must successfully complete training and be capable of 



50  

performing the required duties of the position prior to working in solo 
capacity. Solo capacity means working independently without direct 
supervision as determined by the Department Head. 

 
Section 11.12 Shift Supervisors Acting as Department Head 

     
When the Department Head is unavailable to perform their duties, the 
Mayor retains the right to appoint an Acting Department Head of their 
choosing. 

 
11.12.1 Acting Department Head Standby 

 
Standby provisions as outlined in Section 11.13 applies to times when the 
Acting Dispatch Center Department Head is not on duty but available to 
report to work as needed. 

 
11.12.2 Acting Department Head Pay 

 
Shift Supervisors working as acting Department Head will be paid at the 
Department Head’s 100% rate of pay for regular duty hours. Any overtime 
will be paid at the Shift Supervisor’s rate of pay following any applicable 
overtime rules. 
 

Section 11.13 Dispatch Supervision 
 

11.13.1 Acting Supervisor 

Acting Shift Supervisor may be used on a continuing basis for a period up 
to 12 months, which may be extended by mutual consent. Acting Shift 
Supervisor enjoys all emoluments of regular Shift Supervisor during the 
period they are in acting capacity. 

 
11.13.1.1 Pay Calculation 

 
Acting Supervisors will be paid at their current step on the Dispatch 
Supervisor pay scale. 

 
Section 11.14 Standby 

Members may be required to periodically report their whereabouts in 
order to be available for work on short notice. In such instances, the 
member’s names will be placed on a standby roster for the designated 
period of time of such a requirement. Assignments to a standby roster as 
well as the direct callouts from such an assignment will be equitably 
rotated among members normally required to perform the anticipated 
duties. 
 

11.14.1 Immediate Recall 
 



51  

If a member is required to be on call for immediate recall to work, the 
member will be paid two hours of pay at the overtime rate for each time 
period of 12 hours or less of standby. When assigned to standby on a 
non-floating holiday, the member will receive four hours of overtime for 
each time period of 12 hours or less of standby. 

 
11.14.2 Standby 

 
Standby pay is for the purpose of compensating the member for being 
available for work. Standby pay is not intended as compensation for 
any work performed by the member and will be paid in addition to any 
applicable compensation in the event the member is recalled to duty. 
Members on standby status must remain available by telephone and 
must remain physically and mentally fit for immediate duty. Standby 
may not be used to avoid maintaining minimum staffing levels as set by 
the Department. 

 
Section 11.15 Schedules  
 

The City reserves the right to implement any 40 hour per work week 
schedule that provides at least two consecutive days off per seven-day 
period and does not violate provisions of this agreement.  

 
ARTICLE 12 HOLIDAYS 

 
Section 12.1 Holidays 

The following days are considered holidays with no deductions in pay: 

New Year's Day - January 1 
President’s Day - 3rd Monday in February 
Memorial Day - Last Monday in May 
Independence Day - July 4 
Labor Day - 1st Monday in September 
Veteran's Day - November 11  
Thanksgiving Day - 4th Thursday in November 
Christmas Day - December 25 

And such other days as the City Council, by Resolution, may fix as 
holidays for all City employees. Should any other City employees be 
awarded any holidays in addition to the above, such additional holidays 
will be holidays for the members of this Bargaining Unit as well. In 
addition, each member will receive two paid personal days of leave each 
year, to be scheduled at the mutual consent of the parties. A personal 
holiday does not carry over to successive years and has no monetary 
value: if not taken each year, it is lost. Personal holidays are defined to 
be equal to the members current assigned duty hours. 

Section 12.2 Weekend Holidays 
 



52  

A designated holiday will normally be observed on the calendar day on 
which it falls, except that non-sworn members who are regularly scheduled 
to work on Monday through Friday will observe the preceding Friday when 
the holiday falls on Saturday, and will observe the following Monday when 
the holiday falls on Sunday. Normally only those members designated in 
advance by the appropriate supervisor will be required to work on a 
designated holiday. 

 
Section 12.3 Holiday During Leave 

 
If a holiday falls during an employee’s vacation or extended leave due to 
illness/injury, the employee will receive holiday pay equal to that 
employee’s regular scheduled shift for the holiday and will not be charged 
leave time for that day. Regular employees on lay-off will be paid 
holidays if they have worked or received compensation for any part of the 
month in which the holiday occurs. 
 

Section 12.4 Holiday Compensatory Time 
 

A member who works a holiday under this article may elect to accrue 
compensatory time off at the appropriate rate in lieu of receipt of 
monetary payments pursuant to this Article. 

 
 

ARTICLE 13 LEAVE 
 

Section 13.1 Personal Leave 
 

13.1.1 Personal Leave Accumulation 
 

Personal Leave accumulates at the rate shown below. Employment for 
eight or more days shall be considered employment for a full pay period 
for the purpose of computing personal leave. 

One - Two Years: 7 hours per pay period 

 Three – Five Years: 9 hours per pay period 

 Over Five Years: 10 hours per pay period 
 

13.1.2 Personal Leave Cap 

The maximum leave bank accumulation for an employee is 600 hours. 
At the end of a calendar year any employee that has over 600 hours, 
will have their unscheduled leave in excess of 600 hours cashed out on 
their final paycheck of the calendar year. 

 
Effective 31 Dec 2022, any employee who has over 600 hours 
accumulation of leave will be able to use the Grandfather clause one 
time and one time only: 



53  

 
Grandfather Clause: Employees who exceed the 600 hours of leave 
accumulation will be grandfathered in without a cap. If this clause is 
used, and they then drop below 600 hours, all leave in excess of 600 
hours will be cashed out on their final paycheck of the calendar year. 
Effective December 31, 2029 all employees must be below 600 hours of 
leave. 
 

Section 13.2 Leave Requests 
 

Scheduled personal leave may be taken at any time mutually agreeable 
to the Department Head, or designee, and the employee. When Personal 
Leave is used for illness, the employee must notify the supervisor not 
later than one hour prior to the employee’s scheduled reporting time. 
Such use of Personal Leave may not be denied. The parties agree to 
work together to prevent the misuse of Personal Leave as sick leave. 
 

Section 13.3 Scheduled Personal Leave 
 

13.3.1 Personal Leave Scheduling 

Except in emergency situations, members' scheduled Personal Leave 
may be taken at a time agreeable with the employee and consistent 
with operational requirements. Vacation schedules will be bid and be 
awarded by the amount of unused personal leave. The employee with 
the most Personal Leave on the date of a request, less any previously 
approved but unused leave, will be number one for bid purposes. If 
personal leave is equal, classification seniority will determine priority. 
An employee must notify the Department Head through their supervisor 
at least one day in advance when not more than two days of leave are 
desired, or at least one week in advance when longer periods of leave 
are desired. Leave requests for periods of leave in excess of two days 
will be considered confirmed if not denied to the employee by the 
appropriate authority within five working days of the request. 
The written denial must be given to the employee. 

 
13.3.2 Leave Denied, Cancelled, or Terminated 

 
An employee's scheduled leave may be denied, cancelled, or terminated 
by the Department Head when the leave is not consistent with 
operational requirements. In case of such denial, the leave will accrue 
until taken. 

 
13.3.3 Leave Usage 

Only earned leave may be requested or taken. Employees may not 
take scheduled Personal leave until the completion of field training. On 
a case-by-case basis, Department Head may approve leave outside of 
this section. 



54  

 
Section 13.4 Termination 

Upon termination, of any employee covered by this Agreement, accrued 
Personal Leave will be cashed out at 105% of the current value. 
 

Section 13.5 Draw down of Personal Leave 
 

Employees may elect to “cash out” leave hours at 105% of the 
current value, provided that members may not “cash out” below 80 hours. 
The "cashed out" hours may be directed to be deposited into the 
employee’s Deferred Compensation account. Cash outs are not 
considered compensable hours for pension benefit payments, which will not 
be included in the cash out payment. 

 
Section 13.6 Exceptions Regarding Leave Cash-Outs 

 
13.6.1 Leave Cash-out for Deferred Compensation 

Employees electing to use their leave bank cash out for Deferred 
Compensation catch up are exempt from the hour limit on Personal 
Leave draw down. 

 
13.6.2 Leave Cash-out for Hardship 

In the event of a financial, medical, or personal hardship affecting the 
Employee or their spouse and/or dependents, or other special 
circumstances as approved by the Mayor, the Employee will, upon 
request to the Employer, receive payment for all accrued Personal 
Leave. If a dispute arises as to what constitutes a hardship, a Labor-
Management Committee with two representatives from each party will 
convene. If the Committee's decision results in a tie, the Mayor will 
decide the issue. The Employee will receive payment within seven 
business days of the request for payment. 

 
13.6.3 Leave Cash-out Change in Job Status 

 
A laid off or reclassified Employee who has bumped or moved into a 
lower paying job classification will be credited with Personal Leave at 
the value it accrued on the day prior to reclassification. 

 
Section 13.7 Military Leave 

 
An Employee who has completed their probationary period and who is a 
member of any reserve component of the United States Armed Forces will 
be allowed a leave of absence for required training or duty for a period not 
exceeding 20 working days per calendar year. Such military leave will be 
with basic rate if all military pay, not to include reimbursements for 
lodging, food, etc., the Employee receives for the duties performed on 
such leave is paid to the City. The Mayor may grant additional periods of 



55  

military leave in the event of hardship due to an extended involuntary 
employee call up in conformity with federal and state law. 
 

Section 13.8 Family Medical Leave Act 
 

The City will comply with the Family Medical Leave Act and the Alaska 
Family Leave Act. 

 
Section 13.9  Donated Leave 

Employees may assist other Employees in time of need, with Department 
Head approval. The following is the vehicle for that purpose: 

 
13.9.1 Minimum Hours Donated Leave 

Each Employee wishing to donate Personal Leave will submit their 
donation of not less than four hours in accordance with Department 
policy. 

 
13.9.2 Donated Leave Conversion 

The leave will be converted to the cash value of the donating 
employee’s leave and paid to the receiving employee at their 
equivalent hourly rate. 

 
Section 13.10 Business Leave 

 
13.10.1 Business Leave Annual Donations 

 
There is hereby created a chapter business leave bank which will be 
administered by the City with a monthly report of the balance and 
withdrawals provided to the Chapter Chair. The Chapter Chair reserves 
the right to require employees to transfer up to four hours of annual 
leave into the chapter leave bank. Such request will only be made upon 
approval of the Executive Board and only if the balance in the bank is 
not sufficient to cover withdrawal requests. 
 

13.10.2 Voluntary Business Leave Donation 
 

In addition, any employee at the employee's option may transfer 
additional annual leave to the Bank. Transfers may be made at any 
time during the duration of this Agreement with no maximum limit of the 
number of days, except that any employee may not transfer more leave 
than is posted on the employee's annual leave balance at the time of 
the authorization. The employee's leave balance will then be reduced 
by the amount of leave transferred to the Bank. 

 
13.10.3 Business Leave Withdrawal 

 



56  

Withdrawal requests from the Bank will be for purposes designated by 
the Chapter Chair and the Chief Financial Officer will be notified. The 
release of employees for chapter leave will be handled on the same 
basis and release from duty for annual leave, except that such release 
may not be unreasonably withheld by their supervisor. 

 
ARTICLE 14 PAY PERIODS 

 
Section 14.1 Pay Periods 

 
Pay periods covering days worked from the 1st to the 15th and from the 
16th to the last day of the month will be established. Pay days will 
normally be on the 15th and the last day of each month. If pay day falls 
on Saturday, Sunday, or a holiday, then pay day will be the last scheduled 
work day before the break period. 

 
Section 14.2 Employee Time Sheets 

 
14.2.1 Leave and Earnings Statement 

 
The City will furnish each member with an itemized statement of 
earnings and deductions specifying hours paid, straight time, overtime, 
personal leave pay, holiday pay, and other compensation payable to the 
member which is included in the check. Pay checks will be available no 
later than 1200 hours on each pay day, except for circumstances 
beyond the control of the City. 

 
14.2.2 Time Sheet Changes 

Changes to a member’s time sheet will be forwarded to the member and 
the Administrative Assistant as soon as possible and prior to the next 
scheduled pay day. 

 
Section 14.3 PERS Contribution 

The City will make available during regular business hours to each member 
an itemized accounting specifying both the Employer’s and Employee’s 
contributions to the PERS system for that employee. 

 
ARTICLE 15 PROBATION 

 
Section 15.1 Probationary Period 

All Department employees will serve a probationary period effective from 
the date of hire and extending six months beyond Field Training and 
Evaluation Program (FTEP). 

 

Section 15.2 Promotional Probation 



57  

 
The probationary, or working test period, is an integral part of the promotion 
process. It will be used to observe closely the member's work, to secure 
the most effective adjustment of a new or promoted employee to their 
position, and to dismiss a probationary member whose performance does 
not meet required work standards. 

 
15.2.1 Probation Length 

Employees who are promoted or transferred at their own initiative will 
complete a probationary period of six months for all positions, however, 
the employee may be demoted to their former position at any time 
during this probationary period without the right to file a grievance. 

 
Section 15.3 Extensions to the Probationary Periods 

The probationary period may be extended under certain circumstance where 
the employee’s work performance is not able to be observed closely, as 
follows: 

15.3.1 Personnel who have been placed on Leave Without Pay (LWOP) will 
have their probationary period extended for the like number of days 
they are not able to perform their duties or are away from work. 

 
15.3.2 Administrative Leave (Disciplinary or Criminal). Personnel who are 

placed paid or unpaid Administrative Leave as part of a disciplinary or 
pre-disciplinary process, Internal Affairs (IA) Review, and/or criminal 
investigation will have their probationary period extended for the like 
number of days they are not able to perform their duties and are away 
from work. 

 
15.3.3 Plans for Improvement Extension. Personnel who are within their initial 

or promotional probationary periods and are placed on an Individual 
Plan for Improvement will have their probationary period extended 
beyond the 6 months period. The extension will be set to an appropriate 
number of days that would be reasonable to allow the employee to 
successfully meet their plan for improvement requirements and to 
satisfactorily fulfill the job standards and requirements. 

15.3.4 Other Non-Disciplinary Circumstances. Personnel who are in their initial 
probationary period of employment and are absent from duty due to no-
fault of their own or because of unforeseen circumstances not listed above, 
defined but not limited to FMLA, physical injury, light duty, or other 
circumstances which prevent them from performing their regularly assigned 
duties, and/or which do not allow close observations of their work performance 
in their primary position, may have their probationary period extended for the 
like number of days they are not present to perform their duties. 

15.3.5 Physical or other injuries that result in a fitness for duty evaluation 
while within their initial hire probationary period may result in 
termination of employment. 

 



58  

15.3.6 Personnel who have been extended must be notified in writing using 
the Professional Development Form (PDF) and must acknowledge 
by signature of the action plan listed on the PDF form. 

Section 15.4 Pay During Probation 

After the first 6 months of probation the employee will move to the appropriate 
step on the pay scale. 
 

Section 15.5 Returning to Bargaining Unit 
 

Employees who accept a promotion out of the Bargaining Unit are entitled 
to bump back to their former position in the Bargaining Unit if they do not 
successfully complete probation in the promoted position. Employees who 
bump back are entitled to regain their Bargaining Unit seniority as of the 
date they accepted promotion. If the employee’s former position is not 
available, the promoted employee will have first preference to occupy any 
vacant Bargaining Unit position for which the employee is otherwise 
qualified, but in no event will a promoted employee be permitted to bump 
a Bargaining Unit employee into a lower rank or lay-off status. 

 
ARTICLE 16 LAY-OFF AND RECALL 

 
Section 16.1 Lay-off 

The Department Head, upon approval of the Mayor, or designee, may lay 
off an employee when deemed necessary by reason of shortage of funds 
or work, the abolition of the position, or other material changes which are 
outside the employee's control and which do not reflect discredit upon the 
service of the employee. The City will meet with the PSEA to consider any 
alternatives to lay-offs. The duties performed by any laid off employee 
may be re- assigned to other employees within that classification who are 
already working. A lay-off of less than 24 months, after which the 
employee returns to work at the first available opportunity, is not 
considered a separation. Longevity credits for purposes of completing 
probation, pay anniversary date, and the accumulation of leave benefits 
will be suspended during the period of lay-off. 

 
Section 16.2 Lay-off Bumping 

In case of lay-off, the sequence of downward bumping will be in accordance 
with the following classifications. Regular full-time employees will take 
precedence over part-time or temporary employees: 

Police:  
Lieutenant 
Sergeant 
Detective 
Police Officer/Investigator 
Administrative Assistant 



59  

Evidence Custodian  
Clerk 

Dispatch: 
Shift Supervisor 
Dispatcher  
Administrative Assistant 
Call Taker 
Clerk 

Section 16.3 Lay-off Order 
 

16.3.1 Inverse Seniority 

Lay-offs will be made in inverse order of seniority within the affected 
classification, except as provided elsewhere in this Agreement for 
Chapter Chair and Vice-Chair. Except when moving into the Police 
Officer classification, a laid off member will be allowed to move into any 
parallel or lower classification where the laid off employee has more 
overall Department seniority than the least senior person in that 
classification. In the case where a laid off member seeks to move into 
the Police Officer classification, departmental seniority alone will 
govern. 

 
16.3.2 Notification of Lay-off 

 
The member will have five business days from the date they receive the 
lay-off notice and a lay-off list of all positions in the classification 
seniority group in which to exercise an election. Each member 
displaced by this procedure will, in turn, have the right to use this 
procedure. 

 
16.3.3 Seniority Determination 

If two or more members have identical classification group seniority or 
departmental seniority, the order of lay-off will be determined by the 
following: 

16.3.3.1 A veteran will be given preference over a non-veteran in 
accord with Alaska Statutes. 

16.3.3.2 In any case that cannot be determined by the application of 
veteran's preference, seniority will be determined alphabetically 
by last name at the time of hire. 
 

16.3.4 Other Classification Lay-off 
 

No regular or probationary member may be laid off while there are 
emergency, temporary, provisional, seasonal, or volunteer members 
serving in the same classification group performing work which could 



60  

reasonably be assigned to regular or probationary members, based 
upon the minimum qualifications for the classification. 

 
16.3.5 Non-Bargaining Unit Employee 

 
No permanent Bargaining Unit employee may be laid off because a 
non-Bargaining Unit employee wishes to return from their position to a 
Bargaining Unit position. 

 
16.3.6 Other Classification Hiring 

 
No temporary, provisional or seasonal members may be hired while 
regular or probationary member(s) are on lay-off status unless no laid 
off member offered the position accepts. A laid off member may reject a 
non-permanent job without losing lay-off recall rights. Notice to the laid 
off member must include the estimated duration of the job if the City 
reasonably expects the position to be less than full-time regular. 

 
16.3.7 Temporary Recall 

If the City hires a recalled member for a position which lasts 30 days or 
less, the recalled member will receive 15% above base wage in lieu of 
benefits. 

 
16.3.8 Permanent Recall 

If the position lasts over 30 days, the recalled member will be given 
regular status during the period of recall. In such event, the recalled 
member is not entitled to the 15% in lieu of benefits. 

Section 16.4 Written Notice 
 

In every case of lay-off or proposed lay-off of any regular or probationary 
member, the City shall give the member at least 60 days written notice in 
advance of the effective date. Concurrently, all members on the lay-off list 
from which the laid off member may exercise an election must receive 
notice of the lay-off, its effective date and the possibility of being 
displaced. The member laid off through the displacement process must 
receive notice in advance of the potential lay-off and at least 10 business 
days written notice in advance of the effective date of actual lay-off. 

 
Section 16.5 Lay-off Procedure 

 
16.5.1 Lay-off List 

Procedure upon lay-off. The laid off member will be placed on the lay-
off list for that classification group from which the member was laid off, 
and for the Bargaining Unit. Recall rights exist for five years from the 
effective date of the lay-off. 

16.5.1.1 The classification lay-off list will be ranked in inverse order of lay-



61  

off. The recalled position will be offered to the first member on the 
classification lay-off list. 

16.5.1.2 If the seniority group lay-off list is exhausted and eligible 
member(s) decline appointment or are not available, then the 
position will be offered to the qualified member with the most City 
seniority of those members on the Bargaining Unit lay- off list. In 
order to receive recall notice from the bargaining unit lay-off list, 
the member must provide written notice to the City at the time of 
lay-off of interest and possession of skills and abilities to perform 
the available jobs. The City must exhaust the Bargaining Unit lay-
off list. 

16.5.1.3 The laid off member who is offered a recall must have the skills 
and abilities to perform the position for which recalled. Vacant 
positions which are to be filled may be filled through promotion 
provided no member is on lay-off from the classification. 
However, if later again vacated, the position may subsequently be 
filled only in accordance with this article. 

16.5.1.4 Upon recall to the original position, the member's salary will be 
adjusted upward, step for step, to the appropriate range. 

16.5.1.5 If a member is recalled to a position in which he/she has 
attained regular status, the recalled member shall be 
appointed to that position as a permanent member. If a 
member is recalled to a position in which he/she has not 
attained regular status, the recalled member shall be 
appointed to that position as a probationary member. 

Section 16.6 Notice of Recall 
 

Notice of recall must be sent to all eligible laid off members by Certified 
Mail to the last address provided the City Personnel Office by the member 
and to the PSEA office in writing. The members on the recall list must 
within 14 days after receipt of the recall notice notify the City in writing as 
to their decision regarding the recall offer. The member at the top of the 
recall list will have the first opportunity to accept the position provided 
they possess the qualifications for the position being recalled. If the City 
does not receive notice as required above from the member first eligible 
for recall within 14 days of when the recall notice was postmarked, then 
that member goes to the bottom of the recall list, and the next individual 
on the list who responded to the notice of recall and who possesses the 
qualifications for the position will be offered the position. 
 
 
 

ARTICLE 17 SENIORITY 
 

Section 17.1 Termination of Seniority 



62  

Department Seniority will be terminated upon: 
 

- Discharge 
- Resignation 
- Lay-off for a period of five years or more, or inability to return to 

work from a job-incurred injury or illness of five years or more. 
- Willful abandonment of position (Failure to report for duty within 

three days following approved absence). 
 

Section 17.2 Seniority Preserved 
 

Department Seniority will not be interrupted by: 
 

- Periods of approved leave, including Workers’ Compensation 
absences 

- Military leave for Reserve Training 
- Active military duty when recall for such duty is beyond the 

control of the member 
- Promotion out of the Bargaining Unit during the first six 

months 
- Retirement disability up to five years 
- FMLA 

 
*Any periods of Leave Without Pay (LWOP) other than list above will 
result in seniority being frozen for all periods of absence. 
 

Section 17.3 Seniority Defined 
 

The member with the longest term of credited service with the 
Department will be number one on the Department Seniority list and all 
other members will be listed accordingly. For Seniority purposes, 
credited service begins the day Field Training or applicable initial 
department training is completed. The Department shall yearly prepare 
and prominently post a Department Seniority roster in each work area of 
the Department. Seniority, as defined in this Agreement, will in no way 
conflict or interfere with the designation of any member as senior for 
command purposes on a detail or case. 

 
Section 17.4 Seniority Promotion/Demotion 

 
17.4.1 Promoting Outside of Bargaining Unit 

If a member is promoted into a classification in the Department outside 
this Bargaining Unit, their classification seniority will continue to accrue in 
their former position for up to six months after promotion. Thereafter, the 
Bargaining Unit and classification seniority of the member promoted 
outside the Bargaining Unit terminates. 

 
17.4.2 Returning to Bargaining Unit 



63  

Employees promoted out of this Bargaining Unit who are involuntarily 
demoted or whose positions are eliminated will be returned with 
departmental seniority and will have their classification seniority 
restored for the classification they occupy, if any. If the seniority of the 
returning member is sufficient, this may necessitate the lay-off of a less 
senior Bargaining Unit member in accordance with the seniority 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
Section 17.5 Transfer / Return Seniority 

 
17.5.1 Change in Classification 

If a member transfers to a different classification within the Bargaining 
Unit, their former classification is frozen at the time of occupancy of the 
new classification. 

17.5.2 Involuntary Return for Disciplinary Reasons 
 

If a member is involuntarily returned from a Bargaining Unit position to 
their former classification due to disciplinary action, their classification 
seniority within the departing position will not accrue toward their 
classification seniority in the former position. 

 
17.5.3 Involuntary Return for Non-Disciplinary Reasons 

If a member is involuntarily returned from a Bargaining Unit position to 
their former classification due to non-disciplinary reasons, the time 
spent in their involuntary classification will accrue toward their 
classification seniority in their former position upon return to their 
former position. 

 
17.5.4 Temporary Seniority Accrual 

 
If a member accepts a promotion to another position within the 
Bargaining Unit, the member will continue to accrue classification 
seniority in their former position for up to six months. If the promoted 
member remains in their current position beyond six months, their former 
classification seniority will be frozen at the time reflecting the date of their 
promotion. 

 
ARTICLE 18 DISCIPLINARY ACTION 

 
Section 18.1 Counseling 

Whenever employee performance, attitude, work habits or personal 
conduct at any time falls to a level unsatisfactory to their supervisor, the 
supervisor shall inform the employee promptly and specifically of such 
lapses and give counsel and guidance. A letter or departmental form of 
counseling, as distinguished from a letter of reprimand, is not considered 
disciplinary action and is not subject to the grievance procedure, nor will it 
be placed in the employee's personnel file. If appropriate and justified, a 



64  

reasonable period of time for improvement may be allowed before 
initiating disciplinary action. In some instances, a specific incident may 
justify severe disciplinary action in and of itself; however, the action to be 
taken depends on the seriousness of the incident and the records 
contained in the employee's personnel file. 

 
Section 18.2 Written Reprimand 

 
In situations where an oral or written counseling/warning has not resulted 
in the expected improvement, or where a more severe initial action is 
warranted, a written reprimand will be sent to the member, a copy will be 
placed in the member's personnel file, and a copy will be sent to PSEA. 

 
Section 18.3 Suspension Without Pay 

An employee may be suspended without pay and/or demoted by their 
Department Head with approval of the Mayor, or designee, for reasons of 
misconduct, negligence, inefficiency, insubordination, disloyalty, 
unauthorized absence, or other justifiable reason when alternate 
personnel actions are not appropriate. Employees must be furnished an 
advance written notice at least 24 hours prior to the effective date 
containing the nature of the proposed action. Said employee must be 
advised that they are entitled to have a PSEA Staff representative present 
at any meeting where disciplinary actions are contemplated or possible. If 
a member is suspended for a period of days, rather than a term of 
consecutive hours, the term "day" means that the member is suspended 
for the full 24 hours of such day. 

 
Section 18.4 Reasons for Dismissal 

The Mayor or designee may dismiss any member for just cause. Reasons 
for dismissal may include but are not limited to: 

 
- Failure to meet prescribed standards of work, morality and ethics 

to an extent that makes a member unsuitable for employment in 
the Department 

- Theft or unjustified destruction of City property 
- Incompetence, inefficiency, or negligence in the performance of duty 
- Insubordination 
- Conviction of a felony, or a misdemeanor involving moral 

turpitude 
- Notoriously disgraceful personal conduct 
- Unauthorized absence 
- Acceptance of any consideration which was given or accepted with 

the expectation of influencing the member in the performance of 
their duties 

- Falsification of records or dishonesty 
- Use of official position for personal advantage 



65  

- Threatening or intimidating action against another member. 
 

Section 18.5 Termination Pay 

When a member is terminated, or effects a separation, the member must 
be paid all accrued earnings in accordance with State law and the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

 
Section 18.6 Appeal 

An employee may appeal disciplinary action under this section pursuant 
to the grievance procedure as set forth under Article 8 of this Agreement. 
If the employee fails to appeal the suspension and/or demotion, the 
action becomes effective on the date specified. During the appeals 
procedure of any discipline less than termination, the employee will be 
retained in duty status, or placed on leave with pay, at the discretion of 
the Mayor or designee. 

 
Section 18.7 Notice of Termination from City 

 
Permanent Employees who are terminated from employment for non-
disciplinary issues and have completed probationary requirements will be 
given 30 days’ notice of separation, or 30 days’ pay, computed at the 
base hourly rate, in lieu of notice. Employees who are terminated from 
employment for disciplinary issues shall be given one day notice of 
separation or one day of pay, computed at the base hourly rate, in lieu of 
notice. 

 
Section 18.8 Notice of Termination from Employee 

 
All Employees who have been in employment 30 days or more must give 
the City two (2) weeks’ notice before leaving their employment unless 
mutually agreed beforehand between the City and the Employee. Notation 
of failure to give notice will be placed in the Employee's personnel file. 
 

Section 18.9 Standards for Demotion/Discharge 
 

No member may be disciplined, demoted, or discharged except for "just 
cause." 

 
ARTICLE 19 CLASSIFICATION AND HOURLY WAGE RATES 

 
Section 19.1 Special Duty Pay 

Employees will receive an additional 5% of their base wages for hours 
spent performing the following roles: 
 
Field Training Officers 
K-9 Officers 
Lead Detectives 



66  

Lieutenants and Sergeants assigned to Investigations 
Certified Drone Operators (Not to include time spent in drone training) 
Drug Unit 
Police Chief and Dispatch Manager may authorize the additional 5% for 
time spent instructing various courses or for supervisory roles not covered 
elsewhere in this contract on a case-by-case basis. 

 
 

Section 19.2 Recruit Officer Pay in the Academy 
 

19.2.1 Recruit Officers attending the Basic Peace Officers Training 
Course are assigned to a 16-hour duty day for seven days per 
week. 

19.2.2 All duty in excess of 40 hours per week, or 8 hours in a day, will be 
paid at the academy overtime rate. The academy rate of pay is defined 
in the PSEA Schedule A. 

 

Section 19.3 Lateral Hires 

Newly hired officers who have at least three years of experience as a sworn 
law enforcement officer or dispatcher with a qualified police agency may be 
paid at the appropriate step of the Police Officer or Dispatcher Pay Scale, 
at the discretion of the Mayor. 

 
Section 19.4 Classification Changes 

 
19.4.1 Promotion 

Employees receiving a promotion to a higher classification will move to 
a step within the new classification as follows: 

- Officer to Detective-step within new classification which gives them 
a minimum of 5% pay increase. 

 
- Detective to Sergeant-step within new classification which gives 

them a minimum of 5% pay increase. 
 

- Officer to Sergeant-step within new classification which gives them 
a minimum of 10% pay increase. 

- Sergeant to Lieutenant-step within new classification which gives 
them a minimum of 10% pay increase. 

- Dispatcher to Dispatch Supervisor step within new 
classification which gives them a minimum of 20% pay 
increase. 

 



67  

- All other employees will move to the same step within their new 
classification. 

 
19.4.2 Involuntary Change of Classification 

 
An employee who involuntarily changes classification, for other than 
disciplinary reasons will begin at the "Start Step" within that classification, 
unless that would result in a pay decrease. In that case the employee will 
continue to earn their current wage until qualified for the next step 
increase within the new classification which will result in a pay increase. 

 
19.4.3 Voluntary Change of Classification 

 
If the change to a lower classification is voluntary, the employee’s pay will 
decrease inversely. 

 
19.4.4 Disciplinary Change of Classification 

In the event of a disciplinary demotion, the employee will be paid at the 
step appropriate to the previous time in the lower classification. 

 
Section 19.5 City Created New or Changed Classifications 

If the City creates new or changed job classifications or duties not set 
forth in current job descriptions, the City and Chapter will negotiate on the 
appropriate rates for such classifications or new duties before the 
implementation of any changes.  If the parties are unable to agree upon a 
rate for a new or changed classification, interest arbitration will be used. 

 
Section 19.6 The City may assign Detectives, on a temporary basis, to the 

Investigations Division, so long as those assigned positions do not exceed 
more than one half the overall authorized Detective positions. The 
temporary assignment is for a five-year period. In the event there are no 
applicants at the end of the assigned period, the employee may remain in 
the position for an additional year. This process will be continued until a 
new employee is assigned to the position. Pursuant to this agreement, 
any employee assigned into a Detective position will be placed on the 
appropriate step on the pay scale. Temporary assignments to the 
Investigations Division will be evaluated by the Investigations Lieutenant 
who may recommend reassignment out the of the Division if the 
employee’s work expectations fall below supervisory standards. 

 
ARTICLE 20 EDUCATION PAY 

 
Section 20.1 Education and Certification Pay 

 
20.1.1 Licensing and Certification 



68  

All costs to obtain and maintain required licensing or certification will be 
paid by the City. All training conducted in accordance with this section 
will be considered as duty time. 

 
20.1.2 APSC Certification Pay 

Commissioned employees who obtain an Alaska Police Standards 
Council (APSC) certificate will receive an annual lump sum payment of 
$3,000.00 for an Intermediate Certificate and $4,500.00 for an 
Advanced Certificate, on the first pay period in January. Employees who 
earn new certifications during a year will receive a prorated annual lump 
sum on the next paycheck, after issuance by APSC.  

 
Section 20.2 Continuing Education Reimbursement 

 
With prior approval of the Department Head, employees who are 
continuing their education by attending college on their off-duty time 
where they majored in criminal justice, administration of justice, or related 
approved fields of study, will be reimbursed by the City for tuition, books, 
and other costs of education upon the successful completion of the 
course and upon the presentation of a documented expense account. 
Successful completion of the course means the conclusion of any 
quarterly or semester course in any subject directly related to the 
obtaining of the degree in the major above stated or the equivalent 
thereof with a grade of "C" or better. 

 
Section 20.3 Continuing Education Reimbursement 

Members, with prior approval from the Department Head, may be 
reimbursed for tuition and books for successful completion of courses or 
seminars which relate directly to the member's current job classification. 

 
Section 20.4 Lieutenant Seminar or Training 

 
It is the object of the City to keep Employees up to date on current 
practices of their profession. Each Lieutenant may attend, at City 
expense up to a maximum of $1,500.00 direct cost (airfare, hotel, per 
diem, course material), at least one work-related seminar or training 
course of the employee's choice every calendar year. 

 
ARTICLE 21 EQUIPMENT AND CLOTHING 

 
Section 21.1 City Issued 

Employees who are issued equipment for City use will have that 
equipment receipted to them and will be responsible for its proper use. 
When the equipment issued becomes damaged, broken, unsafe or 
unserviceable, it must be turned in to the City to be repaired or replaced. 
Employees must use all reasonable means to protect and secure all City 



69  

property, equipment and supplies. Upon termination of employment, each 
Employee must return to the City any property. If the employee resigns or 
is terminated, the Employee shall surrender all issued items, or the cost 
of such items not surrendered shall be deducted from the Employee’s 
final check. 

 
Section 21.2 Equipment and Clothing Property 

 
Employees shall not be responsible for lost, damaged or stolen property or 
cargo in cases when the Employee followed Department policy in securing, 
operating, or handling said property or cargo. 

 
Section 21.3 Personal Property 

In the event the Department Head approves the use of the Employee's 
personal property during such Employee's normal duties, the City shall 
reimburse the Employee for the repair or replacement of said personal 
property in the event it is stolen or damaged all in accordance with 
Section 21.2,provided that the City will not be responsible for damage to 
employee property that is inappropriate for on duty use. 

 
Section 21.4 Improved Equipment 

 
The City shall make an effort to provide Employees with equipment that will 
allow the Employee to work efficiently and improve productivity, i.e., 
computers, vehicles, and all other equipment and instruments necessary to 
perform the work. 

 
21.4.1 Unsafe Equipment 

 
No employee may be required to operate any unsafe equipment. No 
disciplinary action or other form of discrimination may be instituted 
against any employee for questioning whether a piece of equipment is 
safe. 
 

Section 21.5 Initial Issue Uniforms. 
 

21.5.1 Issued Clothing 
 

Each commissioned member will be issued the following City owned 
property for use: 

 
Police Department  
Badges (1 shirt & 1 flat) 
Shirts (Short Sleeve) 3 
Shirts (Long Sleeve) 3 
Trousers 3 
Ties 1 



70  

Hat (Summer) w/Rain Cover 1 
Hat (Winter) 1 
Parka 1 
Utility Jacket 1 
Raincoat 1 
Gloves 1 pair per year 
Bullet Proof Vest (Level 3A minimum)      1 
Dept. Approved Duty Footwear 

$125/yr. For summer footwear 
$150/yr. For winter footwear 

Both footwear allowances to be paid in a single disbursement of 
$275 in January of each year. 

Gun belt set with Weapon 1 
Coveralls* 1 set 

All the above items will be replaced by the City on an "as needed" basis 
to ensure each member has a full complement of issued items in good 
serviceable condition. 

*As required by the Department. 
 

Section 21.6 Sidearm 
 

The City will provide each Commissioned Officer with an approved side 
arm for use on and off duty. Upon retirement, the Commissioned Officer 
will be presented with their sidearm and badge. 

 
Section 21.7 Clothing Allowance 

 
All non-uniformed commissioned officers and uniformed civilian employees 
will be given up to $500.00 allowance in January each year to 
maintain/replace approved clothing for their on-duty use. 

 
Section 21.8 Incidental Purchase Allowance 

The Department will pay each commissioned officer $150.00 in January of 
each year for incidental purchases of duty equipment. 
 

ARTICLE 22 FILLING OF VACANCIES 
 

Section 22.1 Promotion/Transfer 

Promotions - When a vacancy occurs, or a new position is established 
within the Bargaining Unit for which there is no one on the lay-off list, the 
parties agree that the vacancy may be filled from among PSEA bargaining 
unit members if a qualified member applies. 

 



71  

Section 22.2 Qualifications 
 

The City shall maintain an equitable examination process to assist in 
determining the applicant qualifications. Applicants will be required to pass 
a professionally prepared examination. Examinations shall fairly test the 
attributes required to perform the position’s duties. Examinations may be 
composed of written examinations, assessment centers, oral examinations, 
physical examinations, psychological evaluations, training and experience, 
or any combination thereof. All components of the examination process 
must be applied uniformly among applicants during the evaluation process. 
The applicant’s training, experience, and previous work experience will be 
considered. 

 
Section 22.3 Vacancy Announcements 

Vacancy announcements will specify the position's opening date, the date 
the notice was posted, the job description and title, and other pertinent 
information concerning the closing date. A copy of all such notices 
relative to positions within the coverage of this Agreement must be 
posted. 
 

Section 22.4 Advertised Internally First 
 

When a vacancy occurs, or a new position in the bargaining unit is 
established the Human Resources Department shall advertise internally for 
five days, then advertise internally and externally for the remainder of the 
recruitment period. The announcement from the Human Resources 
Department will state instructions for their application. Internal applicants 
will be granted preference from the hiring authority however, the hiring 
authority will make hiring recommendations based on the applicant that is 
best suited for the job.  
 

Section 22.5 Eligibility After Probationary Period 
 

Bargaining Unit members who have completed their initial probationary 
period will have the right to compete for any vacancy within the Bargaining 
Unit for which they may be qualified. All accrued benefits and length of 
service will remain unbroken. 

 
Section 22.6 Transfer Within Bargaining Unit 

Consistent with Section 19.4, regular Bargaining Unit employees seeking 
promotional or lateral transfer or transfers to a different a class within the 
same salary range or a voluntary demotion to class with a lower salary 
range may apply and compete for open or vacant positions in the 
Bargaining Unit. 

 
Section 22.7 Qualifications for Promotion 

 
Open or vacant positions will be filled on merit and fitness. In the 



72  

exercise of the City’s discretion in making a promotion, the following 
guidelines will be observed: 

- Applicants must meet minimum qualifications in recruitment 
announcements. 

- Applicants must satisfactorily pass competitive examinations when 
applicable. 

 
- Performance evaluation reports, if available, will be considered. 

- Pre-test qualifications required for the rank of Sergeant will be an 
APSC Intermediate Certificate or equivalent. 

- Pre-test qualifications required for the rank of Lieutenant will include 
an advanced certification from the APSC, or equivalent, and an 
equivalent of time-in-rank and/or college education as presently 
required by City promotional standards. 

 
In the event no employee applies or meets the qualifications as set forth 
above, the City may recruit and select from other agencies. 

 
Section 22.8 Probationary Period 

Promotions within or between all sworn classifications will be probationary 
for a six month period during which an employee may be demoted to their 
previous position. 
 

ARTICLE 23 PERSONNEL RECORDS 
 

Section 23.1 File Maintenance 

The City shall provide for the maintenance of a personnel file which 
includes those documents which reflect an individual's complete status as 
an employee from date of hire to termination. Only one such file may be 
maintained by the City. 

 
Section 23.2 Personnel File Contents 

 
The personnel file includes employee's employment application, summary 
of employment and administrative investigations, reports of work 
performance, progress and disciplinary actions, personnel actions and 
survivor benefits forms. The personnel file may not contain any 
documents reflecting any “false positive” drug/alcohol test results, or 
administrative investigations which result in a finding of "unsubstantiated," 
"exonerated," or "unfounded.” 

 
Completed administrative and employment investigative files will be 
maintained by the department administration. 

 
All medical information will be maintained in a separate Medical File 



73  

housed in the City Human Resources Department. 
 

Section 23.3 Employee Access to Personnel Files 
 

23.3.1 Access to Employee File 
 

An individual employee will have access to their personnel file, or to any 
closed Administrative Investigation (AI) file or to any information 
pertaining to the employee which is maintained in the personnel file, at 
any reasonable time. A member will have the opportunity to comment 
upon any adverse materials in the member's personnel file. Personnel 
Files are confidential. They may be inspected by the Department Head 
or those authorized by the Department Head. 

 
23.3.2 Pre-Employment File 

 
An employee may review all files pertaining to the employee with the 
exception of the Pre-Employment File. 
 

Section 23.4 Record of Disciplinary Actions 
 

Except for oral reprimands and written counseling forms, a record of 
disciplinary actions must be contained in the employee's personnel file. 

 
Section 23.5 Supervisor Files 

 
Nothing in this Agreement prevents supervisors from maintaining and using 
“Working Supervisor Files.” Specifically, these files may contain prior 
evaluations, notes of observations, and information, including favorable and 
unfavorable remarks reflecting on the employee's duty performance during 
the reporting period under evaluation. 

 
Section 23.6 Disciplinary Action Files 

 
A record of the following disciplinary actions will be placed in the 
employee's personnel file: 

 
- Written Reprimands 
- Suspension Without Pay 
- Involuntary Transfer 
- Demotion 
- All Administrative and Criminal Investigations: formal or 

informal which result in disciplinary action against the 
employee 

- Last Chance Agreement 
- Termination 

 
Section 23.7 No Other Files 



74  

 
All disciplinary records will be maintained as described throughout Article 
23 and will not be duplicated elsewhere without permission of PSEA and 
City agreement. This does not prevent the City from maintaining other 
required employee files to include but not limited to: personnel records, 
medical records, workers compensation records, and payroll files.  
 

Section 23.8 Five Year Documentation Restriction 
 

Documents reflecting disciplinary action contained within a member's 
personnel file which are dated five years or older, may not be examined or 
considered for use at subsequent disciplinary or promotional proceedings. 
Access to such documents is limited as provided for in Section 23.3 of this 
Article. 

 
Section 23.9 Citizen Complaints 

Documents reflecting citizen complaints shall be maintained by the 
department. Summaries of sustained complaints which results in action 
defined in Section 23.6 must be forwarded to the personnel file. 

 
Section 23.10 Removal of File Information 

 
Any item removed from the personnel files must be forwarded to the 
employee. 

ARTICLE 24 MANUAL OF DIRECTIVES 
 

Section 24.1 Manual of Policy & Procedure 
 

A Manual of Policy & Procedure will be maintained and made accessible to 
each employee of the Department. 
 

ARTICLE 25 TRAVEL AND PER DIEM 
 

Section 25.1 Official Travel Outside City of Fairbanks 

The City will fully pay the employee for travel, lodging, parking, and other 
required expenses. The per diem will be based on State of Alaska short-
term daily rates as stated in Alaska Administrative Manual regardless of 
destination. At no time will the City pay per diem rates when employees 
attend training encompassing lodging and meals (three per day) provided. 
Travel is further regulated by Fairbanks General Code 50-209 and City 
policy 35.01. 

 
 
 
 

Section 25.2 Use of Personal Vehicles 



75  

 
Employees are not obligated to use their privately-owned vehicles for City 
business.  

 
ARTICLE 26 ORAL OR WRITTEN AGREEMENT 

 
Section 26.1 Conflict of This Agreement Employee 

 
No member covered by this Agreement may be asked or required to make 
any written or oral agreement which may in any way conflict with this 
Agreement. 

 
Section 26.2 Conflict of This Agreement City 

 
No member covered by this Agreement may ask or require the City to 
make any written or oral agreement which may in any way conflict with 
this Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE 27 TEMPORARY HIRES 
 
 

Section 27.1 Temporary Employees 
 

It is recognized that the need exists to hire temporaries in positions similar 
in duties and requirements to regular positions in the PSEA. The City and 
the PSEA now agree that all determinations concerning the terms and 
conditions of temporary employment will be made independently by the 
City except as provided for in this section or as specifically provided for in 
subsequent sections of this Agreement. The parties agree that there will 
not be a concerted effort to abuse the hiring and use of temporaries. 

 
Section 27.2 Temporary Employee Benefits 

 
Temporary employees are not entitled to paid personal leave, holiday pay 
or other benefits enjoyed by regular employees. All temporary employees 
will be compensated on an hourly basis for actual work performed. In lieu 
of additional benefits and PERS participation, temporary employees will 
receive an additional compensation of fifteen percent above the starting 
wage rate. Seniority will accrue pro-rata based on hours of service. 
Breaks will be pro-rated dependent on the number of hours in a shift. 
 

Section 27.3 Temporary Employee Overtime 
 

All hours worked over forty (40) hours per week by temporary employees 
shall be considered overtime and payable at one and one-half (1.5) times 
the rate of pay as set in the pay scale. For purposes of the bidding on 
overtime, temporary employees will have the lowest seniority.  

 



76  

Section 27.4 Temporary Employee Work Rules 
 

The City may use temporary hires as needed in accordance with work 
rules. Article 10 or Article 11 

 
ARTICLE 28 PART-TIME EMPLOYEES 

 
Section 28.1 Part-Time Employee Definition 

A "Part-Time employee" is a permanent who works less than 30 hours a 
week, including the employment of two persons to fill one regular full-time 
position. 

 
Section 28.2 Part-Time Employee 

The City and the PSEA recognize the need to hire part-time employees 
in positions similar in duties and requirements to regular positions in the 
PSEA. The City and the PSEA agree that all determinations concerning 
the terms and conditions of part-time employment will be made 
independently by the City except as provided in this Agreement.  

 
Section 28.3 Part-Time Employee Records 

 
All employer records relating to hours worked of part-time employees will 
be open for PSEA inspection. 

 
Section 28.4 Part-Time Employee Benefits 

Part-time employees are not entitled to paid personal leave, holiday pay or 
other benefits enjoyed by regular employees. All part-time employees will 
be compensated on an hourly basis for actual work performed. In lieu of 
additional benefits and PERS participation, part-time employees receive 
an additional compensation of fifteen percent above the starting wage 
rate.  Seniority will accrue pro-rated based on hours of service. Breaks will 
be pro-rated dependent on hours of service. 

 
Section 28.5 Part-Time Employee Work Rules 

 
The City may use part-time hires as needed in accordance with work 
rules. See Article 10 or Article 11 

 
ARTICLE 29 MISCELLANEOUS 

 
Section 29.1 Current Agreement and Letters of Agreement 

All prior letters of agreement and understanding to the prior agreements 
will be deleted unless re-signed again after the effective date of this 
Agreement though the parties agree that certain LOAs will be continued 
by mutual agreement if not otherwise incorporated specifically within this 



77  

Agreement. 
 

Section 29.2 Difference or Conflict of Agreement 
 

In the case of any difference or conflict between the provisions of this 
Agreement and the provisions of the Fairbanks Personnel Ordinance or 
the provisions of any City imposed policy or rules, the provisions of this 
Agreement govern. In the event that any portion of this Agreement is 
found by a court to be invalid, the provisions of Article 5, Section 3, apply. 
Only during any interim period between such finding of invalidity and 
subsequent Agreement will the Fairbanks Personnel Ordinance Code 
govern. 

 
Section 29.3 Performance of Work 

 
No individual from outside the Fairbanks Police Department will be used to 
perform duties that consist of part of, or all of the duties of PSEA members, 
without prior approval of the PSEA. This section does not prohibit shared 
operations with City Departments, Volunteers in Policing, Emergency 
Services Patrol, law enforcement agencies, police reserves, and 
contractual employment of temporary staff for background checks, police 
topic instructors, and consultants. Reserve members shall meet the pre- 
employment requirements of a non-commissioned member. 
 

Section 29.4 Sole and Complete Agreement 
 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the City and 
the PSEA, and no verbal statements will supersede any of its provisions. 
This Agreement embodies all the terms and conditions governing the 
employment of the members of the PSEA. Any proposed changes 
affecting the employee’s wages, hours, or other terms and conditions of 
employment will be negotiated prior to implementation. Both sides have 
had the opportunity to raise other issues but have chosen not to do so. In 
addition, both sides have abandoned issues that were discussed but not 
incorporated into this Agreement. Topics that were raised but not 
incorporated, abandoned, overlooked, or not addressed in this 
Agreement have no legal effect on the parties. 

ARTICLE 30 DEFINITION OF TERMS 
 

Words used within this Agreement shall have their ordinary meaning unless 
they are recognized “terms of art” or fall within the express definitions 
hereinafter described: 

 
Section 30.1 Anniversary Date 

 
"Anniversary Date" of hire means the date at which an employee has 
completed a service year of 52 weeks of paid service. Unless otherwise 
provided for herein, anniversary dates will be delayed to reflect non-paid 
absences. 



78  

 
Section 30.2 Appropriate Medical Professional 

 
An “appropriate medical professional” means a licensed physician if the 
employee’s physical ability to perform normal work assignments is in 
question, or a licensed psychiatrist or licensed psychologist if the 
employee’s mental or psychological ability to perform normal work 
assignments is in question. 

 
Section 30.3 Bargaining Unit 

 
"Bargaining Unit" in this Agreement means all employees represented by 
the PSEA working in classifications listed in PSEA Schedule A. 
 

Section 30.4 Base Rate 
 

"Base rate” means the minimum contract rate for a classification. 
 

Section 30.5 City 
 

"City" means the City of Fairbanks, Alaska. 
 

Section 30.6 Classification 
 

"Classification" (verb) is the act of grouping positions in classes with regard 
to: 

 
- duties and responsibilities 
- requirements as to education, knowledge, experience and 

ability 
- tests and fitness 
- ranges of pay 

 
Section 30.7 Classification or Class 

 
"Classification" or "class" (noun) is the resulting designation of one or 
more positions into a single grouping. 

 
Section 30.8 Days 

“Day(s)" as used in this Agreement providing time constraints on the 
parties means calendar days, exclusive of holidays unless otherwise 
specified herein. 

 
Section 30.9 Department 

 
"Department" means the Fairbanks Police Department or Fairbanks 
Emergency Communications Center, or any subsequently formed 



79  

department which includes Police/Dispatch functions, likewise, 
"Department Head" shall refer to the person designated to have 
administrative authority over the Police/Dispatch functions, whether that 
person be denominated as "Department Head" or otherwise. 
 

Section 30.10 Duty Day 
 

"Duty Day" means any day on which a member is assigned to work a 
shift. 

 
Section 30.11 Emergency Situation 

The normal and accepted meaning, however, this does not include routine 
manpower shortages. 

 
Section 30.12 Employee 

“Employee” has the same meaning as “member,” infra. 
 

Section 30.13 Employer 

"Employer" means the City of Fairbanks, Alaska. 
 

Section 30.14 FGC 

"FGC" means the Fairbanks General Code. 
 

Section 30.15 Holiday Rate 
 

"Holiday Rate" means two and one-half times basic rate of pay plus 
applicable shift differential. 

 
Section 30.16 Lie Detector 

Means a device or instrument used to measure deception. Including but 
not limited to: Polygraph, Eye Detect, and Voice Stress Analysis. 
 

Section 30.17 Member 
 

"Member" in this Agreement means an employee who holds probationary 
or permanent status working in a job class that has been designated by the 
City; except where the circumstances so indicate, "member" and 
"employee" are used interchangeably in this Agreement. 

 
Section 30.18 No Days Off (NDO) Comp 

Any member who is forced to work any hours which prevents them from 
having 48 consecutive hours off for those employees working 10- or 12-



80  

hour shift schedules, or 24 hours off for those employees working an 
eight hour shift schedule, will be paid at the basic rate plus shift 
differential, if any, multiplied by 1.5 and 0.5 compensatory time. (Any 
forced hours worked within the 48 consecutive hours off or 24 
consecutive hours off will be paid at the basic rate plus shift differential, if 
any, multiplied by 1.5 plus, 0.5 compensatory time.) 

 
Section 30.19 Non-Permanent Employee 

"Non-permanent Employee" in this Agreement is defined as a temporary 
hire not to exceed six months. 

 
Section 30.20 Personnel File 

"Personnel File" in this Agreement means all those documents, reports, 
written or otherwise recorded evaluations of a person's performance 
while performing duties on behalf of the Employer, and any other work-
related material pertaining to that person that is kept in that file. 
 

Section 30.21 Police Officer Recruit 
 

“Police Officer Recruit” refers to employees hired within the entry level 
position. 

 
Section 30.22 Promotion 

"Promotion" is the change of an employee from one class to another which 
will provide an increase in salary, or which has a higher maximum base 
rate of pay. 

 
Section 30.23 Shift 

"Shift" means the normally scheduled work hours on a duty day. 
 

Section 30.24 Tour 
 

"Tour" is a four-month shift assignment. 
 

Section 30.25 Transfer 

"Transfer" in this Agreement means the voluntary or involuntary assignment 
or reassignment of a member's work area or duty assignment. 

 
Section 30.26 Volunteered Overtime 

All volunteered overtime is paid at the basic rate, plus any shift differential, 
multiplied by 1.5. 
 



81  

Section 30.27 Overworked Over 12 Hours in a 24-Hour Period 
 

Those hours of work forced over 12 hours in any employee’s 24- hour day 
will be paid at the basic rate plus shift differential multiplied by 1.5 plus, 
0.5 compensatory time. 

 
Section 30.28  Overworked Over 12 Consecutive Hours  

 
Those hours of work forced over 12 consecutive hours will be paid at the 
basic rate plus shift differential multiplied by 1.5, plus 0.5 compensatory 
time. 

  



82  

 
ARTICLE 31 EXECUTION OF AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT, CONSISTING OF 81 PAGES, WAS RATIFIED BY THE CITY OF 
FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL ON ___________, 2025 AND BY THE MEMBERSHIP OF THE 
PSEA ON _____ ___, 2025.  

 
 
 

 

X
David Pruhs
Mayor, City of Fairbanks                         Date

   

X
PSEA Administrator                               Date

 
 

X
Mike Sanders
Chief of Staff, City of Fairbanks            Date

   

X
Stephen Hancock
Chapter Chair                                          Date

 
 

X
Kristi Merideth
Dispatch Manager, City of Fairbanks      Date

   

X
Amy Davis
Negotiator                                                 Date

 
 

X
Ron Dupee
Chief of Police, City of Fairbanks           Date

   

X
James Kuplack
Negotiator                                              Date

 
 

        

X
Michael Sullivan
Negotiator                                               Date



 

APPENDIX B – PSEA 2025 PAY SCALE 

 



Procedure for Internal and Council Review of Alcohol Licenses 
(FGC Chapter 14, Article V. – Alcoholic Beverages in brief) 

 
1. Clerk receives license application and sends to fire chief, police chief, finance director to 

investigate, review, and make a recommendation. The building official is included in the 
review if the application is for a premises not previously used for selling alcohol. 

2. Clerk schedules public hearing within the 60-day response period allowed by state law and 
sends a written notice of hearing to the applicant at least 10 days prior to the hearing. 

3. If the application is for a new license or for a license transfer to a location where a license of 
that type does not already exist, the Clerk will do all of the above and: 

a. Advertise the hearing in the newspaper 
b. Send copies of the advertisement by mail to all property owners within 500 feet of the 

new location. 
4. The Council holds a public hearing and considers whether to protest or waive protest on the 

application for transfer, renewal, or a new license. The Council will consider the following 
factors it believes are pertinent: 

a. Character and public interest of neighborhood. 
b. Actual and potential law enforcement problems, including proximity of patrols and 

police stations. 
c. Concentration of other licenses in the area. 
d. Whether the area has an unacceptable rate of alcohol abuse or crime/accidents 

involving alcohol abuse. 
e. Adequacy of parking facilities. 
f. Safety of ingress/egress from the premises. 
g. Compliance with fire, health, and safety codes. 
h. The degree of control the licensee will have over the conduct of the business. 
i. Convictions of the applicant(s) or their affiliate(s) for: 

i. Any felony involving moral turpitude;  
ii. Any violation of AS Title 4; 

iii. Any violation of ABC laws in another state;  
iv. Any felony involving the sale, distribution, or procurement of drugs within 10 

years. 
j. Whether the applicant(s) or their affiliate(s) are untrustworthy or unfit or whether 

they are a potential harm to the public. 
k. Any other factor the Council determines is relevant to an application.  

5. The Council may protest a license if it determines any of the following conditions exist: 
a. Sales tax delinquency related to the business. 
b. Property tax delinquency for property related to the business. 
c. Delinquent charges for City services related to the business. 
d. License would exceed population limits. 
e. License would violate FNSB zoning and/or cause more than 3 beverage dispensary 

licenses to be located within a 2-block radius of a zoned residential neighborhood.  
f. Relocation of a license into a defined core downtown area, unless the applicant 

demonstrates the license will contribute to downtown revitalization. 
g. License falls within 1,000 feet of senior citizens’ apartment housing. 
h. License falls within 1,000 feet of alcohol treatment center or halfway house. 

6. The Clerk sends AMCO and the applicant the Council’s recommendation on the alcohol 
application.  



How setting clear spending targets  
can transform the budget process

TARGET-BASED 
BUDGETING

For more information, visit gfoa.org/rethinking-budgeting

https://www.gfoa.org/rethinking-budgeting


1

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

SUMMARY OF KEY IDEAS  |  SHAREABLE INFOGRAPHIC



ABOUT THE AUTHOR

	 Shayne Kavanagh, Senior Manager of Research, GFOA

	 Janet Dutcher, DPA, MPA, CPA, CGFM, Mono County Director of Finance 

	 Drew Corbett, Principal, DKG Consultants

CONTRIBUTORS

	 Chris Constantin, Town Manager, Town of Los Gatos, CA

	 Krystle Lindberg, Deputy Finance Director & Budget Officer, City of Providence, RI

	 David Goldman, Deputy City Administrator/Finance Director, City of Oak Harbor, WA

	 Kevin Knutson, Sr. Vice President, Strategic Government Resources

ABOUT GFOA

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) represents over 21,000 public finance officers throughout 
the United States and Canada. GFOA’s mission is to advance excellence in government finance. GFOA views 
its role as a resource, educator, facilitator, and advocate for both its members and the governments they serve 
and provides best practice guidance, leadership, professional development, resources and tools, networking 
opportunities, award programs, and advisory services.

ABOUT THE RETHINKING BUDGETING PROJECT

Local governments have long relied on incremental, line item budgeting where last year’s budget becomes next 
year’s budget with changes around the margin. Though this form of budgeting has its advantages and can be 
useful under circumstances of stability, it also has important disadvantages. The primary disadvantage is that it 
causes local governments to be slow to adapt to changing conditions. The premise of the “Rethinking Budgeting” 
initiative is that the public finance profession has an opportunity to update local government budgeting practices 
to take advantage of new ways of thinking, new technologies, and to better meet the changing needs of 
communities. The Rethinking Budgeting initiative will raise new and interesting ideas like those featured in this 
paper and will produce guidance for state and local policy makers on how to local government budget systems 
can be adapted to today’s needs. We hope the ideas presented in this paper will spur conversation about the 
possibilities for rethinking budgeting. The Rethinking Budgeting initiative is a collaborative effort between the 
Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) and International City/County Management Association (ICMA).

To learn more, visit gfoa.org/rethinking-budgeting.

USE OF GENERATIVE ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE IN THIS REPORT

Generative Artificial Intelligence (AI) tools, primarily ChatGPT4, were used to help develop the report. Primary uses 
of the AI tools include:

	 Development of ideas for the outline of the report

	 Generation of text for a few specific purposes. Text generated directly from generative AI is clearly labeled as 
such in the report where the contribution from AI is material. Examples of immaterial contributions would be 
suggestions from AI on wording choices, grammar, etc.

	 Review of final report and to give suggestions to make language more accessible for the intended audience.

GFOA acknowledges the limitations of AI-generated information, including potential biases and other limitations of 
generative artificial intelligence. All data, ideas, etc. from ChatGPT4 that were used in the report were independently 
verified/validated by the author(s) and not taken at face value.

© 2025 Government Finance Officers Association

2

https://www.gfoa.org/rethinking-budgeting


F
acing multimillion-dollar budget deficits, where spending growth outpaced revenue 
growth by more than 2-to-1 in a typical year, the finance director of Mono County, 
California, seized an opportunity when the chief administrative officer position turned 
over. Up to that point, the budget process had been tense. Departments would pad 
line items in their budget requests, while the county’s budget authority would question 
each department’s spending on office supplies, dues, publications, and travel expenses. 

This created a vicious cycle, where the budget office micromanaged department budgets, causing 
departments to ask for more than they needed, leading to even more micromanagement.

As a result, the finance director saw a budget process 
fraught with passive-aggressive gameplay in a tense 
environment where cuts were needed for the county to 
adopt a balanced budget. However, the budget deficits 
felt illusory since actual deficits rarely materialized at year 
end. The tension in the budget process was, really, much 
ado about nothing. It was manufactured by a process that 
encouraged self-defeating behavior by the participants. 
In fact, the county realized surpluses and built up a large 
fund balance. This was not necessarily a positive outcome. 
It sapped the credibility of central budget authorities. For 
example, participants asked themselves: why go through 
the tense budget process and argue about the need for 

cuts if we usually have surplus at the end of the year and have a large fund balance? It also created 
challenges, such as trying to negotiate sustainable compensation packages with organized labor in 
the context of large surpluses and fund balances.

Over the next three years the finance director tried assigning fixed allocations to departments, 
allowing each to decide how to divide their funds among budget line items in any way they wanted. 
The results were surprising. The county benefited from an 81% reduction in the projected budget 

3

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

The tension in the budget 
process was, really, much 
ado about nothing. It 
was manufactured by a 
process that encouraged 
self-defeating behavior 
by the participants. 



4

TBB Basics
We’ll start with a brief overview of TBB. Central budget authorities give departments a target for their 
core services. That target is often less than the total budget from the previous year. The total budget 
is core services plus supplemental services. 

Departments are given a large measure of autonomy to design their budget for core services. If they 
stay within their target, central budget authorities do not closely manage the department’s core 
budget. In addition to the budget for core services, departments can compete for extra funding for 
supplemental services. They submit decision packages to central budget authorities, who evaluate 
and compare them against one another. Departments with winning decision packages are given 
additional budget authority for that year. 

The basics are always a good starting point. Next, we’ll dive into the nuances that arise when putting 
TBB into practice. 

deficit, and the new administration adopted a structurally balanced budget the following year. 
Departments found creative ways to operate while saving the county money. Departments began 
working together. For example, one department sharing an unused portion of its budget to help 
another solve its shortfall.

Without realizing it, this finance director used target-based budgeting (TBB) — a budget 
methodology successfully used by local governments of all sizes since the 1970s.1 Cincinnati, 
one of the first to experiment with TBB, claimed it as the “budget of the future.”2 TBB is not as 
well-publicized as performance budgeting, zero-based budgeting, or priority-based budgeting.3 
Nevertheless, the results can be profound. TBB helped Mono County eliminate the stress related 
to balancing the adopted budget and avoided excessive surpluses that are a sign of poor planning. 
They changed the budget process from departments A) jousting and posturing to preserve or 
increase their budgets to B) working together for the greater organizational good.

This paper explores target-based budgeting, its advantages and challenges, and how to use it to 
enhance your budget process.

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Departments are given 
a large measure of 
autonomy to design their 
budget for core services. 



5

EXHIBIT 1  |  PROCESS MAP FOR TBB

TBB Process
Exhibit 1 provides a process map for TBB. The two lanes represent the roles of the central budget 
authority and departments. The map covers four essential parts of TBB and the central question 
for each: 

	 Revenue Forecast: How much money is available for providing public services?

	 Targets for Core Services: How much are we spending on core services, and which services 
are core?

	 Supplemental Services and Decision Packages: What are we spending on supplemental 
services, and which proposals (decision packages) for supplemental services will be approved?

	 Final Budget: What is our total budget for the year?

This section will walk through these parts of TBB.

REVENUE  
FORECAST

TARGETS FOR  
CORE SERVICES

SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES  
& DECISION PACKAGES

FINAL  
BUDGET

SET AMOUNT 
AVAILABLE FOR 
SUPPLEMENTAL 

SERVICES

EVALUATE
& APPROVE 
DECISION
PACKAGES

DEVELOP 
REVENUE

FORECAST

SET 
SPENDING 
TARGETS 

FOR CORE 
SERVICES

SUBTRACT
FOR NON-

OPERATIONAL
SPENDING (DEBT

OR CAPITAL)
DEVELOP

CALCULATIONS
TO SUPPORT 
DEPARTMENT 
BUDGET DEV- 

ELOPMENT

PROVIDE
EVALUATION

CRITERIA FOR 
DECISION
PACKAGES

ARRIVE
AT FINAL 
BUDGET

ARRIVE
AT FINAL 
BUDGET

DEVELOP
BUDGETS
FOR CORE
SERVICES

PARTICIPATE
IN EVALUATION 

OF DECISION 
PACKAGES

How much money is 
available for providing 

public services?

What are we spending  
on core services?

What are we spending on 
supplemental services?

What is our total  
budget for the year?

? ? ? ?

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING



6

The revenue forecast is central to TBB. This may seem unremarkable. Doesn’t every budget include 
a revenue projection? Yes…but, the traditional budget focuses on expenditures. Its foundational 
question is: “What did we spend last year?” The revenue forecast determines what incremental 
spending increases (or reductions) are possible based on available resources. In the traditional 
budget, past spending patterns drive budgeting while the revenue forecast sits in the background.

TBB starts with a different question: “How much money is available for providing public services?” 
The answer allows a government to set the spending targets that TBB gets its name from. Thus, in 
TBB, the budget is driven by available revenue, so the forecast moves to the foreground. 

The techniques of revenue forecasting are beyond the scope of this paper. However, you can learn 
more about forecasting and how to build trust and credibility as a forecaster in Informed Decision-
Making Through Forecasting: A Practitioner’s Guide to Revenue Analysis. 

Let’s address a common concern about leading the budget process with the revenue forecast: 
uncertainty. All forecasts will be wrong; it’s just a question of how much. TBB insulates against this 
uncertainty with decision packages for supplemental services. Core services are based on a more 
certain portion of the revenue forecast. Each decision package selected beyond the core services 
relies on less certain revenue. Decision-makers can select decision packages up to the point where 
they are no longer comfortable with the risk that the supporting revenue might fall short. They can 
also use savvy risk-management strategies, like delaying spending on certain supplemental services 
until later in the year, once it’s clear whether the revenue will materialize.

Exhibit 2 on the following page provides an illustration.

In target-based budgeting, 
the budget is driven by 
available revenue.

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

https://www.gfoa.org/materials/informed-decision-making-forecasting
https://www.gfoa.org/materials/informed-decision-making-forecasting


7

EXHIBIT 2  |  THE REVENUE FORECAST RELATED TO SPENDING TARGETS

Let’s start with the green line, which represents the chance that a local government will receive any 
given amount of revenue. This line comes from the forecaster’s revenue estimates and takes the shape 
of a bell curve. While most government forecasters don’t think about their forecast in this way, a bell 
curve is a good way to show how forecasts work in practice. The forecaster’s best guess of what the 
revenue will be is represented by the peak of the curve. However, the forecaster also knows that even 
their best guess will not be 100% accurate. Instead, there is a range of outcomes. Revenues are more 
likely to be closer to the best guess and less likely to be further off. This is why the green line slopes 
downward as we move away from the best guess.

Let’s now focus on the blue line. This line represents the adopted revenue forecast, which is the total 
available spending under TBB. In Exhibit 2, the blue line intersects the peak of the green curve. This 
reflects the most objective best guess of revenues that will be available. If we moved the blue line to 
the right, it would signify a more aggressive budgeting strategy, assuming more revenue than the best 
guess. The diagram shows that the chance of being correct decreases as we move to the right of the 
best guess. 

We can now focus on the red line. This line represents spending on core services and also corresponds 
to the red shaded area under the green curve. This amount is less than the total revenue forecast. 

Finally, the area between the red and blue lines, shaded in purple, represents the funds available for 
supplemental services. The closer we get to the blue line, the less likely it is that we will be able to 
realize at least that level of revenue. Hence, it may be wise to employ risk management strategies as 
total spending approaches the blue line. So, the uncertainty in the forecast is really on the margin 
because local governments rarely experience large revenue decreases unless faced with an unusual 
event like a severe recession. This purple margin is often pressured by proposals to expand services. 
TBB determines the margin and invites budget decision-makers to make savvy choices about how to 
use that funding.

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

INTERPRETING CHANCE ON A 
BELL CURVE

On a bell curve, the peak represents 
the median value. Thus, there is a 
50% chance that the total revenue 
will be less than this value and 
a 50% chance it will be greater. 
However, the chance of the forecast 
being exactly what the forecaster 
predicted is effectively zero.

An aggressive forecast moves the 
blue line to the right, which means 
there is now more than a 50% chance 
of realizing less revenue than the 
new location would suggest. A 
conservative forecast moves the blue 
line to the left. This predicts less total 
revenue, but the chances of receiving 
at least that amount exceed 50%.

Likelihood 
or Chance

Total Revenue

Chance of realizing 
a given amount of 
revenue, exactly.

An objective forecast. The 
forecaster’s single best 
estimate and total amount 
available for services.

Amount of revenue 
available to support 
core services. Equivalent 
to the spending target

Amount of money available 
for decision-packages for 

supplemental services.



8

Before moving on, we should recognize that uncertainty also affects traditional budgeting. For 
instance, if the forecast suggests that every department can increase their budget by 5% but then 
actual revenue only supports a 3% increase, then the government has a problem! This issue is 
usually addressed through conservative forecasting. Conservative forecasting can work but it has 
its drawbacks, such as incurring opportunity costs by underfunding important public services or 
discrediting the finance officer if elected officials are expecting objective forecasts.*

In Exhibit 2, a conservative forecast would be represented by shifting the blue line to the left on the 
green curve (lower than the peak). This reduces the assumed total revenue available but increases 
the chance of achieving at least the forecasted revenue amount. The problem for TBB is that a 
conservative forecast requires reducing the funds for decision packages and/or core services.  
Thus, TBB tends to favor objective forecasts. The downside risk of objective forecasts can be offset 
through conservative budgeting strategies, such as:

1.	 Setting the target for core spending below the objective revenue forecast.

2.	 Employing risk management strategies for decision packages, like delaying the execution of  
lower-ranked packages until later in the year, once it’s clear whether the forecasted revenue will  
be realized.

The revenue forecast is the basis for setting spending targets, but allowances must be made for 
nonoperating costs that revenues need to cover. For example, debt payments and planned cash-
financed capital spending are key considerations. These costs should be deducted from the revenue 
forecast to determine the total amount available for spending under TBB.

Using the adjusted amount of available revenue, the 
central budget authority sets a target for spending 
on core services for each department. These core 
services are not based on what a department spent 
the previous year. Rather, the core reflects the essential 
services that a department can provide within the 
available revenue. 

In TBB, department managers decide which services 
qualify as core services. The central budget office sets 
a spending target, and the managers decide which 
services fit within that target. The central idea behind 
TBB is that the cost of a department’s core services is 
often less than the previous year’s total budget. This is because departmental budgets include costs 
that aren’t part of the core services. Examples include, but are not limited to:

	 Special one-time projects. These are expenditures that do not recur annually.

	 Services beyond the core services. This could include entire programs or “premium” service levels 
for a core program.

	 Inefficiencies. A complex operation like a local government will inevitably have some inefficiencies. 

*As explained in Informed Decision-Making Through Forecasting, if actual revenues consistently exceed forecasted amounts 
and elected officials are not on board with a conservative forecasting strategy, then the finance officer’s credibility may be 
at risk because elected officials may feel they are not being provided with reliable guidance.

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

The core services are not 
based on what a department 
spent the previous year. 
Rather, the core reflects 
the essential services that 
a department can provide 
within the available revenue. 

https://www.gfoa.org/materials/informed-decision-making-forecasting


9

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

EXHIBIT 3  |  ILLUSTRATION OF HOW CORE SERVICE TARGETS ARE DERIVED

Typically, the total budget for core services is set at 85% to 95% of the available revenue. Exhibit 3 
illustrates this using a 90% target.

The choice of target depends on several factors. The most practical is the amount of available 
revenue. For example, if the government is facing financial distress, it may need to lower the target. 
This could require retrenchment tactics and spending cuts. In contrast, during times of revenue 
growth, the target may be higher, though still below the previous year’s total budget. This helps keep 
the expansion of core services affordable over the long term. 

If a government has been using TBB for several years, another key consideration is the size of 
a department’s core budget in prior years. The value of TBB does not come from continuously 
squeezing a department’s core budget. Once a core budget is established, keeping it constant 
is often the best strategy. This reduces stress in the budget process for all involved. Rather than 
worrying about what spending to slash to fit within a shrinking core budget, participants can look for 
ways to improve spending efficiency to include more within the core budget.

For example, Pinellas County, Florida, found that departments became more interested in process 
improvement to gain efficiencies, which made room in the core budget for other spending. Of course, 
the county budget office was happy to support this growing interest. This highlights a key benefit of 
TBB: it incentivizes departments to find efficiencies, enabling them to fit other items within their core 
budgets.

In a traditional budget process, more efficiency might lead to a budget cut. Central budget authorities 
might reallocate the savings when they see that a department needs less money to achieve the same 
thing. In TBB, the spending target is constant, and it is up to departments to manage within it. 

Money

$100M Revenue 
Projection

90% or $90M 
Budget for  

Core Services

$10M Budget for 
Supplemental 

Services

Department X’s 
TOTAL Budget Last 

Year was $40M

Department X’s 
Budget This Year

Dept X can submit decision-packages 
for supplemental services. Dept X 
must compete with other depts and 
is not guaranteed anything, but also 
could get more than last year.

Dept X’s Target for Core Services is 
less than last year’s total spending 
for core and supplemental services

Hypothetical Department XEntire Government

Includes core and 
supplemental services



10

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Another factor in setting the target for core spending is the level of involvement central budget 
authorities want in evaluating spending decisions. High targets (e.g., closer to 95%) call for less 
involvement from central budget authorities. Departments will have larger budgets for core services 
to make their own budget decisions within. Lower targets give departments room to propose 
decision packages, which are evaluated by central budget authorities.

Finally, many governments face costs that rise faster 
than revenues. This might suggest that a government 
should raise the target for core services to cover rising 
costs, thereby also reducing the amount available for 
decision packages. We suggest using this strategy only 
after considering other options. An advantage of TBB 
is that it requires governments to confront hard trade-
offs, leading to better decision-making about the use 
of public funds. If costs rise faster than revenues, the 
options are to:

1.	 Raise new revenues.

2.	 Require departments to find efficiencies or economize on core services (i.e., keep the target the 
same).

3.	 Limit the consideration of new ideas (i.e., reduce the budget for decision packages in favor raising 
core spending targets).

Long-term forecasts can highlight the risk of expenditure growing faster than revenues so that 
countermeasures can be adopted. This helps to maintain spending targets as is. 

Now let’s review the two key advantages to how TBB sets the budget for core services.

First, a successful budget process requires cooperation among stakeholders. However, it is unrealistic 
to expect everyone to fully subordinate their individual decision-making to the group or to prioritize 
the interests of the entire government over their own department. Giving departments the autonomy 
to design their budget within the core services target allows them to make independent decisions 
while keeping spending across all departments within affordable limits. This approach achieves broad 
cooperation in keeping the total budget affordable while still allowing departments flexibility to 
manage their own affairs. 

Second, a successful budget requires some self-skepticism. This means past decisions and historical 
precedents are not automatically accepted as the basis for future budgets. Rather, they are examined 
to ensure they remain relevant and affordable. The spending cap on core services encourages 
departments to be self-skeptical about their spending. Departments are much more likely to gain 
approval for spending within their target, giving them an incentive to find areas to cut spending and 
find efficiencies so they can fit other items within the target amount.

We should also recognize the disadvantages of TBB.

First, the process of setting targets is simple; however, it’s also somewhat arbitrary. While there is 
a method to target setting, it is not tied to a rigorous evaluation of how much money is needed to 
achieve the government’s goals or prioritizing services based on community needs and preferences.

An advantage of TBB is that 
it requires governments to 
confront hard trade-offs, 
leading to better decision-
making about the use of 
public funds.



11

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

The second disadvantage is that because departments are free to set core services within the 
target, elected officials and the public have limited input into what is considered “core.” 

There are embellishments to TBB that could help mitigate these disadvantages; however, they 
may come at the expense of simplicity. That said, governments could:

1.	 Develop a service baseline. Since budgeting typically focuses on expenditures like salaries, 
benefits, and commodities, it’s common for local governments to lack knowledge of the exact 
services a department provides. Thus, governments could establish a service baseline, which 
is a listing of services provided. For example, budget decision-makers might not realize that a 
public works department handles road repair, snow removal, graffiti removal, tree services, and 
maintenance of public buildings. A service baseline would help show decision-makers which 
services are included in the “core” services. You can see an example from Loudoun County, 
Virginia, here.

2.	 Review the external and self-imposed mandates governing how services are provided. This 
could include contractual requirements, like labor agreements, as well as professional “best 
practices.” A common argument for a service to be “core” is that the government is required to 
provide it. It is also common for the scope of the requirement to be exaggerated.4 For example, 
the letter of the law may not require the service at all, or it may only require a lower level of 
service than what the government is currently providing. Knowing what is truly mandated 
helps avoid the portfolio of core services from being weighed down by mistaken mandates.

3.	 Create performance measures describing the level of service provided. These might include 
the number of people served, the number of units produced, or measures of output or quality. 
This could be useful for TBB, as core services may not need to be the “platinum” or “gold” 
version — perhaps “silver” will do. For example, while standard daytime hours for library 
branches might qualify as core, extended evening hours might not. The budget authority could 
consider an upgrade from “silver” to “gold” as part of a decision package. 

Knowing what is truly mandated 
helps avoid the portfolio of core 
services from being weighed 
down by mistaken mandates.

https://www.gfoa.org/materials/tbb/program-inventory
https://www.gfoa.org/materials/tbb/program-inventory


12

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Though departments are free to develop their budget for core services, central budget authorities 
must set boundaries and guidelines beyond the spending target to ensure efficiency and consistency 
across the budget.

For example, the central budget office should either provide assumptions for departments to use 
or pre-calculate budget estimates for nondiscretionary spending. For example, departments should 
use consistent assumptions for the rate of inflation for specific commodities, like fuel, and apply 
contractually obligated cost escalators across all departments. The budget office could calculate 
costs that require specialized expertise, such as total personnel costs (including fringe benefits like 
healthcare and pension contributions), internal charges, or other items that are outside the discretion 
of department managers to change.

Another topic requiring guidelines is personnel changes. In theory, departments should have latitude 
to design their core service budgets, including personnel changes. However, practical limits must 
be adhered to. Labor contracts are one example. Another might be human resource policies, such 
as position classifications and pay grades. Also, full-time positions in local government are often 
a quasi-fixed cost — once filled, governments are often reluctant to eliminate them. As a result, 
increasing the portion of a department’s budget for full-time employees may reduce the flexibility of 
the government’s cost structure. That said, central budget authorities should work with departments 
to accommodate personnel budgets within core services, provided those changes comply with 
contractual and legal obligations, align with organization-wide policies, and support good long-term 
financial management. 

Before concluding our discussion of core services, a final note on overhead services: Internal support 
departments should also be subject to TBB and the same budget scrutiny as other departments. 
While this might make overhead costs for operating departments fluctuate, a rough estimate of 
internal support service costs should suffice for TBB.

The central budget office should 
either provide assumptions 
for departments to use or pre-
calculate budget estimates for 
nondiscretionary spending. 



13

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Let’s move on to the next step of TBB, which is evaluating decision packages.

Departments can submit decision packages, requesting some portion of the budget for supplemental 
services. The department proposes a package of potential service enhancements that budget 
decision-makers can accept or reject. The request could be for a new program not included in the 
core services budget or for an enhancement of services already in the base budget. 

As we saw in Exhibit 3, the difference between the forecasted revenue and the target budget for 
core services is the amount available for supplemental services. In the example, projected revenues 
total $100 million. Core services are targeted at 90% of that amount. This leaves $10 million for 
supplemental services. 

While the budget for core services does not receive much scrutiny from budget officials beyond 
setting the initial target, the decision packages do receive their scrutiny. Departments will likely 
submit more decision packages than funds available, which is why decision packages need to be 
evaluated and prioritized. In this way, TBB is similar to zero-based budgeting (ZBB) and priority-based 
budgeting (PBB), which also ask departments to submit decision-packages for decision-makers 
to consider and prioritize. The key difference is that ZBB and PBB apply this to all or most of the 
government’s spending. TBB does this with a limited amount. The total revenue available minus core 
spending targets gives us the amount available for 
supplement services and is typically 5% to 15% of total 
spending.

There is no ideal way to evaluate decision packages, 
but there are four principles of “procedural justice” to 
observe. These principles help ensure that participants 
view the evaluation process as fair, which increases the 
chance that they will accept decisions that don’t go their way. A sense of fairness is important for the 
budget process to be repeatable year after year. Without it, participants may try to subvert it. The 
principles are:

1.	 Give everyone the chance to provide input. Many local governments have had success with 
evaluation methods by involving all departments in the review of decision packages. This helps 
everyone see themselves as part of the team.

2.	 Use clearly defined evaluation criteria. Clear rules are needed to manage conflict. Criteria for 
evaluating decision packages may include alignment with the government’s high-priority strategic 
objectives, the potential for future cost savings, and feasibility of implementation.

3.	 Have a transparent decision-making process. Transparency allows everyone to see what others 
are doing. It fosters confidence that the agreed-upon process is being followed. When people 
believe that rules are being followed, that decisions are not arbitrary, and that no one is receiving 
special treatment, they are more likely to accept the outcomes. This can be achieved by including 
both central budget authorities and department managers in the evaluation process. This way, 
everyone sees the process from start to finish.

4.	 Have a way to recognize and correct mistakes. No process is perfect. Provide opportunities 
to address imperfections. This can be as simple as asking at the end of the evaluation meeting, 
“Is there anyone who cannot live with the decisions we made today?” and then addressing any 
concerns that are raised. 

A sense of fairness is important 
for the budget process to be 
repeatable year after year. 



14

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

In addition to being perceived as fair, the evaluation process should strive to make the best decisions 
possible for the use of taxpayer money. To do so, the budget officer can apply their decision 
architecture skills to design an evaluation process that helps decision-makers reach savvy and wise 
decisions. Below are four skills of a decision architect and how they apply to evaluating decision 
packages.

1.	 Widen option sets. People tend to frame choices narrowly, such as option “A” or “B” or  “go” or 
“no-go.” Rather than limiting the evaluation of decision packages to yes/no, create opportunities 
to take only part of a package or combine packages to create other solutions. This approach 
supports creative and flexible thinking. For example, encourage departments to cooperate on joint 
decision packages.

2.	 Test assumptions. Decision packages often rely on 
assumptions about the effectiveness of proposed 
spending in achieving desired outcomes. These 
assumptions can be tested by including decision 
criteria to evaluate how strong the evidence is for 
the program’s potential to deliver the intended 
results.

3.	 Choose the highest value options. Apply evaluation criteria that consider factors such as 
alignment with strategic goals, potential for reducing future operating costs, and the strength of 
the evidence supporting the anticipated results. 

4.	 Create trust in the process. This role of the decision architect reinforces the importance of 
procedural justice but also speaks to creating trust in the process, such as treating all participants 
with respect and ensuring they feel their participation was “worth it,” once the process is over.

At the end of the TBB process, the budget for core services plus the budget for supplemental 
services fits within the revenue forecast, thereby forming a balanced budget.

WHAT IS STRATEGIC?

TBB implies that most of what local government does is part of a baseline of public 
services. A relatively small portion is truly strategic. Hence, there is no attempt 
to align core services with a larger strategic vision. That is reserved for decision 
packages for supplemental services. You can read more about this beyond how it 
relates to TBB in GFOA’s Rethinking Strategic Planning.

The budget officer can apply 
their decision architecture skills 
to design an evaluation process 
that helps decision-makers 
reach savvy and wise decisions.

https://www.gfoa.org/materials/budget-officer-as-decision-architect
https://www.gfoa.org/materials/budget-officer-as-decision-architect
https://www.gfoa.org/materials/rethinking-strategic-planning


15

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Benefits and Challenges of Target-Based Budgeting
Now that we’ve seen the TBB process, let’s explore its benefits and challenges so that local 
governments can make a clear-eyed assessment of its potential for their circumstances.

Benefits
Foremost, TBB controls spending growth. A fundamental challenge to local government financial 
sustainability is when new spending is added to the budget and then continued year after year 
without question. This “layering on effect” can lead to a bloated and unaffordable budget.

By setting the target for core spending below total available revenue, TBB ensures careful 
evaluation of what qualifies as “core” and helps maintain the value of core spending. Reviewing 
proposed decision packages ensures that supplemental services are valuable uses of public funds. 

TBB also provides clear boundaries. As the saying goes, “Good fences make for good neighbors.” 
TBB provides the fences in several forms:

	 Core services and budgets for each department.

	 A clear budget for decision packages as well as criteria for evaluating them.

	 A revenue forecast is used to define the boundary for spending. If decision-makers want to 
expand the amount for spending, then the government must raise extra revenue.

Boundaries are an important part of decision architecture. TBB often produces better decisions 
by eliminating options that might not turn out well. For instance, the three boundaries above help 
prevent a government from spending beyond its means over the long term, not just in the current 
budget cycle.

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING



16

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Earlier, we noted that TBB gives departments more autonomy. The target for core services gives 
departments some degree of certainty about their spending. They have significant control over their 
budget for core services. This allows departments to let their guard down a bit because this portion 
of their budget is no longer a zero-sum competition with other departments. A zero-sum competition 
occurs when departments compete for limited resources, where one department’s gain comes at the 
expense of another’s loss. This can give rise to undesirable behaviors. The leading example is “budget 
games” — when departments try to subvert the budget process or deceive others for their own 
advantage. One example is the “Padding Play,” or asking for more than what is needed. This allows 
the player to “give up” part of their request without losing what they really want. The Padding Play 
doesn’t have much use in TBB since the amount of money available for a department’s core services 
is a fixed target. There might be some incentive to pad the cost of a decision package. Though, 
because they are optional services that are compared to all other options put forth, a decision 
package with an inflated price will look bad next to those with realistic prices.

Discouraging gameplay helps departments focus on more productive behaviors, like getting the most 
out of their target for core services and putting forth high-quality decision packages. That said, TBB 
is not a cure-all for budget games. For a more comprehensive approach to addressing budget games, 
refer to GFOA’s Budget Games report.

Autonomy benefits the budget office by freeing it from the need to micromanage budgets. This 
allows it to focus on larger issues, such as the local government’s revenue outlook, the sustainability 
of its cost structure, and making savvy and wise decisions about supplemental services. 

Discouraging gameplay helps 
departments focus on more 
productive behaviors, like getting 
the most out of their target for 
core services and putting forth 
high-quality decision packages. 

https://www.gfoa.org/materials/budget-games


17

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Challenges
The first major challenge is that TBB will expose weak points in an organization’s budgeting process. 
To be clear, these are not new problems caused by TBB; rather, TBB reveals problems a conventional 
budget process papers over.

TBB places greater attention on the revenue forecast, and that’s the first potential weak point. The 
forecast determines the spending target for core services and the amount available for decision 
packages. This will expose any lack of confidence in the forecast. 

In a traditional budget process, a lack of confidence in the forecast is often addressed by forecasting 
conservatively — or underestimating the expected revenue. TBB creates pressure to produce a more 
objective forecast since it directly determines the funds available for core services and decision 
packages.

While an objective forecast creates some risk that actual revenues may fall short, this risk can be 
managed. GFOA’s Informed Decision-Making Through Forecasting shows how to build confidence in 
revenue forecasts and how to manage the risks associated with it. 

Another area TBB exposes is the use of reserves for revenue stabilization and budgetary 
contingencies. Traditional budgeting often includes significant padding. A target-based budget tends 
to have less padding because there are fewer incentives to use the “Padding Play” budget game.

Padding is not entirely inefficient — it can act as a safeguard against unplanned, unavoidable costs. 
Local governments provide insurance for these costs by establishing a contingency amount that is 
pooled for all departments. 

TARGET-BASED BUDGETINGTARGET-BASED BUDGETING

The forecast determines the 
spending target for core 
services and the amount 
available for decision packages. 
This will expose any lack of 
confidence in the forecast. 

https://www.gfoa.org/materials/informed-decision-making-forecasting
https://www.gfoa.org/materials/dont-go-alone_gfr0621
https://www.gfoa.org/materials/dont-go-alone_gfr0621


18

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Reserves are a portion of the fund balance used to insure against losses that are too big for a 
contingency, such as those caused by natural disasters or economic recessions. Reserves help smooth 
out losses in bad times and can be built back up in good times. A risk-based analysis of reserves can 
identify a “Goldilocks” amount of reserves — not too little, not too much, just right for the risks the 
government faces. This helps stabilize the core services target by filling gaps during significant but 
temporary revenue declines. It also provides a basis for using decision packages to rebuild reserves. 
For example, if a risk analysis suggests the right amount of reserves to hold is X dollars but the 
current reserves are less, this is good reason for a decision package to hold money aside to rebuild 
the reserve.

Finally, TBB exposes weaknesses in managing conflict during the budget process. The traditional 
budget dances around conflict in several ways, such as:

	 Relying on historical precedent for future spending. The phrase “That’s the way things have 
always been done” is often used to dismiss challenges to the status quo and avoiding conflict that 
such challenges might bring.

	 Giving across-the-board increases. By giving every department the same increase, there is no 
need to argue about relative sizes of increase or about reallocating resources from one service to 
another. 

	 Using budget games. Budget games rely on deception and subterfuge to get resources. They 
avoid the hard but necessary conversations about the best use of scarce resources. These hard 
conversations are known as constructive conflict.

	 Deferring to default assumptions. Governments often rely on assumptions about the importance 
of services to direct more resources to certain activities over others. For example, in municipal 
governments, public safety is often the “default” priority. 

A risk-based analysis of reserves 
can identify a “Goldilocks” 
amount of reserves — not too 
little, not too much, just right for 
the risks the government faces. 

https://www.gfoa.org/materials/rethinkingreserves


19

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

TBB does not defer to historical precedent because the core spending target will usually be less 
than last year’s total spending. TBB does not give across-the-board-increases. Instead, departments 
propose decision packages to gain additional resources. TBB discourages budget games. Instead, 
it encourages autonomous, prudent planning of core service budgets and thoughtful evaluation of 
decision packages. TBB does not defer to default assumptions about priorities. Instead, decision 
packages are compared to one another using carefully designed criteria.

Let’s move on from the budgeting weaknesses that TBB can expose and address the challenges of 
implementing it. 

The first implementation challenge is defining what 
is “core.” TBB leaves this largely to the discretion 
of department managers, leaving little room for 
input from elected officials or the public. Earlier, we 
described some embellishments that could add rigor 
and transparency to this process. While helpful, what 
is “core” still remains a judgment call primarily made 
by department managers.

For example, Sunday library hours might be 
considered a core service in one government but a 
“nice to have” in another. Each local government must decide what is core and what is not. This could 
be guided in part by examining a service inventory. For instance, in the second community from our 
example, the service inventory could clearly show that Sunday library hours are not considered core.

Under TBB, determining what is core often comes down to setting a target for core spending and 
letting departments figure out what to fit within that amount and what to request as a decision 
package. 

It is possible for core services to evolve over time. For instance, perhaps a new program funded 
through a decision package proves highly successful. Government officials may decide it should 
become a “core service.” Now what? There are three options to address this situation:

	 Reallocate within the target. The department adjusts its spending to fit the new service within 
its target budget by finding efficiencies in core spending and/or cutting other spending that no 
longer qualifies as core.

	 Increase the core budget. The department’s target for core services is increased to include the 
new service. However, this reduces the funds available for decision packages, perhaps limiting the 
government’s ability to innovate and address future challenges by funding new ideas.

	 Find new revenue. The local government finds new revenue sources to expand the core services 
budget while maintaining the funds available for decision packages.

None of these are the obvious “correct” answer. Budgeting rarely involves easy choices. While TBB 
makes these trade-offs more transparent — which is for the best — it doesn’t make it any easier. 

Under TBB, determining what 
is core often comes down to 
setting a target for core spending 
and letting departments figure 
out what to fit within that 
amount and what to request as a 
decision package. 



TBB shifts part of the budget — 
the decision packages — from a 
customary relationship to a reciprocal 
one. Reciprocal relationships are 
mutually beneficial exchanges. 

20

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Another important implementation challenge is helping participants adjust to the idea that their core 
services spending target will likely be less than their total budget from the previous year. Exceptions 
to this are:

	 The department received no funding for decision packages so did not spend beyond its core 
services budget last year. Revenue growth this year is sufficient to maintain core spending at the 
same level as last year. 

	 The community is growing rapidly, leading to increased revenues and service demands. 
Departments must expand spending just to keep up with new demand for the same services.

In a traditional budget, departments often view their budget as their “due.” For example, during 
revenue decline, it is common to hear that departments must “give up” part of their budget. This 
implies that they have a customary right to that funding.

TBB shifts part of the budget — the decision packages — from a customary relationship to a 
reciprocal one. Reciprocal relationships are mutually beneficial exchanges. Departments propose 
to provide valuable services beyond their core in exchange for funding. In each new budget cycle, 
this relationship resets, requiring departments to continually propose valuable uses of additional 
funding to receive supplemental funding. Moving from custom to reciprocity is a better use of public 
resources, but it is not an easy move.

A related challenge is the concern that TBB’s cap on core services might lead to deterioration of the 
services. This fear often goes unfounded for several reasons. 

	 As seen in Mono County’s experience, departmental budgets often contain a fair amount of 
padding or slack. TBB encourages departments to eliminate this slack before cutting into 
actual services. Central budget authorities can create a pooled contingency fund, which helps 
departments feel more comfortable giving up the “self-insurance” that slack provides. 

	 Beyond slack, local governments often have other inefficiencies they can address before cutting 
core services. Common examples include overestimating mandates and relying on outdated, 
inefficient processes and technology to deliver services.

	 Decision packages help assess whether services on the edge of being “core” are truly worth 
the cost. If a decision package is not approved, it tells us that the services aren’t that important 
compared to alternative possible uses of funds.



TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

21

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Conclusion
Target-based budgeting encourages departments to scrutinize their spending and focus on core 
services. TBB transforms the budgeting process by setting clear spending targets and allowing 
departments to compete for supplemental services funding.

The benefits of TBB include controlling spending growth, minimizing budget games, and promoting 
autonomy within departments. These advantages help create a solid foundation for financial 
sustainability. 

TBB also presents challenges. Departments must adjust to reduced core service budgets. Defining 
“core” services often relies on the judgment of appointed managers, which may constrain elected 
officials’ influence over the budget. Moreover, TBB’s emphasis on accurate revenue forecasting can 
be both a strength and a weakness, depending on the quality of the forecast. Finally, TBB highlights 
the need for managing reserves and contingencies effectively to ensure financial stability while 
avoiding excessive padding in budgets.

Ultimately, TBB is a powerful tool for governments looking to foster collaboration and efficiency while 
maintaining control over their financial future through practical budgeting constraints and careful 
evaluation of spending decisions. 

TARGET-BASED BUDGETINGTARGET-BASED BUDGETING



22

TARGET-BASED BUDGETING

Rubin, I. S. (1991). Budgeting for our times: Target base budgeting. Public Budgeting & Finance, 11(3), 5–14.

Rubin, I. S. (2018). Target-based budgeting. In J. M. Shafritz (Ed.), Defining Public Administration (pp. 367–372). Routledge.

Wenz, T. W. & Nolan, A. P. (1982). Budgeting for the future: Target base budgeting. Public Budgeting & Finance, 2(2).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

1	 We are not the first to describe target-based budgeting. See bibliography for other sources.

1	 Rubin, I. S. (1991). Budgeting for our times: Target base budgeting. Public Budgeting & Finance.

1	 GFOA, for example, has published many articles and papers about priority-based budgeting and zero-based budgeting but very few about 
target-based budgeting.

1	 Hess, F. M. (2013). Cage-busting leadership. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.

ENDNOTES



Government Finance Officers Association
203 N. LaSalle Street, Suite 2700
Chicago, IL 60601   
312-977-9700  |  gfoa.orggfoa.org/rethinking-budgeting

https://www.gfoa.org
https://www.gfoa.org/rethinking-budgeting


 
City of Fairbanks 

Finance Committee Meeting Report 
February 27, 2025 

 
 
Committee Members Present:  Margarita Bell  
     Council Member Cleworth 
     Joshua Church 
     Alesia Kruckenberg 

Council Member Ringstad 
Michael Sanders 
Council Member Sprinkle   

       
Committee Member Absent:  None  
 
  
Mayor Pruhs tasked the committee with increasing nontax revenue by 10% over three years.   
 
Committee members reviewed the memorandum regarding a Nuisance Property Remediation 
Program and recommended coordinating with Fairbanks Neighborhood Housing Association 
since the organization received a grant to address nuisance properties. 
 
Committee members reviewed the first budget amendment and received information about the 
impacts of encumbrances, reappropriations, transfers, and payments.   
 
Committee members reviewed a comparison chart of city expenditures to other municipalities and 
a list of possible revenue sources.  The committee will discuss this topic in greater detail at the 
next Finance Committee meeting. 
 
Michael Sanders and Margarita Bell presented information about Target Based Budgeting.  
Committee members discussed the concept and requested involvement in identifying core 
services. 
 
Committee members reviewed the following reports as of January 31, 2025: 

• General Fund Balance Sheet with a fund balance of 21.5 million 
• General Fund Revenues and Expenditures Report with revenues of $7.55 million and 

expenditures of $5.05 million 
• Cash Flow Report with a balance of $38.9 million 

 
The next Finance Committee meeting is scheduled for Thursday, March 20, 2025, at 7:00 a.m. in 
the Meeks Conference Room.  


	AGENDA - March 4, 2025
	Ordinance No. 6311
	Alcohol License Application Review
	Target-Based Budgeting
	Finance Committee Report




